'It helps me stay healthy!' Exploring the role of mHealth (mobile technologies) in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices in women with a mild intellectual disability

Ailish O'Brien

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the University of the West of England, Bristol, for the degree of Professional Doctorate in Health Psychology

Faculty of Health and Applied Sciences, University of the West of England, Bristol

April 2018

Contents

Acknowledgments		4
Abstract	•••	5
1. Introduction	•••	7
1.1 Background to Research	•••	7
1.2 Understanding Behaviour	•••	14
1.3 Intellectual Disabilities & Healthy Lifestyles	•••	18
1.4 mHealth	•••	24
1.5 Rationale for this Research Project	•••	28
1.6 Aims and Objectives	••••	29
2. Methodology	•••	30
2.1 Research Methods	•••	30
2.2 Theoretical Framework & Approach	•••	30
2.3 Method of Data Analysis	•••	33
2.4 Research Design	•••	34
2.4.1 Participants	•••	34
2.4.2 Data Collection	•••	36
2.4.3 Quality Assurance	••••	41
3. Analysis & Findings	•••	43
3.1 Themes	•••	43
3.2.1 Theme 1: Mobile Technology: Positives and Downsides	•••	47
3.2. (1a) Subtheme: Positives: Knowledge, skills and ability	•••	48
3.2. (1b) Subtheme: Downsides: Privacy/security		
& compulsive viewing	•••	53

3.2.2 Theme 2: Health issues that matter			58
3.2. (2a) Subtheme: Cravings			59
3.2. (2b) Subtheme: Healthy lifestyle choices			61
3.2. (2c) Subtheme.	: Body issues & girls' problems	•••	69
3.2.3 Theme 3: W	hat mothers' say my mam says	•••	71
3.2. (3a) Subtheme	: Mother as protector and advisor	•••	72
3.2. (3b) Subtheme	: Her daughter's voice	•••	75
3.2. (3c) Subtheme.	: My daughter and I she's her own person	•••	77
4. Discussion		•••	81
4.1 Aim 1: Student	s use of mobile technology	•••	82
4.2 Aim 2: Mobile issues that matt	technologies, conversations about health er, and healthy lifestyle choices	•••	91
4.3 Discussion Summary		•••	98
5. Reflective Pr & Recommends	actice, Research Limitations, ations	•••	101
5.1 Reflective Prac	tice	•••	101
5.2 Research Limitations		•••	106
5.3 Recommendations		•••	108
6. Conclusion		•••	111
References		•••	112
Appendix A	Systematic Review	•••	123
Appendix B	Ethical approval from		171
Appendix C	Ethical approval from UWE	•••	161 164
Appendix D	Semi-structured interview for initi	al	
	Interviews	•••	166

Appendix E	Photographic Figure Rating Scale	•••	168
Appendix F	Information sheet and certificate of	conse	ent for
	student interviews	•••	170
Appendix G	Sample of Student Interviews	•••	175
Appendix H	Amendment to Focus Groups	•••	178
Appendix I	Topics for Focus Group discussions	••••	182
Appendix J	Information sheet and consent form Groups	n for I 	Focus 185
Appendix K	Samples of transcribed Focus Grou Discussions	р 	190
Appendix L	Ethical approval from UWE to include parents		106
Appendix M	Ethical approval form RehabGroup	 o to in 	clude 200
Appendix N	Information sheet and consent form	ı for p	oarents of
	participants	•••	202
Appendix O	Consent forms for students for part participation	ental	207
Appendix P	Information sheet and consent form	ı for p	parents of
Appendix O	non-participants Samples of interviews with parents	•••	210 215
Appendix R	Professional Skills Essay	•••	224
Appendix S	Dissemination of findings: Copy of presented and merit received - Psyc Society of Ireland Conference November 2017	poste holog	r jical 237
Appendix T	Table of Apps/Sites used by Students	•••	240

Acknowledgements

I thank the students of National Learning Network who were such lively and informative participants in this research. I also thank their parents who participated and the tutors of National Learning Network who were so supportive in facilitating interviews and focus group discussions with participating students.

I am very grateful to Director of Studies, Julian Bath, to my second supervisor, Dr Rachel Gillibrand, for their very positive critique of my work, their invaluable support, contribution, and guidance, their encouragement, and their patience with my tendency to expand rather than contract the work. I am also very grateful to Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, National Learning Network who supported me throughout the overall journey through the Professional Doctorate, for her positive feedback and encouragement, and for her matter of fact approach in ensuring that I had sufficient supports at work when planning and organising my research.

I also thank my husband, Peter, who not only checked for spelling and grammatical errors but was always ready to forgo holidays so that I could set time aside to focus on my work.

<u>Abstract</u>

Research findings indicate that in comparison with the general population, people with an intellectual disability experience higher rates of chronic health problems. Also, females with a mild intellectual disability and living independently or with family are more likely to be obese than others with intellectual disabilities. Mobile technology use has become a significant factor in engaging people in, and marketing, healthy lifestyle programmes. Research findings also indicate that women more than men are likely to use smartphones and health apps as part of a healthy lifestyle.

The aims of this research were to explore how women with a mild intellectual disability use mobile technologies and whether these mobile technologies play a role in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices among these women. Twenty-six female students of a specialist training and support service agreed to participate in this study. Following on from findings in ten individual semi-structured interviews and five focus group discussions with student participants indicating that parents play a significant role in daughters' lives, parents of participants were invited to participate. Five parents of student participants agreed to attend. Parents of non-participants were also invited to participate in semi-structured interviews and two parents agreed but only one was able to attend for interview. Overall, six parents participated in this study.

Findings from thematic analysis of the data based on the COM-B model of behaviour indicated that students are knowledgeable about mobile technology and are aware of, and sometimes use, apps and sites that are useful in making healthy lifestyle choices. Healthy lifestyle choices identified by students focused on diet, exercise, and sleep, on body issues such as epilepsy and food intolerance and on girls problems including the menstrual cycle. They spoke about how these issues impact on health

5

behaviours and on the opportunities they have in making healthy or unhealthy lifestyle choices. The role of parents as protectors/advisors was also highlighted as significant in influencing students' opportunities to engage in specific behaviours and in choices they make that relate, in particular, to diet and exercise.

What is unique about this study is that it adds student participants' experiences and opinions on how useful mobile technologies are, or can be, in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices in females with a mild intellectual disability.

<u>1. Introduction</u>

The following six sub-chapters provide, in the following order, a summary of the background to this study; an introduction to, and description of, the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW) and the COM-B (capability, opportunity, and motivation) model of behaviour developed by Michie et al (2011) used in this study as a framework for understanding behaviour; definitions of intellectual disability that are recognised internationally; an exploration of the factors that facilitate healthy lifestyles; and an introduction to, and definition of, mHealth. The final two sub-chapters provide a description of the rationale for this study, and the aims and objectives of this research, respectively.

1.1 Background to Research

The principal researcher is employed as Regional Psychologist in National Learning Network (NLN), an organisation that provides training and education courses to over 5,000 students each year in 50 centres across Ireland. NLN is part of the RehabGroup, an international organisation that provides services to people with disabilities (physical, sensory, and intellectual), people with autism, people with acquired brain injury, people with mental health issues, older people, carers and others who are marginalised. Each year, more than 43,000 people and their families benefit from the services provided by RehabGroup's 3,500 staff in almost 250 locations across Ireland, the UK, the Netherlands, Poland, and Saudi Arabia (RehabGroup, 2017).

At NLN, students participate in programmes with core modules that include personal effectiveness, healthy lifestyle behaviours (diet, exercise, and sleep hygiene), and independent living skills (budgeting, shopping, cooking, and self-care), career planning, and IT skills. The psychologist is part of a team of professionals in each centre who work with students. The role of the psychologist in NLN encompasses four key areas: providing a psychological assessment and intervention service to learners (to groups, and on a one-to-one basis), staff consultation, organisational consultation, and conducting psychological research (Table 1). In the context of providing direct support to students, the psychologist usually meets with each student on a one-to-one basis when that student has had an opportunity to settle into her/his programme (usually 6 weeks into the programme). The purpose of this meeting is to check in with each student to ensure that his/her strengths and needs are being accommodated within the programme. Other one-to-one sessions occur when students self-refer, or are referred by a tutor, to explore difficulties that impact on his/her ability to participate in training such as anxiety, depression, memory deficits, difficulties with focus and concentration, suicidal ideation, eating disorders, alcohol or drug abuse, and self-harm (Table 1).

Responsibilities of Regional Psychologists (RP)

Abuse	Any child protection or safeguarding issue. Includes all necessary paperwork and follow-up with staff, managers, other health care professionals, social workers, TUSLA, HSE Safeguarding teams, Gardaí, Probation Services etc.
Addiction	Including addiction issues relating to alcohol, drugs, gambling, sex, pornography, spending, and hoarding.
Anger & Aggression	Includes all types of aggression, violence, giving and receiving threats and any form of domestic violence.
Anxiety	Includes panic attacks, phobias and any form of OCD.
Assertiveness & Confidence	Includes all assertiveness and confidence building interventions.

Behavioural Issues	Includes all forms of challenging behaviours. Includes preparation of support plans and any necessary follow- up with staff, managers, family members and other professionals.
Bereavement	All forms of grief, loss, and dying. Includes loss of family members, friends, pets, jobs, divorce, separation, etc.
Clinical Risk Assessment	Includes any formal risk assessment outside of Intake assessment (which is considered part of the screening process). Clinical Risk Assessment includes RAMAS, information gathering, liaison with external health care professionals, and creation of risk management plans. A clinical risk assessment is necessary where new information comes to light after the person has started a program. This information may suggest the person may pose a risk to others. This additional information may arise during (but not limited to) a Child Protection or Safeguarding issue, during periods of aggressive, violent behaviour in the centre, or additional information received during the Needs Assessment interview. Risk to self is assessed under Suicide and Self Harm.
Concentration and Memory	Includes all memory & information processing interventions, strategies and support plans.
CPD Activities	Includes attendance at National RP meetings, attendance at conferences, workshops, or training courses. Reading psychological journals and materials, receiving training, and self-care activities.
Delivering Training to Learner	Includes all types of training and group psycho- education to learner's e.g. RSE, Boundary Management, Anti-bullying, Safe Navigation of Social Media etc.
Delivering Training to Staff	Includes delivery of all types of training to staff, e.g. Boundary Management, Child Protection Training, Safeguarding Training, Promoting a Positive

	Behavioural Environment, Responding to Challenging Behaviours etc.
Depression	Includes low mood, low or lack of motivation, and any attendance and time-keeping issues related to depression.
Developing Training	All aspects of developing training or updating existing training delivered to staff and learners.
Evaluating Mental Health and / or Suitability for a Course	Includes re-entry assessment meeting with learner following sick leave, check-in meeting relating to mental health stability, and wellness checks.
Family	Includes all issues relating to adoption (current and historic), parenting, pregnancy, family relationships - does not include any Child Protection or Safeguarding issues that relate to family relationships. These will be addressed under abuse. Includes family intervention work and legal / court issues relating to separation, divorce, custody etc.
Frustration/ Complaint / Bullying	Includes all formal and informal complaints raised by learners or staff / managers.
Intake Screening Interview	Includes all meetings with applicants prior to starting the course for risk assessment and suitability for service and / or course. As per procedure all applicants with risk boxes ticked on the Health Report should have a screening interview prior to commencing the course. Managers and / or staff may also request a screening interview even if no risk boxes ticked.
Medication	Includes all issues relating to medication, side-effects, emerging side-effects, queries, and non-compliance, and any issues with attendance and time-keeping relating to medication.
Offending and Criminal Behaviour	Includes all issues relating to court appearances, previous or current convictions, liaising with Probation services.

Paranoia	Includes management strategies for paranoid thoughts and related interpersonal difficulties.
Physical Illness & Pain Management	Includes all aspects of pain management, coping with physical illness. Includes any impact on attendance and timekeeping
Professional Consultation with Organisation	Includes any and all consultation with Regional Operation Officers, Integration Service Managers, Senior Psychologist, Senior Social Worker, HR Business Managers, and other senior staff on managing psychological/clinical issues affecting the organisation. Includes attending workshops, participation on working groups etc.
Professional Consultation w Staff	with Includes regular case management style meetings with staff e.g. meeting with instructors/tutors to review how each student is progressing. Any meeting with staff outside of the Individual Action Plan process where learner's needs/strengths are being discussed - includes consultation with the instructor/tutor, resource teacher, manager about rehabilitative strategies for improving the training environment - ensuring best practice. Does not include programme review style meetings e.g. discussing how to incorporate New Directions, Recovery etc.
Program Reviews	This includes all meetings with Programme Development Officers, instructors/tutors, managers, to review or update a programme e.g. New Directions, ETB Reviews.
Promoting Autonomy	Includes all aspects of independent living e.g. financial independence and accommodation, mobility etc.
Psychological Assessment	Includes Neuropsychological Assessment, Specific Learning Difficulties Assessment, and any other psychological assessment administered. Does not include Intake or Risk assessment.
Receiving Supervision	Includes receiving supervision, providing supervision to other psychologists and assistant psychologists e.g. attendance at peer supervision meetings, one to one supervision meetings and formal peer supervision. Does not include providing supervision to Rehabilitation Officers.

Referral for Counselling	Includes all aspects of making referral to any counselling agency or therapeutic service for learners, including paperwork, phone calls etc.
Relationships & Communication Difficulties	Includes issues with personal intimate relationships, issues with friendships, and all interpersonal communication difficulties. Does not include any family related relationship issues.
Research	All aspects including undertaking and participating in all forms of research. Includes presentation at conferences etc.
Sexuality	Includes any issues relating to sexual education (other than the RSE training), sexual issues, sexual identity, LGBT.
Sleep / Fatigue	Includes all issues with tiredness, sleep hygiene, and any related attendance and/or timekeeping issues.

Table 1. Responsibilities of Regional Psychologists in National Learning Network (2018)

In many of these circumstances the psychologist links the student with external supports within the community while also supporting the person through his/her training. The psychologist usually facilitates group sessions with students when delivering or facilitating training or workshops in areas such as bullying/cyber-bullying, safe navigation of social media, personal space (boundary management) workshops, relationships and sexuality training, study skill workshops, and WRAP (Wellness Recovery Action Plan) programmes (Table 1).

The main findings from a systematic review (Appendix A) of risk factors for obesity (an independent risk indicator for cardiovascular disease (CVD) and of an unhealthy lifestyle) in adults with an intellectual disability indicated that females classified with a mild intellectual disability and living independently, or with family, are more likely to be obese than others classified with an intellectual disability. What was also evident from the systematic review findings is that the majority of research on health behaviours of individuals with an intellectual disability is taken from the perspective of carers or parents rather than from the perspective of those individuals, indicating a gap in existing knowledge in this area (Beail & Williams, 2014; Coons & Watson, 2013). The first main finding resonated with this researcher who noticed that many female students with a mild intellectual disability attending NLN services in the five centres in the south-east presented as being over-weight or obese.

The use of smartphones, health apps, and social media has become a significant part of the story of engaging people in healthy lifestyles practices and also in marketing diet and exercise programmes (Handel, 2011). Statistics from a large scale longitudinal study (Andone et al, 2016) with a sample size of 30,677 participants (16,147 of whom were male and 14,523 were female) indicate that females spend more time on their phones than males, spending a daily average of 166.87 minutes (SD = 91.95) in comparison to males who spend on average 154.26 minutes (SD = 92.78) per day. Andone et al indicate that women are more likely to use their phones for communication and social media and men are more likely to spend time gaming. Research findings from the US (Salesforce Marketing Cloud, 2014) indicate that women (72%) primarily use their phones for accessing social media/networks, and short message service (SMS) text messaging while a significantly higher number of males (54%) use smartphones for news alerts. Findings from the same source indicate that more females (30%) use social media on a daily basis than males (26%) and that greater numbers of females use the 'visual web' where, for example, more females (20%) use Instagram than males (15%). Also, Derbyshire & Dancey (2013) found that women are more likely than men to use health apps and sites that support a healthy lifestyle.

In conversation with tutors across the five NLN centres in the south-east of Ireland, they reported that students are constantly on their smartphones or tablets and stated that they have to remind students to put their phones or tablets away while working on specific assignments so as not to distract other students. These conversations prompted this researcher to question how, and for what purpose, students with an intellectual disability use mobile technologies. This researcher was unable to find any research in this area and set out to explore how female students use these technologies and whether they find them to be useful resources in everyday life, particularly in areas such as facilitating healthy lifestyle choices.

This would be more than just an information-seeking exercise; it would be an inclusive research where students would be facilitated in sharing their experiences of using mobile technologies in their daily lives. It would be an opportunity to explore whether mobile technologies have a role to play in supporting healthy lifestyle behaviour. It might also provide an opportunity for students and tutors to explore ways of using smartphones and mobile phones as part of healthy lifestyle modules.

1.2 Understanding Behaviour

In order to understand how mHealth may facilitate healthy lifestyle choices among women in this population it is necessary to have a model of behaviour that describes the factors that contribute to behaviour. There are numerous models of behaviour relevant to health psychology including the theory of reasoned action/theory of planned behaviour, the health belief model, social learning theory, and the transtheoretical stage model and while all of these models address some aspects of behaviour none offer a comprehensive or integrated framework for understanding behaviour (University College London, 2015).

The model of behaviour chosen for this study was the COM-B model developed by Michie et al (2011). Michie et al designed this model to be a central part of the Behaviour Change Wheel (BCW) (Figure 1). The BCW is a guide to designing behaviour interventions developed by Michie et al "not only to aid intervention design, but also to improve the process of intervention evaluation and theory development" (Michie et al, 2014; pp. 15-16). The BCW was developed from a review of 19 frameworks of behaviour change they identified across 83 theories. According to Michie et al (2014), none of these 19 frameworks offered a comprehensive approach to behaviour change nor were they "conceptually coherent or clearly linked to a model of behaviour change" (p. 16).

The role of the COM-B model of behaviour (Figure 2) in the BCW is to provide practitioners with a starting point where behaviours can be identified in the context in which they occur (Michie et al, 2014). The COM-B model of behaviour forms the core of the BCW that provides practitioners with a "systematic way of characterising interventions that enables their outcomes to be linked to mechanism of action, and it can help to diagnose why an intervention may have failed to achieve its desired goal" (p. 16). However, Michie et al (2014) point out that using the BCW is neither a "blueprint" nor a "panacea" for behaviour change; according to Michie et al it facilitates the best use of available resources and information to hand.



Figure 1. The Behaviour Change Wheel (Michie et al, 2011 – reproduced with permission of the author)

The BCW is comprised of three levels: at the centre of the wheel are the three components (capability, opportunity, and motivation) that make up the COM-B model of behaviour; surrounding this core is a circle containing nine intervention functions (education, persuasion, incentivisation, coercion, training, enablement, modelling, environmental restructuring, and restriction) that are dependent on the outcome of the COM-B analysis. The outer circle of the wheel provides seven policy options (environmental/social planning, communication/marketing, legislation, service provision, regulation, fiscal measures, and guidelines) that can be used to support delivery of the intervention functions (Michie et al, 2014). Lefevre (2016) described the BCW as a "framework that provides developers with a comprehensive, coherent, and universal toolkit for intervention design" (p. 1).

In the COM-B model, Michie et al describe *Behaviour* (B) as any action involving the interaction among the following three conditions; capability, motivation, and opportunity. *Capability* (C) is defined as the physical and psychological ability each individual has that facilitates his or her engaging in any activity. *Motivation* (M) is defined as the volitional and non-volitional mechanisms that energize and direct behaviour including automatic processes such as habitual behaviour, impulsivity, emotional responses, and reflective processes involved in conscious decision-making and goal planning. *Opportunity* (O) is defined as contextual factors that lie outside the control of the individual such as physical opportunity afforded by environmental factors and/or social or cultural factors that influence an individual's way of communicating and being in the world. A behavioural intervention might change one or more components within this interactive system and according to Michie et al (2011) "*the causal links within the system can work to reduce or amplify the effect of particular interventions by leading to changes elsewhere*" (p. 4).



Figure 2. The COM-B Model of behaviour (Michie et al, 2011) (used with permission of the author)

Unlike the majority of models of health behaviour the COM-B model offers a broader framework for understanding behaviour by including context (opportunity) and automatic processing (motivation) among the components (Michie et al, 2011).

However, Ogden (2016) critiqued the development of the BCW and the COM-B model of behaviour describing it as an effort to reduce patient variability without taking into consideration the facts that patient variability is inevitable and that too many gaps exist that are not amenable to change. The gaps Ogden referred to include those between the patient's beliefs and behaviour, gaps between the patient's beliefs and those of the health professional, and gaps between the health professional's behaviour and that professional's training. In other words, Ogden stated that there are too many gaps between the protocols as promoted within the BCW and the actual experience of the patient.

She further critiqued the development of the BCW as an attempt to remove the variability that exists within theories of behaviour within health psychology. She suggested that this striving to synthesise methods of engaging with individuals moves practitioners away from a professional role where professional opinion and ability to engage with the patient is an important part of the treatment protocol. This position is partly supported by Peters and Kok (2016) who, while they disagree with what they describe as Ogden's "somewhat fatalistic interpretations" of the consequences of relegating individual variability, stated that they agree with the importance of maintaining theoretical variability (p. 267).

This choice of using the COM-B model of behaviour was based on the ontological (critical realist) position and the epistemological (contextualist) position taken by this researcher. These positions are discussed in the methodology section in this study. The significance of the components in the COM-B model of behaviour to this study is explored later where themes are discussed.

1.3 Intellectual Disabilities & Healthy Lifestyles

The World Health Organisation (WHO, 2015) defines intellectual disability as:

A significantly reduced ability to understand new or complex information and to learn and apply new skills (impaired intelligence). This results in a reduced ability to cope independently (impaired social functioning), and begins before adulthood, with a lasting effect on development. According to the American Association on Intellectual Disabilities (AAID), "*intellectual disability is a disability characterized by significant limitations in both intellectual* functioning and in adaptive behavior, which covers many everyday social and practical skills. This disability originates before the age of 18" (2013 – bold as per original document)

The WHO also states that disability is context-based where environmental factors play a significant role in enabling/disabling the individual to participate in his/her community and be included in society (2015). It is estimated that approximately 2% of the UK population (Public Health England, 2013) and 1.4% of the population of the Republic of Ireland (Census, 2016) has an intellectual disability. According to the WHO (1999):

A healthy lifestyle is a way of living that lowers the risk of being seriously ill or dying early. Not all diseases are preventable, but a large proportion of deaths, particularly those from coronary heart disease and lung cancer, can be avoided. Scientific studies have identified certain types of behaviour that contribute to the development of noncommunicable diseases and early death. Health is not only just about avoiding disease. It is also about physical, mental and social wellbeing.

According to Public Health England (2016), the major causes of premature death in the UK are cancer, cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, and liver disease. All of these diseases are linked to behavioural risk factors such as tobacco use, excessive consumption of alcohol, lack of physical activity, nutrient poor diets, and also to factors associated with being obese or overweight. Public Health England (2016) describes obesity as an epidemic responsible for up to 30,000 deaths each year in the UK. They state that it is estimated that the NHS spent approximately £6.1 billion on overweight and obesity-related health problems among the general population in England between 2014 and 2015. They point out that the annual amount spent on obesity and diabetes is greater than the combined costs of the police, fire, and judicial services.

A factor highlighted in research findings (Feldman et al, 2016; Robertson et al, 2014) is that adults with an intellectual disability experience significantly higher rates of age-related morbidity and mortality than their peers. According to Public Health England (2015a), mortality rates for people with an intellectual disability are approximately three times those of people in the general population. They also state that the rate of obesity among adults in this population is significantly higher than that of the general UK population. Their research findings indicate that females with an intellectual disability aged 18 to 24 have a BMI of 35.4% (a reading over 30% indicates obesity) compared to 15.4% (18.5% to 25% normal range) among females within the general population (Public Health England, 2015b). Figures for all ages indicate that obesity is more prevalent among females with an intellectual disability than females in the general population (2015b). Hsieh et al (2014) found that rates of morbid obesity among young adults (i.e., 18 to 39 years) with an intellectual disability were almost double those in the general population. According to Mitchell et al (2016) there is evidence to suggest that cardio-metabolic risk factors are present in adolescents with an intellectual disability thereby contributing to the greater disease burden among adults in this population.

The WHO (2015) defines overweight and obesity as 'abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair health' and the World Heart Federation (WHF) (2011) state that being overweight or obese is a major risk factor for noncommunicable diseases. Non-communicable diseases include cardiovascular disease (mainly heart disease and stroke which were the leading causes of death worldwide in

20

2012), diabetes mellitus, musculoskeletal disorders (especially osteoarthritis – a highly disabling degenerative disease of the joints), some cancers (endometrial, breast, and colon), gastric problems, tooth decay as a result of a diet high in sugar, gall bladder problems, excessive gasses and gastric bloating, liver problems, respiratory problems and sleep apnoea.

The WHF (2011) describe physical activity as a protective factor for noncommunicable diseases and state that anyone, at any age, who engages in physical activity increases his/her protection against these diseases. They also state that diet plays a significant role in both the development of, and protection from, noncommunicable diseases such as cardiovascular disease, and that a healthy diet is one of the key modifiable and protective risk factors that impacts on all other risk factors for cardiovascular disease. While the WHF acknowledges the many non-modifiable risk factors for non-communicable diseases such as age, gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status, they emphasise the importance of managing modifiable risk factors such as diet, exercise, and weight.

Data from Public Health England (2015b) indicate that the risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities include behavioural, environmental, and biological factors. Their findings support those of Slevin and Northway (2014) who described causative factors and barriers for health behaviours as genetic and physical factors, psychological factors, and social and cultural factors. In identifying health behaviours that positively or negatively correlate with a healthy lifestyle, Hsieh, Rimmer and Heller (2014) identified modifiable and non-modifiable risk factors for obesity. Non-modifiable ones identified were gender, age, severity and type of intellectual disability, and genetic syndrome. Modifiable risk factors they divided into personal risk factors and environmental risk factors. Personal risk factors included medication that causes weight gain, diet, and physical activity while environmental risk factors included residential type.

One of the main findings from other studies in this area (Mikulovic et al., 2014; de Winter et al., 2012; Gazizova et al., 2012; Maaskant et al., 2009; Sohler et al., 2009; Bhaumik et al., 2008; Moran et al., 2005; Moore et al., 2004; Robertson et al., 2000) indicated that the non-modifiable risk factor of gender (being female) is a high risk factor both for obesity and poor health among people with an intellectual disability. Research findings also indicated (Hsieh et al, 2014; de Winter et al., 2012; Gazizova et al., 2012; Bhaumik et al., 2008; Robertson et al., 2000) an association between the non-modifiable risk factor of severity of intellectual disability and obesity; those with a mild intellectual disability are more likely to be obese than those classified with either a moderate or severe disability. However, Moran et al (2005) found no significant difference in prevalence of obesity between people with mild intellectual disability and the general population while Maaskant et al (2009) found that level of intellectual disability did not impact on weight status in their longitudinal observational study.

Living independently or with family members rather than living within more restrictive accommodation (e.g., residential services) was found to be a risk factor for unhealthy behaviours among adults with an intellectual disability, including physical inactivity and unhealthy eating habits leading to obesity (Koritsas et al 2016; de Winter et al., 2012; Bhaumik et al., 2008; Robertson et al., 2000). However, Hsieh et al (2014), Maaskant et al (2009) and Moore et al (2004) reported no significant difference between accommodation status and weight status in this population while Mikulovic et al (2014) found that people living within more restrictive accommodation had higher levels of unhealthy eating habits, lower levels of physical activity and of obesity than those who were either half-boarders or living independently. However, Hsieh et al did make the point that those living in urban areas tend to have a higher risk of developing obesity than those living in rural areas, counter to findings in the general population as reported by Jackson et al (2005); they found a small significant difference in accommodation location rather than status. According to their findings, adults with an intellectual disability living in urban settings with less supervision spend significantly more time watching television, eat less fruit and vegetables, consume greater amounts of fast foods, sweetened beverages and salty snacks, smoke more, and consume greater volumes of alcohol than those in less supervised rural settings.

Physical inactivity as a risk factor for obesity was highlighted in several studies (Robertson et al., 2014; de Winter et al., 2012; Robertson et al., 2000). According to Koritsas and Iacono (2016), fewer young people and adults with an intellectual disability engage in recommended levels of physical activity than among the general population. Conversely, Mikulovic et al (2014) found higher levels of physical activity among overweight adults with intellectual disability than in the general population. In their study, Gazizova et al (2012) and Sohler et al (2009) recommended that level of physical activity be included in future studies in order to address risk factors for obesity at a behavioural level.

As well as physical inactivity, poor nutritional food choices also impact negatively on the health of adults with an intellectual disability. Jobling and Cuskelly (2006), cited in Caton et al (2012), reported that adults with an intellectual disability are capable of choosing healthy food options but actual food choices are based on preference. However, Curryer et al (2015) also made the point that overprotective parents and families may unintentionally deprive a family member with an intellectual disability of opportunities for self-determination, i.e., to learn how to make competent decisions about healthy food choices and about exercise from personal experience.

Opportunities for self-determination are referred to by Wehmeyer (2003) as 'acting as the primary causal agent in one's life and making choices and decisions regarding one's quality of life free from undue external influence or interference' (pp. 177). Curryer et al suggest that these opportunities for self-determination are limited in families where parents are convinced that they know what is best for family members. There is also evidence to suggest (Williden et al, 2006) that parents use highly dense caloric foods as a reinforcer for good behaviour thereby creating a link between specific food types and 'good' or 'bad' behaviour. Findings from studies (Koritsas et al, 2016; Hsieh et al, 2014; McGuire et al, 2007) based on data provided by care givers and family members (rather than directly by adults with an intellectual disability) also indicated that food choices made on behalf of many adults with an intellectual disability fall short of the recommended nutritional content.

1.4 mHealth

The unprecedented spread of mobile technologies as well as advancements in their innovative application to address health priorities has evolved into a new field of eHealth, known as mHealth. According to the International Telecommunication Union there are now close to 5 billion mobile phone subscriptions in the world, with over 85% of the world's population now covered by a commercial wireless signal. The penetration of mobile phone networks in many low and middle-income countries surpasses other infrastructure such as paved roads and electricity, and dwarfs fixed Internet deployment. The growing sophistication of these networks – offering higher and higher speeds of data transmission alongside cheaper and more powerful handsets – are transforming the way health services and information are accessed, delivered, and managed. With increased accessibility comes the possibility of greater personalization and citizen-focused public health and medical care (WHO, 2011).

The number of mobile phone subscriptions worldwide is now close to 7 billion with mobile device usage in developing countries reaching 90% and a global reach of 96% (Voth, Oelke, & Jung, 2016). Smartphone usage by adults in the UK is at 85% with an expected usage of 90% by 2020 (Deloitte, 2017). Deloitte (2017) described the ongoing development of smartphone capability and availability as being strategically important to both the private and public sector. They also state that smartphones will be regarded as the primary method of communication and interaction both for services, such as health care services and public health services, and for people in general. This dramatic rise in the use of smartphone usage provides health care professionals with an opportunity to promote health behaviour change for groups and in peer-to-peer support for individuals (Kamel Boulos, Giustini, & Wheeler, 2016).

However, some researchers suggest that factors associated with smartphone and health app use are not yet fully understood (Emsting et al., 2017). In their population-based survey of German nationals aged 35 or over, Emsting et al (2017) found that while two-thirds of participants indicated that they owned a smartphone, only one fifth stated that they use health-related apps. They also found age-related, socioeconomic-related, literacy-related, and health-related disparities between those that used health apps and those that did not. Health app users were younger, less likely to be native German speakers, more likely to research health-related matters on the Internet, more likely to suffer with chronic health conditions, and more likely to engage in certain health behaviours. However, they stated that health app usage was not reflected in positive health behaviours and suggested that usage may reflect motivation rather than actual performance.

Jantine Dute et al (2016) made the point that despite the rise in the use of smartphones by young people very few high-quality research studies are available about the potential use of mobile apps in health promotion for adolescents and students. They suggested that this may be due to the dynamic nature of the development of mobile technology contrasting with the often time-consuming processes involved in doing and publishing research. Rivera et al (2016) found that despite the proliferation of health apps for weight management the majority lack evidence-based strategies. Their findings also indicate that the rapid growth in the commercial market has resulted in a lack of appropriate scientific assessment of these apps, in the absence of input from health professionals, and a lack of evidence-based strategies for behaviour change.

In contrast to apps that may be found on the commercial market, Allman-Farinelli et al (2016) completed a nine-month randomised controlled trial of a 12week multi-component mHealth intervention programme (TXT2BFiT) for prevention of weight gain in young adults. Findings from their study indicated modest weight loss at twelve weeks with further weight loss at nine months in 18 to 35 year-olds. This study indicates that mHealth technologies that offer multi-component factors, including personalised feedback on goal setting and review, tend to be more effective in promoting behaviour change than basic generic health apps that are commercially available.

These findings are further supported by research data from users of mobile health technologies (Miyamoto et al, 2016). This research data indicated that the following key design elements are essential in ensuring successful behaviour change;

26

apps must fit in with busy users' lifestyles, they must provide personal feedback, they must support social networks for sharing activities, for providing support, or for competition (gaming format), and they must provide professional health support (Miyamoto et al, 2016; Waterlander et al, 2014). In order for mHealth technologies to be effective their designers must create an interface that consistently re-engages the user (Miyamoto et al, 2016; Walsh et al, 2016).

According to Miyamoto et al (2016), findings from their research indicate that mobile diaries have been shown to engage patients in a focused way in tackling health behaviour activities; mobile displays are effective ways of communicating with users, as are reminder notifications by text or short-messaging service (SMS). Also Pfaeffli Dale et al (2016), in a systematic review of the effectiveness of using mobile technology in health behaviour change, found that the use of text messaging or shortmessage service (SMS) had significant positive effects on health behaviour change. These findings support those of Waterlander et al (2014) who stated that one criterion of successful mHealth weight management programmes is a personalised programme with immediate and informative text messages, with a preference among participants for at least one text message per day.

Haymes et al (2013) made the point that smart technology can be a useful resource for people with an intellectual disability in managing their healthcare needs. They stated that people with an intellectual disability would greatly benefit from access to accurate knowledge and real-time feedback in making healthy lifestyle choices. An important part of maintaining a healthy lifestyle within this population is access to smart technology, however research indicates that people with intellectual disabilities are less likely than those within the general population to access health information on the internet (Chadwick et al, 2013; Haymes et al, 2013).

The findings of Haymes et al (2013) are supported by those of Kagohara et al (2013) who reviewed 15 studies on the use of iPhones, iPad's, and iPods by students with an intellectual disability. Findings from these studies indicated positive results in acquiring targeted skills in academics, communication, employment, leisure, and transitions among students who used mobile technologies. Haymes et al suggested that these findings indicate that adults with an intellectual disability have the ability to engage with mobile health technologies as long as these technologies are user-friendly.

However, another factor that needs to be considered is the reality that some people with intellectual difficulties experience external and/or internal barriers to using the Internet. Sorbring (2017), Normand (2016), and Lussier-Desrochers, Caouette, and Godin-Tremblay (2016) indicate in their research findings that some people with intellectual disabilities experience barriers they described as ranging from the most basic barrier (*first barrier*) of gaining access to digital devises such smartphones and/or tablets through physical/sensory, cognitive, and/or technical difficulties that the individual may have through to the *fifth* and final barrier; understanding social and cultural norms/conventions when communicating online.

1.5 Rationale for this Research Project

Mobile technologies and access to the Internet are part of everyday life for the majority of people. People use the Internet and apps for keeping up-to-date on news items, weather, education, gaming, business, banking, socialising, maintaining friendships, and healthy lifestyle activities (Chadwick et al, 2013).

What is indicated in research findings is that despite the increased usage of the Internet and apps, there are many health apps created commercially with little evidence of scientific rigour involved in design and production. What is also indicated

28

in these findings is that there is little information on how people with an intellectual disability use the Internet and how they use apps. As stated earlier, research in the area of intellectual disability tends to focus on individuals as passive participants in their own lives (Coons & Watson, 2013) with research focused on data collected from carers and/or family respondents. This is despite the encouragement by the UK Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care (Dept. of Health, 2005) to researchers to move from doing research on and about people with an intellectual disability to doing research with them. What this researcher also found was a paucity of research on the use of mobile health technologies by adults with an intellectual disability.

There is evidence from research findings to indicate that women use mobile technologies in support of healthy lifestyle choices in greater numbers than men. There is also evidence to indicate that females with a mild intellectual disability and living independently or with family are more likely to be obese and are, therefore, at greater risk of non-communicable diseases associated with obesity than others classified with an intellectual disability. These factors form the rationale for this study, which is an exploration of the role of mobile technologies in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices by women with a mild intellectual disability.

1.6 Aims and Objectives

The aims of this research project were to discover how female students use mobile technologies and whether they use them as a resource in making healthy lifestyle choices. These aims were broken down into the following objectives; the first objective was to discuss with student participants their use of mobile technologies, and the second was to discuss health issues that matter to them in order to understand if/how these health issues impact on their lifestyle choices.

2. Methodology

2.1 Research Methods

The method suited to an exploratory study such as this is qualitative; qualitative research is concerned with words and images and can be either experiential or critical (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Experiential qualitative research focuses on participants' interpretations of events in order to validate their experience and understand data from their perspectives. The role of the researcher is to organise data in an interpretative framework that reflects the personal and social context of participants' words. In other words, the analysis of data is not based upon the researcher's knowledge of participants but views participants as the experts on themselves (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Critical qualitative research, on the other hand, re-frames participants' stories in order to gain an understanding of how the language they use shapes their social realities (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Researchers using this approach view language as a means an individual has of creating reality rather than as a reflection of that individual's reality.

The approach taken by this researcher was an experiential one where participants' viewpoints were explored through semi-structured interviews and focus groups. Also included in this research are interviews with parents of students, including one parent of a non-participant student who gave her consent for her parents to share their experience. Parents were included as it became evident throughout the process that parents play a significant role in the health behaviours of the students who participated in this research.

2.2 Theoretical Framework & Approach

The methodology used in any qualitative research study is dependent upon the theoretical framework of the researcher. The researcher's theoretical framework is a

combination of that individual's ontological assumptions (i.e., the study of how individuals conceptualise reality; if they believe that social reality exists independently of human interpretation), and epistemological perspective (i.e., the study of knowledge, of what it is possible for individuals to know, and how they know what they know) (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Ritchie & Lewis, 2009).

Two ontological assumptions described by Braun & Clarke (2013) relevant to research are 'realism' and 'relativism'. Researchers who take a realist approach work on the assumption that there is only one truth out there in the world and this truth is accessible through the use of appropriate research methods. This is the approach most commonly used by quantitative researchers. Those who take a relativist approach describe multiple constructed realities that are influenced by environmental and personal factors. Braun and Clarke describe critical realism as being an in-between approach where reality exists as a backdrop to individuals experience but is not accessible to the researcher.

In this research project the ontological theoretical framework of the researcher is based on a critical realist perspective that assumes data can provide information about reality but can never 'mirror' reality (Beail & Williams, 2014). At the core of critical realism is the belief that ontology (what we 'know') cannot be reduced to epistemology (how we 'know') as human knowledge can only know a part of what is real in the world (Fletcher, 2017). According to Bhaskar (1975), acknowledging that our knowledge of reality is limited is not the same as saying there is no reality. Critical realists posit that at the heart of critical realism is realism about ontology - an inquiry into the nature of things. Ontological realism asserts that much of reality exists and operates independently of our awareness or knowledge of it. Reality does not wholly answer to empirical surveying or hermeneutical examination (Archer et al, 1999).

Epistemological assumptions are based on what may be described as 'legitimate knowledge' (Braun & Clarke, 2013) and address the question of what it is possible for individuals to know. Epistemological positions are usually described as ranging from a positivist perspective to a constructionist perspective with a middle position being held by contextualists. Those holding a positivist (realist) perspective assume that reality can be directly observed using a scientific approach where confounding variables can be accounted for. On the other end of the spectrum, social constructionists (constructivism) state that there is no reality 'out there' to be discovered and that reality is a combination of 'knowledge's' (Braun & Clarke, 2013); that '*experiences are structured and understood through concepts and contexts, which are constructed by this subject*' (Flick, 2009, pp. 70).

Holding the middle ground are the contextualists who do not assume that a reality can be described without understanding contextual factors (Flick, 2009). Contextual research is an exploratory process that focuses on the 'what' and 'how' of the social world as experienced by participants (Richie & Lewis, 2009). The epistemological approach taken in this study is a contextualist one and is congruent with the ontological framework of the researcher described above.

The theoretical approach taken by this researcher in understanding behaviour is the COM-B model of behaviour because it emphasises the role of context in behaviour (Michie et al, 2011). This model fits very well with both a critical realist and contextualist approach to understanding human behaviour. Michie et al emphasise the importance of context when exploring ways of changing behaviour and suggest that this is the primary component in their model. According to Bhaskar (1989)

32

"social practices are concept-dependent; but, contrary to the hermeneutical tradition in social sciences, they are not exhausted by their conceptual aspect. They always have a material dimension" (pp. 4). Flick (2009) also made the point that behaviour can only be understood when contextual factors are included.

Applying a critical realist and contextualist approach to an analysis of women with a mild intellectual disability's experience of the use of mHealth technologies facilitates an understanding of the individual's perspective within the context of social, economic, cultural, and physical environmental influences.

2.3 Method of Data Analysis

Approaches to qualitative data analysis range from descriptive methods to interpretative methods (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Descriptive methods focus on giving voice to participants and treating their words as a reflection of their reality, whereas interpretative methods go beyond description seeking a more in-depth understanding of the contextual factors that impact on individuals' experiences (Braun & Clarke, 2013).

Methods of data analysis suggested for qualitative research include Grounded Theory where in-depth analysis of data results in the *emergence* of a theory from the data. However, one criticism of the grounded theory approach is it assumes that the researcher is merely an observer and has no impact on the interpretation of data (Willig, 2008). Another method of in-depth analysis commonly used in qualitative research is Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis. This method was not considered appropriate for this study as it is most effective when used in exploring an individual's experience of a specific phenomenon rather than exploring data across a group (Willig, 2008).

The method of data analysis used in this study was the six-step model of thematic analysis described by Braun and Clarke (2006). The six-step model begins with the researcher becoming familiar with the data, then moving on to coding the data, conceptualising themes, reviewing themes, classifying themes and sub-themes, and finally producing the report.

Thematic analysis acknowledges the active role of the researcher in identifying themes and patterns as opposed to the assumption of themes 'emerging' or 'discovered' within data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). It facilitates an analysis of "the ways individuals make meaning of their experience, and, in turn, the ways the broader social context impinges on those meanings, while retaining focus on the material and other limits of 'reality' " (Braun & Clarke, 2006; p. 84). Thematic analysis functions as a *contextualist* method within the theoretical orientation of critical realism and is used to facilitate the organisation, description, and interpretation of data in qualitative research. Braun and Clarke (2013) describe thematic analysis as a method for identifying, analysing, and reporting patterns or themes in data.

However, critics such as Biggerstaff (2012) and Willig (2008) suggest that while thematic analysis is a particularly useful method for categorising and summarising themes encountered in data collection it is too limited in scope to provide researchers with an opportunity for in-depth analysis of data.

2.4 Research Design

2.4.1 Participants

Students from a purposive sample were invited to participate in the study. The criteria were that participants be female, have a mild intellectual disability, be aged over eighteen, and live either independently or with family. Classification of mild

intellectual disability was identified through the Compass data-management system of the RehabGroup used to identify personal information about students including date of birth and diagnosis. While body image and obesity were factors identified in the research question this researcher thought it best to include all female participants to avoid focusing on those students who might already be self-conscious about their weight. All participants would be asked to self-rate on the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (PFRS) so that each person could self-identify with respect to weight and body image.

Twenty-six students agreed to participate in semi-structured interviews, and ten such interviews had been completed but not analysed prior to progression viva in May 2016. Post progression viva all twenty-six students agreed to participate in focus groups with follow-on agreed participation by six parents (five parents of student participants and one parent of a non-participant student), with consent from their daughters. All student participants were white and their ages ranged between 18 and 26 with an average age of 19 years. Of these twenty-six students, twenty-five were born in Ireland and one was born in the USA of white parents, one Irish and one American. Parental participants were mothers; all were white and ages ranged from late thirties to early fifties and all were born in Ireland.

The number of participants was considered sufficient for data collection in a study of this size (Braun & Clarke, 2013); recommendations for interviews being six to ten interviews, and two to four focus groups for small studies. Ten students participated in interviews and this complies with the recommendations as per Braun and Clarke (2013). Recommendations for numbers in focus groups vary (Krueger & Casey, 2009) and smaller groups of six to eight people are recommended when looking for in-depth discussion on a subject matter (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Ritchie &
Lewis, 2009). The drawback on very small groups (less than five participants) is that there may be a less diverse range of views among participants, plus smaller groups may lack some qualities that make a group a 'safe' environment (Ritchie & Lewis, 2009). The number of participants in focus groups in this study ranged from five to ten with an average number of eight. As no one group had less than five participants none of the negative factors associated with the use of small-numbered groups were relevant.

2.4.2 Data Collection

The original title of this study, '*The use of mHealth technologies by women classified with mild intellectual disabilities who self-rate on the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (PFRS) with regard to body image and obesity; An exploratory study*', arose from findings of a systematic review of risk factors for obesity among adults with an intellectual disability completed by this researcher in 2015 as part of the requirements for the Professional Doctorate in Health Psychology (Appendix A). Ethical approval was received from both the RehabGroup (September 2015 – Appendix B) and the University of the West of England (January 2016 – Appendix C) for this study and this researcher began the data collection process in April 2016.

The method of data collection used was semi-structured interviews (Appendix D) plus participants were asked to identify body type on the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (Appendix E). The semi-structured interview format contained 13 questions, 11 of which were open-ended with the remaining two asking for participant's opinions on specific uses of mobile technology in relation to healthy lifestyle choices. The purpose of using focused questions was to discover if participants were open to the idea of using mobile technologies in very specific ways that would support a healthy lifestyle. This interview format was used as a guide

rather than as a list of questions to be adhered to throughout each interview. The format and content of the semi-structured interview was agreed with supervisors prior to usage.

It is common practice for students in NLN to be involved in different projects and activities on an on-going basis. In collaboration with tutors the researcher arranged that tutors introduce the project in a similar way to all other projects in which students voluntarily participate. Each tutor gave a small introductory talk to students about the nature of the interview. The purpose of this meeting was to allow students time to consider if they wanted to participate.

Students who expressed an interest to tutors in participating in the study were invited by the tutor to attend a meeting with the researcher. This researcher spoke about the role of the interview and the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (explaining to students that each participant would be asked to pick a figure that best fitted her view of self) in understanding how/whether they use mobile technology as a resource in making healthy lifestyle choices. The researcher then went through the Information Sheet and Certificate of Consent (Appendix F) with students who were assured throughout the process that if they chose not to participate their choice would not impact on services offered to them. Information sheets and consent forms were written in plain English for greater clarity.

Twenty-six students agreed to participate and all participants were informed that each interview would be electronically recorded and that all records would be confidential and stored in a fireproof cabinet. Participants were reminded of their right to withdraw from the interview at any time. They were also reminded that the information recorded was confidential and would not be shared with anyone outside the research team. However, at Progression Viva in May of 2016 examiners suggested that the remit stated in the title created too broad a range of factors for exploration, thereby over complicating the research process. A further recommendation by examiners was that participants be given an opportunity to voice their opinions on health issues that matter to them, rather than assuming that participants shared the researchers opinion that obesity and weight issues were of primary importance in a healthy lifestyle. Prior to the progression viva ten semi-structured interviews had been completed in centres with student participants by this researcher and are included in this study (Appendix G). None of these interviews had been analysed prior to the Progression Viva in May 2016 and this researcher thought that including these interviews would add value to the study by giving the perspectives of individuals in contrast to data collected through the focus groups.

Subsequent discussions with supervisors resulted in agreement in a change in research focus away from obesity and towards a broader approach focused on how students conceptualise a healthy lifestyle. This change in focus resulted in a title change to: 'An exploration of the role of mHealth (mobile technology) in facilitating a healthy lifestyle among women with a mild intellectual disability'. Post progression viva discussions with supervisors, with students, and with tutors also included a decision to change the method of data analysis from semi-structured interviews to focus groups (Appendix H). It was agreed among all that focus group discussions might provide individuals with an opportunity to discuss topics in a more supportive environment. It was also agreed that as the average timeframe for each interview was no more than twenty minutes focus groups would provide opportunities for more indepth discussions.

The format for focus group discussion was guided by discussion with students, with tutors and with supervisors It was agreed that participants take part in two focus group sessions; the first topic being the role of mobile technology in students' lives, the second being health issues that matter to students (Appendix I). Students suggested that a tutor co-facilitate each focus group with the researcher and while this was agreed among all participants it did not happen in one centre where the tutor was unavailable. At this discussion students were also informed of their right to leave the focus group if they so wished and that any concerns would be addressed after each session either by the researcher or by the tutor.

Information sheets and consent forms (Appendix J) were given to students and each student was given the opportunity to take the forms away to discuss with whomever they wished. Participants who had agreed to take part in the original part of this study also agreed to participate in focus groups. Immediately prior to each focus group meeting participants were reminded that personal issues could be discussed with the tutor or with the researcher after the session. Participants were also reminded that the group discussion was similar to ones they normally participate in, in that 'what is said in the room stays in the room'.

Five focus groups were held across three centres with numbers of participants in each group ranging from five to ten with an average of eight participants per group. All group discussions took place in NLN centres, were electronically recorded, and verbatim copies were transcribed by this researcher. All records (see samples in Appendix K) were kept in a locked fireproof cabinet in the researcher's private office. On completion of these focus group meetings with students, and post initial analysis for themes, discussion at supervision indicated that extra value could be added to data collected from students by including their parents. This factor arose as many participants indicated that their parents play an important role in their lives. Ethical approval was sought for inclusion of parents from both the University of the West of England (Appendix L) and the RehabGroup (Appendix M) and was received in March 2017.

Letters of invitation with information and consent forms for parents (Appendix N) were handed to students who were requested to give their consent (Appendix O) for their parents to be included as participants; parents were requested in a covering letter to make contact if they were interested in becoming participants. This researcher, concerned that parents might not be available to participate, also spoke with students who were not part of the participant cohort and requested their permission to include their parents. Information sheets and consent forms (Appendix P) were handed to these students with covering letters for their parents. Two students gave their permission and their mothers agreed to participate. However, only one mother was able to participate as the other mother had too many commitments. In all, six mothers participated in semi-structured interviews where the focus ranged from their use of mobile technology to their roles in supporting their daughters in engaging in health behaviours.

At interview, each parent was assured of confidentiality and that names would be anonymised. They were also informed that no one else other than the senior psychologist in RehabGroup would have access to either the original recording or interview contents. Five interviews took place in centres while the sixth took place in the researcher's office in accordance with that parent's request. All interviews were electronically recorded (see sample of interviews in Appendix Q) and transcribed verbatim by this researcher; records were kept in a fireproof cabinet in the researcher's private office.

2.4.3 Quality Assurance

The concepts of reliability and validity were developed within the natural sciences (Ritchie & Lewis, 2003) to ensure that research practices were trustworthy. Reliability is concerned with the replicability of research findings and validity is concerned with the extent to which research findings match the purpose of research as claimed by the researcher (Willig, 2008). In the context of qualitative research, Beail and Williams (2014) made the point that the concepts of reliability and validity have greater applicability to quantitative research and stated that while quality assurance methods have been developed within qualitative research, not all qualitative approaches are inclusive of these methods. The method of qualitative analysis used in this research was Braun and Clarke's (2006) method of thematic analysis and they identified a checklist of fifteen criteria that they consider necessary for a good thematic analysis (See Table 2).

Transcription	1.	The data have been transcribed to an appropriate
1		level of detail, and the transcripts have been
		checked against the tapes for 'accuracy'.
Coding	2.	Each data item has been given equal attention
_		in the coding process.
	3.	Themes have not been generated from a few
		vivid examples (an anecdotal approach) but,
		instead, the coding process has been thorough,
		inclusive and comprehensive.
	4.	All relevant extracts for all each theme have
		been collated.
	5.	Themes have been checked against each other
		and back to the original data set.
	6.	Themes are internally coherent, consistent, and
		distinctive.
Analysis	7.	Data have been analysed rather than just
		paraphrased or described.
	8.	Analysis and data match each other – the
		extracts illustrate the analytic claims.
	9.	Analysis tells a convincing and well-organised
		story about the data and topic.
	10.	A good balance between analytic narrative and
		illustrative extracts is provided

Overall	11.	Enough time has been allocated to complete all phases of the analysis adequately, without rushing a phase or giving it a once-over- lightly.
Written report	12.	The assumptions about TA are clearly explicated.
	13.	There is a good fit between what you claim you do, and what you show you have done – ie, described method and reported analysis are consistent.
	14.	The language and concepts used in the report are consistent with the epistemological position of the analysis.
	15.	The researcher is positioned as <i>active</i> in the research process; themes do not just 'emerge'.

Table 2. 15-point checklist of criteria for good thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006) (permission received through http://www.tandfonline.com)

This researcher used this checklist as a method of ensuring rigour throughout the analysis process. However, the process of analysis is also dependent upon the researcher's ability to conduct a critical analysis and this can be captured in a reflective chapter where the researcher's ontological perspective and epistemological approach on the research process is captured. Such a reflective chapter has been included in this study.

<u>3. Analysis & Findings</u>

3.1 Themes

Data from student participant semi-structured interviews, from student participant focus group discussions (see Table 3 for details of student participants) and from parental participants (Table 4) semi-structured interviews were analysed using the six-step model of thematic analysis described by Braun & Clarke (2006).

Interviews/Focus Groups	Number of	Participant codes (anonymised)
by Location	participants	
Semi-structured Interviews in W [*]	5 participants	Listed from A to E
Semi-structured Interviews in C [*]	5 participants	Listed from A to E
First Focus Group in KK [*]	10 participants listed in order of participation	C, E, D, F, B, A, J, I, H, & K
Second Focus Group in KK [*]	8 participants listed in order of participation	A, C, B, D, M, E, F, & O
First Focus Group in W [*]	6 participants listed in order of participation	K, A, L, M, S, & E
Second Focus Group in W [*]	5 participants listed in order of participation	K, A, B, M, & O
Focus Group in C [*]	10 participants listed in order of participation	N, B, C, D, E, F, G, K, O, & R

Table 3. Student Participants (* denotes location anonymised)

Parental Participant	Mother of	Location
Parent B	Student Participant Focus Group	KK
Parent IC	Student Participant in Focus Group	КК
Parent T	Student Participant in Focus Group	KK
Parent M	Non-Participant	
Parent G	Student Participant Focus Group	КК
Parent IM	Student Participant Interview & Focus Group	С

Table 4. Parental Participants

The first step in this approach, familiarising self with data, involved the researcher listening to and transcribing taped interviews and focus group discussions. This was the foundation step for the next five steps; the second step involved the researcher generating codes, the third step the researcher searched for and conceptualised themes, the fourth step involved the researcher reviewed themes, the fifth step was the classification of themes and sub-themes, and the sixth and final step was the production of the report. The Initial themes and sub-themes were initially classified separately for student participants and parental participants as described in Table 5.

Student Themes	Student Sub-			
	themes			
1. Role of	1a. Knowledge,	1b. Compulsive		
Technology	Skills, &	Viewing		
	Ability			
2. Health	2a. Cravings	2b. Healthy	2c. Body	
Issues that		Lifestyle	Issues & Girls	
matter			Problems	
3. Parental	3a. My Mam			
Role	says			
Parental Theme	Parental Sub-			
	themes			
What mothers say	The Positives	Mother as	Her	My
	& Downsides	Protector	Daughter's	daughter
	of Technology		Voice	and I

Table 5. Student Themes and Sub-themes & Parental Theme and Sub-themes

Themes for student participants and parental participants were combined based on the idea that while both sets of themes seemed quite different from each other they shared similarities e.g., *My may says* is an alternative perspective of *What mothers say*. The final conceptualisation of themes and subthemes is described in Table 6.

Three themes with sub-themes were identified in the data (Table 6):

(1) **Mobile technology: positives and downsides**, with two sub-themes (1a) *Positives: Knowledge, skills and ability* and (1b) *Downsides: Privacy/security* & *compulsive viewing;*

(2) **Health issues that matter**, with three sub-themes (2a) *Cravings*, (2b) *healthy lifestyle choices*, and (2c) *body issues & girls' problems*.

(3) What mothers' say/my mam says with three sub-themes; (3a) mother as protector & advisor, (3b) her daughter's voice, and (3c) my daughter and I ... she's her own person.

Themes	Sub-themes
1. Mobile technology: Positives & Downsides	1a. Positives: Knowledge, Skills, and Ability 1b. Downsides: Privacy/Security & Compulsive Viewing
2. Health issues that matter	2a. Cravings 2b. Healthy lifestyle choices 2c. Body issues & Girls' problems
3. What mothers' say/my mam says	3a. Mother as protector & advisor 3b. Her daughter's voice 3c. My daughter and I she's her own person

"It helps me stay healthy!" An Exploration of the role of mHealth (mobile technologies) in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices in women with a mild intellectual disability

Table 6. Themes and sub-themes combined for students and parents

Titles of themes and sub-themes used reflected the language of student participants and parental participants whenever possible (e.g., positives and downsides, my mam says). Themes and sub-themes were conceptualised within the framework of the COM-B model of behaviour (Michie et al, 2011) and questions and topics for discussion used in both semi-structured interviews and in focus group discussions were guided by this model (see Appendices D, I, and Q). In the COM-B model, Michie et al conceptualise behaviour as a function of three components, namely; physical and psychological *Capability*, social and physical *Opportunity*, and reflective and automatic *Motivation*. The components of capability and motivation were emphasised in the first theme, *Mobile technology; Positives & Downsides*, where student participants exhibited their knowledge of the positives and negatives of using mobile technology. All three components were in evidence in the second theme, *Health issues that matter*, with student participants describing the impact that physiological difficulties (capability) such as food intolerance and chronic illness have on making healthy food choices. They also spoke about cravings (non-volitional motivation) and their psychological capability in choosing alternative healthy options in food when faced with food intolerance. Michie et al emphasise the role of opportunity (context) in their model and describe it as the primary component of behaviour when creating behaviour change interventions. A primary example of the role of opportunity/context is reflected in the third theme, *What mothers' say/my mam says* described in Table 4 where opportunities to engage in behaviours are either enabled or blocked by parents.

3.2.1 Theme 1: Mobile Technology: Positives and Downsides

Students in focus group discussions shared their knowledge of social media apps and sites, about syncing smartphones and tablets, and about staying safe online. They spoke about the role that mobile technology plays in their lives; many students stated that they could not imagine life without their smartphones while others stated that they would be bored if they did not have unlimited access to their phones. They also spoke about apps that help them stay healthy and about sites that support a healthy lifestyle. Some parents spoke about the skills that their daughters learn online and others spoke about how being online is a positive aspect of their daughters lives.

On the downsides of using mobile technology students spoke about privacy and security issues that arise when using apps or sites where information is shared. They spoke about the impact that compulsive viewing has on their lives and how using smartphones late at night impacts on sleep. They discussed how compulsive viewing impacts on their relationships with others; they also spoke about the physical isolation that can occur when spending too much time online. They spoke about being addicted to games such as Candy Crush, about binge watching television programmes and films online, and being addicted to watching online programmes.

Some parents spoke about their daughters spending too much time online, others spoke about the threats that being online may pose to their daughters, and about the actions they need to take to protect their daughters from online predators.

3.2. (1a) Subtheme: Positives: Knowledge, skills and ability

When students spoke about using mobile technology, they spoke about the important role that smartphones and tablets play in supporting and maintaining friendships and social groups. A (focus group in W) stated, in response to a question as to how useful mobile technologies are, that smartphones could be useful in helping to develop social and verbal skills. According to C (interview in C), *'Skype* (Appendix T) *is very handy to have on your phone 'cos it means you can keep in touch'*. She also stated that Messenger and Snapchat were her favourite apps (Appendix T) for keeping in touch with people as *'you don't have to send only pictures of yourself you can send pictures of things or places around you!'*

When asked about the usefulness or otherwise of smartphones as a way of creating a social group, A (interview in W) stated that:

Yeah, like, it is easier to get in contact with another person whatever apps that you use, and it, actually, also brings those people more together as they have that particular app to talk about, issues that bring people together in that app, or that particular phone, it is a social group area for that.

A's point is well made in that she suggested that individuals can come together in groups where interests are shared and this can provide people with social opportunities.

When asked by the moderator about the best way of using mobile technology for group chats, or linking in with other people, N (focus group in C) stated that '*Snapchat* (Appendix T) *is the main thing really!*' and she added that Instagram (Appendix T) is no good because '*you can't really talk*'. N indicated that what is really important in connecting with other people is using an app that facilitates conversation.

Mobile technology for many students is not just a way of sharing messages and photos with friends; it also provides opportunities for learning about healthy diets and the importance of exercise. Sites and apps such as Curves and Slimming World offer students a way of learning about healthy lifestyle choices. These apps and sites provide people with an opportunity to link in with others in a supportive environment both online and as part of a local group. A (interview in C), speaking about the Curves site (Appendix T), stated, 'I *was quite surprised that the diet plans are very good, and that the exercise plans are very good*' while C (focus group in KK) described the Slimming World site (Appendix T) as '*a group Internet*' that '*shows people how to be healthy*'.

Showing her knowledge about how a healthy lifestyle app and site such as Slimming World works, K (focus group in C) said; 'there are people who do that, on Facebook, there is a website for Slimming World and people take pictures of their meals and put them up, like, their breakfasts, snacks, and whatever they are eating!' N (focus group in C) added that:

They put it up on to the, eh, Slimming World page, and then what they do is, am, before they start Slimming World they take about four pictures of themselves and then a couple of weeks or months after they take another

49

couple of pictures and when they get to the weight they want to be they take another picture so just to show the difference!

N (focus group in C) stated that she got ideas from Slimming World on Facebook (Appendix T); *'that's what I do, it helps me a lot!'* Students showed that they had detailed information about Syns used in Slimming World where N (Focus group in C) stated that *'with Snapchat you can take a picture and put text with that ... you can just, it is just quicker to text, like, say porridge, how much you had and the Syn value and then just put it up on the website'.*

Sites suggested by participants that support healthy eating and exercise include YouTube where one student D (interview in W) stated that she used YouTube on a regular basis to learn football skills ... 'Just click on YouTube and use football skills and all good stuff comes up about things like kicking the football around, you know, and passing and all the good tricks!' Participants in the focus group in the same centre as student D also suggested that smartphones could be used as an exercise diary (A, focus group in W), and for listening to music in the gym (M, focus group in W).

On the same theme of exercise S (focus group in W) stated that you could use 'apps for exercise for walking ... you can put one on that if you don't move for a time it will prompt you!' Participants in the focus group in W also spoke about the usefulness of apps for monitoring and/or facilitating exercise routines and were very enthusiastic about using Pokémon Go (a gaming app) as a useful strategy for exercising. A in that group stated Pokémon G 'it's for fun but people don't realise that they are exercising, that they are keeping fit!' She further stated that 'the reward is that you catch Pokémon! You are exercising and you don't know, it's a game!' Also, A (focus group in W) stated that 'if you do it with others then it's lots of fun!'

Participants were clearly aware that while Pokémon Go is a gaming app it has the added advantage of offering them a way of exercising with as little pain as possible! A (focus group in C) also spoke about using the SHealth app (a fitness app from Samsung (Appendix T) for monitoring both her diet and exercise programme. N, a student in the same centre (focus group in C), also stated that *'I have SHealth; it counts how many hours you are awake and active. It helps me stay healthy! I can use it with other people if I wish'* (Appendix T) K (focus group in C) also added that the calorie counting app she has *'tells me how much is in each serving'*. These participants exhibited a thorough knowledge of the SHealth app and its advantages as a resource for making healthy lifestyle choices.

In the introductory part of the focus group meeting in C students were quick to correct the group moderator's lack of knowledge of mobile technology use with N stating '*yeah, you can now use your tablet to make calls!*' (focus group in C) and E adding '*Yeah, there is Viber and Messenger* (Appendix T) *that allow you*' make calls (focus group in C). The following conversation among these participants is a good example of their knowledge of Snapchat where N, speaking about sharing photos on Snapchat, stated:

So, now what you have to do with it is you have to go in to it and you have to screen shot it to save it, you can't just save it to your phone anymore, you have to screen shot it ... you can only download it off your own Snapchat, like if someone sent you a Snapchat, you cannot download that but if you screenshot it

K finished the sentence stating that '*it tells the person that you are taking their photo*!' N stated in reply: '*Yeah, it comes up, em, that, it comes up (.) if K sent me on*

Shapchat, then it comes up on K's phone that I had screen-shot her picture! So, people know if someone is after taking their picture or not!'

This conversation indicates that students in this group are very much aware of the complexities involved in using a social media app such as Snapchat.

On the topic of the positives of mobile technology, and in particular in relation to developing knowledge, skills and ability through the use of mobile technology, parent B stated about her daughter; '*I can see that this is probably making her wise to the world!*' She added that her daughter is '*learning new songs which is helping her* (.) speak, use her voice' plus 'she has learnt to play the drums and I see her downloading things regarding drums'. Parent B also spoke enthusiastically about her daughter learning to play online chess and was also very animated when speaking about her daughter's ability to download, and follow through with, a 30 days fitness challenge.

Parent M stated in a positive way that her daughter, C, 'has become a tech savvy (.) you could nearly say recluse' and M added 'that is her life! ... and she is very happy inside in that room'. M's daughter has a diagnosis of Autism and prior to her attending the service she was very much a home person. Since attending she has become an often outspoken member of the group and asks to participate in all activities, particularly those that take her outside the centre. This suggests that C does not share M's perception of her being happy inside her room. It also suggests that C has limited opportunities to engage in activities that are not in line with M's perception of what is good for C.

Parent IC, on the other hand, framed her daughter's mobile technology skills in a negative way by expressing her concern that her daughter was taking unnecessary risks emailing '*people in America for information on the animation she is looking at*'.

52

Despite her protestation that she 'was absolutely shocked', IC's tone of voice suggested that she was quite proud that her daughter had sufficient initiative and capability to develop problem-solving skills. According to IC, her husband and she insisted that C consult with them before she take any similar action in the future, despite her daughter stating '*I'm not stupid*!'

An important message that is contained within this theme is that student participants have the knowledge, capability and the motivation to use mobile technologies in ways that are useful to them in supporting a healthy lifestyle. According to the COM-B model of behaviour, behaviour occurs as an interaction among three components; capability, motivation, and opportunity. For some students, opportunities to engage in specific behaviours are moderated by parents. Where opportunity is controlled or removed, capability is rarely tested and motivation to engage may be impacted negatively by this lack of opportunity to engage in decisionmaking or goal setting (Michie, Atkins & West, 2014).

3.2. (1b) Subtheme: Downsides: Privacy/security & compulsive viewing

Many student participants mentioned concerns about **privacy and security**. A (interview in W), for example, stated that a downside to using health apps is '*that someone is trying to, let's say hack your comp, your phone … and they will hack all your apps and get all your information*'. She went on to say:

You really have to keep your eyes where you are going with apps because you really don't know where your apps are going or coming from, or if your apps are reliable, or, whatever, you have to keep your information safe but also, have fun with those apps, enjoy those apps ((laugh)) to make your life easier and you have to look and research them, yeah! A's comments indicate that she takes a balanced approach to using mobile technology by being mindful of the need to be careful using apps; checking them for viruses while still managing to use them in a way that is both useful and enjoyable. R (focus group in C) also spoke about the importance of being vigilant when she stated that:

Messenger, Facebook, and you know (.) you know ones for viruses, some apps like exercise ones, there could be a virus with that, and the anti-virus one, once you download that it scans the app you have just downloaded and it lets you know if there is a virus and it clears it off.

O added that she does not have a Facebook page because her friend was bullied on Facebook but when her friend tried to close her page she was unable to do so and '*the page is still out there*'. When the co-moderator challenged this comment, N pointed out that while you think you have closed your Facebook account *it*'s not permanently gone!' Again, this indicates that these participants have a good knowledge of specific social media sites that are commonly used but not always understood by those who use them.

D (focus group in KK) also spoke about the importance of being safe online and knowing who you are speaking with and mentioned the television programme Catfish. E in the group described Catfish as *'really good! It tells you about Internet dating and things that happen!'* When asked by the moderator if participants had learnt anything from this programme D replied *'a lot, like, be careful of what you say and how you say it!'*

On the same topic of privacy and security, A (focus group in W), in reply to the moderator's question as to what are the downsides of using smartphones and apps, stated that 'sex offenders! (.) You don't know who is talking!' M in the group added, 'there are some people on Facebook setting up fake pages!' In a similar vein, the

54

discussion about using Snapchat among the participants in the focus group in C indicated that sending photos or messages to people is very much about being able to trust the person and also taking personal responsibility. This was reflected in the comments made by G (focus group in C) when she stated that '*you usually don't send pictures that you shouldn't send anyway!*' and '*yes, there are people who when they get drunk expect others to take care of them!*'

These examples from student participants indicate that many are clearly aware of the risks that exist when using online sites and apps.

However, some of the comments made by parental participants indicate that they do not positively view their daughters' ability to safely use sites and apps. Parent IC, for example, stated that once she became aware that her daughter was emailing companies in America about downloading animation programmes she and her husband had to 'go through the safe use of the Internet with her'. Despite her daughter stating that she was not 'stupid', IC replied that 'I'm not saying you're stupid C, you've got to be careful!' According to IC, C replied that she knew that she needed to be careful and then showed them the original email and the reply from the company. IC's justified her response to C and stated 'we all know what goes on on the Internet (.) and people's accounts are hacked!'

However, another parent, M, stated that her daughter 'likes to play games where she is alone, or she will play with someone on line that she doesn't (.) doesn't know' which suggests that M is very comfortable with her daughter being online without being concerned about privacy or security issues.

On the topic of **compulsive viewing**, K (focus group in C) stated that '*I get into bed around 10 pm and watch my programmes until about 3 am (.) and then I am up with my son at 6 am (.) you get addicted!*' N responded to K by stating 'you have *to tell yourself to stop!*' and cited her own situation where she described her time with her iPad as the only time she has for herself. She stated that:

It is the only time I have for myself, my son is usually asleep by 8:30 pm, then I am usually in bed by 9 pm or 10 pm. It is usually turned off by 12 and asleep by 1 am. I am reducing the time slowly ((laughs)).

The overall response from the group was that 'you lose track of time, you watch about 45 minutes and then find that you have spent more than an hour'. The mixed responses among participants about compulsive viewing and the role of mobile technology indicates that while many use mobile technology as a way of relaxing, others are aware that mobile technology poses a threat to healthy lifestyle factors such as a good night's sleep.

On the subject of gaming, which could be described as both a positive (e.g., Pokémon Go as an exercise app) and a downside (compulsive viewing) of mobile technology, C (interview in W) stated that she has Play Store from which she downloads gaming apps for free. She also stated that she prefers gaming apps but has been told by her mother *'that one of the Candy Crush's* (Appendix T) *has to be deleted'* and replaced with an exercise app. C said that she has no available storage for exercise apps with all the gaming apps. She added that she had not done anything as yet to delete any of the games and did not indicate that she had any intention of so doing any time soon. While C is clearly motivated to keep her gaming apps she shows no signs of being motivated to change her use of apps in accordance with what has been suggested by her mother. O (focus group in C) on the other hand stated, while smiling, *'oh yeah, I'm addicted to Candy Crush (.) I play all the time!'* so no confusion exists as to where O stands and how she views her gaming habit.

When discussing the topic of the times at which individuals' turn their phones off E (focus group in KK) stated that she turns her phone off at 3 am because that is when 'people stop messaging!' E's response, when asked what would happen if she turned her phone off at midnight, was that she would die of boredom. I (student in the same group) retorted; 'or you might get some extra hours sleep!' E insisted that she could never spend a day with her phone off because 'I'd miss photos on Snapchat (Appendix T) that last only 24 hours! I'd feel left out! I wouldn't know what everyone else was doing!' E's comments reflected the comments made by D who said that she would be 'lost' without her phone. Both E and D were the most outspoken in the group about their need to be connected through their smartphones; others such as I, B and H stated that the only reason they leave their phones on all night is to use the alarm function.

On the topic of compulsive viewing, parent B stated that her *daughter 'spends* too much time on that' (phone) and stated that 'I would just love to take the whole thing off her and throw it out!' However, these comments were part of a discussion where she stated that she believes that 'there is a good side and a bad side' to her daughter using mobile technology.

IC stated that her daughter, C, when on holiday 'she'll sit by the pool but once there is Wi-Fi there she's fine!' So, planning holidays must allow for C's wish to be online at all times! Parent M, when speaking about her daughter's use of technology, stated 'the only thing she is interested in is anything to do with technology' and that 'her bedroom is like Games Stop! You name it, what console they sell in there she has it!' M did not say this in a way that suggested that she saw this as a negative; her tone of voice suggested that she was quite pleased that C is surrounded by, and immersed in, technology. As is the case in analysing responses from many participants who use mobile technology, student participants exhibit clearly that their behaviour is composed of a combination of capability, opportunity, and motivation as described in the COM-B model of behaviour. Their capability is reflected in the knowledge, skills and ability they demonstrate in using mobile technologies and their understanding of the positives and negatives of using these technologies. Opportunity is sometimes not such a straightforward matter for many students who have to negotiate their use of mobile technologies with their parents. Their ability to negotiate is evident in the efforts that some parents make to accommodate their daughters wish to use these technologies. Their motivation is reflected in how positively disposed participants are towards using mobile technologies and in the efforts each participant makes (including, for example, prioritising social media usage over sleep) in engaging with mobile technologies.

3.2.2 Theme 2: Health issues that matter

Many of the participants showed a good knowledge and awareness of their current health issues and discussed how some of these issues impact on their lifestyles choices, including choices they make about diet and exercise.

Student participants spoke about the role of medication in stabilising chronic health conditions, and shared their knowledge about non-communicable health issues and diseases such as obesity, heart disease, diabetes, cancer, stroke, and epilepsy. In some cases they spoke about how these issues affect themselves or family members. Students also spoke in great detail about healthy lifestyle choices and discussed the difficulties that can arise when having to plan meals around food intolerance issues or when making choices to eat healthy proteins and fats. They also spoke about cravings and how these are linked, in some cases, to what they described as 'girls' problems', giving the monthly cycle as an example.

These issues were also reflected in comments made by some parents who spoke about the difficulties that their daughters experience when food cravings impact negatively on healthy lifestyle choices. Parents also gave examples of how their own behaviour has impacted both negatively and positively on their daughters' lifestyle choices.

3.2. (2a) Subtheme: Cravings

Some participants mentioned food cravings as a factor they struggle with, while others spoke about how they replace those cravings for unhealthy food options with healthy ones. In discussion about what might replace unhealthy foods that individuals crave, M (focus group in W) stated that '*if I crave chocolate I go to the fridge and have a piece of fruit*' and she added that she only eats chocolate '*once in a blue moon*! *It's only when I get my yokes that I decide to have chocolate*!' K in the same group spoke about the plan she shares with her mother to lose weight. She described one of the difficulties she has in maintaining a healthy diet as follows; 'I *love chocolate and I can't stop eating it, and I have a secret chocolate you could go to the shop and buy a piece of fruit and that would keep your mind off chocolate*!' M went on to say that her mam lets her eat a piece of chocolate on Friday.

When responding to the moderator's request to identify other unhealthy foods, participants in the W group spoke about energy drinks such as Red Bull and Monster and about how much they like these drinks even though they know that they are unhealthy. They all agreed that these drinks have high levels of caffeine with lots of calories and that they get an energy boost when drinking them. While they were quick to point out that there is one high energy drink that contains green tea they did agree that drinking too many of these drinks is unhealthy. M in the group stated that:

But you can't have too much because they make your heart race! That happened me when I had six cans of Red Bull! My mam had to bring me to hospital and they told me not to drink too much because they are bad for your heart!

Apart from M's personal experience, A in the group spoke of learning online about how energy drinks exacerbate the negative side effects of drug abuse. She stated, *I* saw on YouTube a guy who had been taking drugs, drinking Red Bull and Monster (.) his heart was beating out here! (Extends arm from chest).

From a parent's perspective, parent IC asserted that her daughter C is not addicted to caffeine drinks but stated 'you won't put C off coke!' According to IC, C drinks the 'sugar free fat free one (.) and she'll have a glass with her dinner and a glass at night time'. She went on to speak about her own 'addiction' to 'full fat coke' (2.5 to 3 litres per day) and how she used it as a weight management strategy. She also described how this addiction was a significant factor in her experiencing two transient iaschemic attacks and stated that she thought that C, in witnessing these events, would not drink coke to excess. IC's comments on the relevance of her experience indicate that she believes that her negative experience provided C with an opportunity to adapt her behaviour accordingly.

In speaking about her daughter N, IM stated that she knows that 'N's downfall is chocolate! Downfall (.) absolutely chocolate, 100%!' She also stated that N had successfully stopped drinking Lucozade at Christmas even though N had found 'she needed that extra boost coming up to her periods'. Similar to IC in the previous example, IM spoke about the similarities between her own experience of being a 'late night binger' when she would 'love a Twix' and N's craving for chocolate at night. According to IM, N would say, at about 8:30 or 9 at night, "God, I'd love a square of chocolate!" IM stated that N is particularly vulnerable 'especially when she is getting her periods (.) the craving she would have would be doubled, just to get the sugar and the salt (.) do you know what I mean?' and IM added, 'but when she comes home and she has a craving (.) I feel sorry for her (.) it's so difficult to get a craving out of your body!'

These comments suggest that IM's own experience of cravings impacts on how she responds to N's experience of cravings. This is reflected in IM comments when she said: '... she would eat healthily but would eat the chocolate afterwards! But she is like the rest of us, when we are having a hard day some of us go for a cigarette, do you know, others for chocolate!'

Within the COM-B model of behaviour, cravings can be described as a combination of capability (emotional response), opportunity (context) and motivation (automatic processing). For many participants eating chocolate can be described as an emotional response to physiological changes, or as a response to taste-driven choices that are both biological and emotional. Opportunity (context) is access that participants have to energy dense foods and drinks promoted through, for example, fast-food outlets (Visram et al, 2016; Ni Mhurchú et al, 2013; Breslin, 2013).

3.2. (2b) Subtheme: Healthy lifestyle choices

Students were very animated about healthy lifestyle choices with lots of comments reflecting their knowledge of what makes a healthy diet healthy, what works for them and what does not work. When parents were asked about healthy lifestyle choices made by their daughters, some spoke about their daughters' initiatives, others described daughters whose behaviour was motivated by others (such as parents), and

others still spoke about daughters who are not particularly interested in engaging in a healthy lifestyle or daughters with limited capability or motivation.

According to E (focus group in KK), a healthy lifestyle *involves* 'a balanced diet and exercise'. A (focus group in KK) added 'sleep, not many people get a lot of sleep! You should get 8 hours sleep every night!' B, in the focus group in W, stated that by not eating too many 'sweets' or 'rubbish' it is possible to maintain a healthy lifestyle. She described herself as 'a healthy person' who maintains her health by 'exercising, I eat enough, enough dairy products, whatever, but that's about it! I do more exercise that keeps me healthy!' A, in the same group, made the point that an important part of a healthy lifestyle is 'having it proportioned'. M in the group stated that a healthy diet is based on knowing the food pyramid and that 'we did cooking in school and used the food pyramid! We did lunch and all for the teachers so we had to go down through the food pyramid to cook food!' B (interview in W) stated that she keeps fit by 'exercising (.) keeping low balanced meals'. These comments reflect a broad range of opinions that share an awareness of the importance of having a balanced diet, of having sufficient sleep, and of understanding the importance of food portions as significant factors in maintaining a healthy lifestyle. These comments also suggest that participants have had the opportunity to learn what works well in a healthy lifestyle.

When the discussion progressed to discussing healthy meals A (focus group in KK) stated that she has 'two boiled eggs and a glass of milk' for breakfast while C in the same group stated that she has 'porridge and yogurt'. In the discussion C stated that wholegrain cereal for breakfast is best while E stated that the suggested alternative by the co-moderator of wholegrain Cheerio's was not a good one, describing them as 'yuck! They taste of sugar!' Her stated preference was Weetabix

that she described as being nutritionally better than other cereals, plus she would have brown bread to add to her healthy breakfast.

In response to a query from the co-moderator as to whether participants had tried foods such as falafels, B (focus group in KK) stated that 'I don't like chickpeas, they have no flavour! My mam sometimes puts them in what she calls a one-pot dinner!' B indicated a difficulty that some people have with eating healthy foods; some healthy foods may challenge an individual's taste buds where other less healthy alternatives may have a satisfying taste.

A (focus group in W) spoke about the difficulties she experiences in maintaining a healthy diet in light of her food intolerance issues and stated '*I try to use calcium tablets rather than from milk, if I can't get protein from chicken I get it from fish*'. A's comments suggest that she is aware that she needs to plan her meals in order to maintain a healthy diet and is able to do so because she has a good idea of the range of options out there for her. In the same discussion M stated that '*we were in a chip shop one day (.) you see, mammy goes to him but I can't eat fatty food, but then he brought out a salad and he made a Panini for my mammy!*' In this comment M indicated her awareness of alternative food sources for proteins and fats that maintain a healthy diet. Also, this comment indicates that M's mother plays a direct role in supporting M when choosing food options.

Difficulties in maintaining a healthy lifestyle by using mHealth apps were highlighted by 'A' when speaking about using a health app on her smartphone. She stated: 'I used to have one of those on my phone and I had one where I had to put in my food I was eating, you had to be very specific'. In response to a query from the moderator, A stated:

So, if I was having a burger I had to count the bread, the burger itself, the pickle, the onions, the tomato, the sauces, and the portion size of it as well! I had to count how many minutes that I walked, what speed (.) how many laps during that minute, how many times I did it!'

The main difficulty that A described was her difficulty in '*remembering!* You had to *remember so much!*' When the moderator brought this difficulty to the group the general consensus was that they would also find the app too complicated. This, again, reflects the importance of app developers seeking user feedback and creating user-centred mHealth apps.

This important factor was also indicated in A's (interview in C) response to a question as to how user-friendly the SHealth app (Appendix T) was that she downloaded. While she stated that 'they are very useful for people who are trying to maintain their weight like me, or trying to lose a bit of weight, or shed weight, you know!' she also stated that 'I wouldn't use them on a regular basis, I would use them from time to time, yeah!"

When asked by the moderator about factors that might impact on an individual's ability to engage in activities on her own participants in the C focus group were able to describe factors that might impact negatively on individual motivation. N stated that a negative factor might be: '*Probably don't have enough confidence to do it by yourself*' while E suggested that an individual may have difficulty in maintaining interest and '*you could give it up easily*'. F made the point that '*if you have a group, they will push you to do it*'. All useful responses to consider when engaging in health behaviour change as motivation can be a reflective process based on personal opinions and knowledge, or it can be an automatic process influenced by needs, impulses and reflex responses (COM-B model of behaviour).

Student participants went on to discuss how useful Slimming World can be in providing individuals with opportunities in making healthy lifestyle choices. N (focus group in C) commented that 'you can see how others can do it' and added that 'it helps me a lot'. N did go on to point out that Slimming World recipes do not work for everyone and gave the example where 'there was one woman, she was doing, I can't think of what recipe they had, she was using the recipes and then another woman tried them and they didn't help her lose weight' to which G replied 'just the way your body reacts to it'. This conversation indicated a good knowledge among these participants of how useful online sites can be in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices. It also indicated awareness among participants of how individuals respond differently to the content of online diet and exercise sites. These comments suggest that participants have the knowledge and capability necessary to use these sites in a critical way.

Parents' responses to their daughters' healthy lifestyle choices were mixed. Parent B, for example, described her daughter C as quite an active person who makes good choices. B stated that C plays boccia, has learnt to play the drums on the Internet, and has downloaded a 30 days fitness challenge that she works on with her sisters. According to B, 'she is very disciplined in herself (.) although she might have a drawer full of rubbish she will keep it for a certain day ... she and her sister will say, "We'll eat these on Friday" (.) she might take an odd nibble during the week but normally she has good discipline'.

Parent IC spoke at length about her daughter C and the difficulties that both she and C experience in negotiating a healthy lifestyle for C. IC described grocery shopping with C as follows: I would get her Slimming World pasta sauce and I would get low fat mince and I would use passata and she'd love it (.) but then, she'd go off with a basket and she'd put stuff in it and I'd say, "That goes back ... that goes back" and she'd have a bit of a strop with me and I'd say, "C, if you are going to be like that you can go out to the car and sit in it or you put those back and you can hold on to one!" and she would say, "Yes, if that's what I have to do!" ... "Yes, that's what you have to do! I don't want to see you harming your health, so that's what you have to do!"

IC goes on to state that C:

Goes for a walk for, maybe, 40 minutes outside, in the fresh air ... she walks as far as the DG (park in local area) and she collects her Pokémon (Appendix T) and her points and she comes home then and she says, "Look, I'm after getting so many points" but she has got her walk in!

C's behaviour in the above examples suggests that her opportunities to eat what she desires are constrained within the family and this, perhaps, is reflected in her behaviour while attending NLN. Once she started on the programme in NLN she used the opportunity afforded to her to buy foods that she was motivated to eat in place of prepared Slimming World recipe dishes made by her mother. This suggests that C's food choices are taste-driven and focused on what is palatable rather than nutrient dense (Breslin, 2013).

C gained a lot of weight during her time on the programme. According to IC 'when people are in different environments they can "try it on" and they'll all have their ways and means to hide stuff, to go out during lunchtime and eat something before they come back, like C in Supermacs!' Citing an example of when she was in

town and met C leaving Supermacs (fast-food takeaway) even though IC had given her a packed lunch.

Parent T stated that her daughter S 'would be a very healthy eater! She is not a takeaway girl!' She added that S must be the 'first person to go in (MacDonald's) and ask for carrots and potatoes!' With regard to exercise T stated

I dropped her at the bottom of the street this morning; she thought it was hell on earth! She had to walk up, the whole way up the street, it would take her a minute or so! I think they are all like it (.) they think the world had ended. But she'll walk the dog at home! You know, now her dog (.) she walks her dog (.) she would now, yeah!

Perhaps this is more about S not wanting to go to the NLN centre rather than not wanting to walk. S has a diagnosis of dyspraxia and presents as a quiet and reserved person who is very conscious of how she appears to others. This may be the motivating factor behind her wish to be dropped at the door. Also, this is supported by the second part of T's comment when she states that S walks her dog.

Parent M, when speaking about her daughter C, stated that 'I think she has no interest in movement at all!' She stated that C 'goes to archery on a Tuesday evening and that is about as far as she goes!' M went on to acknowledge that 'I know that that sounds terrible!' and then changed the subject and spoke about C being different to others in her group in NLN. M's daughter C has been diagnosed as being on the autistic spectrum and is over-weight. She is a friendly and sociable person in the centre and does engage in limited physical activity. However, the picture painted by her mother about C's home life is very much about a life 'that doesn't involve any movement, any exercise and she is very happy inside in that, in that room!' This scenario suggests that C's home environment is not conducive to her engaging in any

physical activity, indicating that she does not have the opportunity to engage in any social or physical activities external to NLN. This comment also suggests that sedentary behaviour is encouraged within C's home environment. She may very well be capable and motivated to engage in activities outside her home but opportunities to engage are limited.

Parent G stated that her daughter S 'would come home from work, make a coffee and sit with the dogs all day!' She went on to say that S 'is not the fastest at walking and tires quicker than most people (.) she can't run for nuts, and she runs like an elderly person with her feet turned out! And she would be genuinely tired but she goes!' and G's advice was that what works best for S is to go at her pace. However, S does participate in activities organised by her mother and, therefore, has the capability to participate in healthy activities once given the opportunity, even if she needs some support in making choices.

Parent IM, speaking about N, stated that 'N loves swimming and is a member of the T leisure centre' and that while N participates in exercise sessions in the centre any exercise she does in her own time is with her mother who stated 'we support each other!' Again, while N has experienced many person difficulties she is capable of engaging when both the opportunity is provided and she is supported in her efforts.

In their COM-B model of behaviour Michie et al (2011) consider context (opportunity) an important starting point when considering behaviour change. This observation makes sense when considering the comments from students and their parents. Students' use of online apps and sites indicates that their capability in making healthy lifestyle choices is supported by sites and apps and that the most useful ones are those that are interactive and/or user-centred. Also both students and parents, but more so parents, indicated that opportunities to engage in healthy/unhealthy lifestyle

choices are in many cases mediated by mothers. A particularly interesting example is that of C who shows how capable she is in taking advantage of a change in environment (opportunity) when motivated to make alternative food choices. She eats what the family eats at home but when she is away from home her motivation to eat fast foods is facilitated by this change in environment.

3.2 (2c) Subtheme: Body issues & girls' problems

Participants spoke about personal health issues that impact on their lives; issues such as dealing with the impact of chronic health conditions such as epilepsy and thyroid disease. They also spoke about girls' problems such as managing the menstrual cycle and discussed how these issues impact on their daily lives and choices that they make.

K, participant in the focus group in W, named 'losing weight' as a health issue that matters to her. A, in the same group, mentioned 'body issues (.) like, allergies and stuff?' while M, also in the same group, stated that 'walking, exercise' matter to her. M (focus group in KK) spoke about having to get regular blood tests (epilepsy) while E (diabetes) in the same group spoke about not having to go anymore 'cos I'm on the same medication for years'. M (focus group in W) spoke about how she uses an app called iPeriod to track her menstrual cycle. According to M, 'when you get your yokes you count the number of days until the next month and you will know when to bring pads with you'. E (focus group in KK) stated that she does not have to worry about tracking her monthly cycle as 'I don't have that anymore 'cos I got the bar' and while it means that she does not have to worry about tracking her periods she stated that 'I still get the cramps though!'K (focus group in W) stated that 'yeah! I get awful cramps with them'. K went on to speak about the medication she needs to take 'for my thyroid problem' and stated that while this health issue does not worry her 'it sometimes affects my mood though, so I can be a nuisance in class, talking rubbish,

but I don't mean to!' K is overweight and an underactive thyroid is certainly a health issue that can impact on maintaining a healthy lifestyle.

C in the KK group mentioned obesity as a health issue that matters to her and stated that she goes to Slimming World sessions 'once a week'. When asked if she found these useful she replied 'yeah, sometimes'. C also spoke about 'lactose intolerance', how this 'means that you can't have dairy products!' and explained when asked, 'when I was young I watched a cartoon and one of the characters was lactose intolerant!' C spends a lot of time online playing animation games and this is an example of where games can be a useful source of health information. A (focus group in W) spoke about her personal experience of being lactose and wheat intolerant when she said:

Yeah, I'm kind of lactose intolerant! Ever since I was 24 hours old, I can't take any milk, I can't digest it at all! My dad is on a special diet and I am on the same diet. It is really upsetting now that I am now allergic to wheat as well!

IM gave a parents perspective on the impact that body issues have on their daughters lifestyle when she stated that her daughter, N, is *'fighting a double battle'* with her weight. According to IM, the first part of this battle is N's battle with sugar/salt cravings, and the second is that N:

Does her best, during the day (.) to cut down on the bad stuff and go for the healthy option! But N puts on weight easily as she suffers from polycystic ovaries, do you know what I mean? ... Now, she is on the pill for that and has been since she was 14, but she would do her best (.) she would eat healthily but would eat the chocolate afterwards! IM's comments indicate that N's capabilities in maintaining a healthy weight are limited by her having a physical health condition that impacts negatively on an individual's ability to lose weight (WebMD, 2017).

In the context of the COM-B model, girls' issues and body issues sometimes impact negatively on participants' capability and motivation in engaging in healthy lifestyle choices. A plus for participants is their can-do attitude and their capability in understanding the impact that issues beyond their control have on their behaviour.

3.2.3 Theme 3: What mothers' say ... my mam says

Student participants spoke about the role their mothers play in highlighting sites and apps that are useful for healthy lifestyle choices in diet and exercise. In some instances mothers' interventions were not welcome while in others they were passively accepted by students who shrugged their shoulders when speaking about their mothers wishes.

Mothers' responses generally reflected the 'protector' role they take in their daughters' lives. Some mothers' spoke about a desire to do the best by their daughters and others spoke about having to ensure that they protect their daughters' from possible harm. Daughters voices could be heard either in an outspoken way when they openly disagreed with their mothers' or passively when mothers made efforts to accommodate their daughters' needs in order to avoid conflict or resistance.

The idea of mothers and daughters as a team arose with mothers speaking about the efforts they make in encouraging their daughters to participate with them in making healthy lifestyle choices.
3.2 (3a) Subtheme: Mother as protector and advisor

This theme was a recurrent one throughout interviews and focus groups. In varying degrees mothers presented, or were represented by their daughters, as advisors and protectors.

Student B (interview in C), in response to a query from the interviewer about her diet, stated 'I mostly eat salads, like, I don't eat fast food ... I try to keep away from it ... I just like it sometimes, say every 2 to 3 months'. When asked about the source of her knowledge on healthy lifestyle choices, B stated, 'ah (.) my mother gave me some advice ... and she would say go for that! I want to keep my fitness, I want to keep my body the way I am'. These comments suggest that there is a good match between B's motivation to keep fit and maintain a healthy weight and her mother's ability to support her in her lifestyle choices.

C (interview in W) stated that her mother '*looks up stuff from Slimming World she looks up recipes*' and that C has to bake from these recipes because '*mammy stands there looking at me* '*cos she gets fed up baking*'. C also made the point that her mother wants her to get fitness apps for her phone as she and her mother walk together:

I do around the block three times with mammy and then mammy does that and she has an app that counts the steps and she said to me to download that and it kept coming up that my storage was full and I have to get rid of some of my apps so that I can download that.

As already mentioned, C had not downloaded the app as this would mean she would have to delete one of her Candy Crush apps. In reply to a question as to what was stopping her downloading the app she stated *'nothing really'* so, perhaps, the question

is more about whether C's internal motivation to keep her gaming apps is greater than the opportunity to engage in healthy lifestyle choices provided by her mother.

D (interview in W) spoke about the difficulties she has in practising cooking skills. In response to questions about researching healthy recipes online D stated, 'I do, like, Google, helps you and I do (.) with healthy recipes, am ((pause)) I tried to ask my mam and she, like, said no, 'cos she thinks I'm going to burn the place down!' D went on to say that when she asked her grandfather to help her 'he said all right, let's give it a go! But then he changed his mind saying, ah, we'll try it another time!' Despite D's best efforts she was not given the opportunity at home to acquire the skills necessary, the capability, to cook for herself or for others.

In a similar vein, C (focus group in KK) spoke about attending Slimming World because 'my mam goes' and A in the same group, speaking about using sites on the Internet for health issues, said that 'my mam looks up stuff about calories and stuff like that'. M (focus group in W) stated, in reply to the same question, 'mammy does through Slimming World ... her diary is online, for when she fills out what she is eating and all!' When speaking about healthy food choices many of these participants spoke about choices their mothers made rather than any specific personal preference.

The discussion moved on to healthy foods and E (focus group in KK) stated that 'my mother buys Manuka honey but I don't like it!' and that when she has a salad 'my mam puts grapes in it'. E added that her mother makes one-pot meals that have things like chickpeas (according to E chickpeas have no flavour) in them and that her mother buys 'brown bread, a mixture of grains mum gets'. A joined in and stated that she eats 'bacon and potatoes and carrots and parsnips! I eat parsnips because they are good for you and because my mother will sit there until I have them eaten!' M (focus group in W) stated that 'we are not allowed Coke in the house anymore! Daddy is after banning it so we drink lots of water!' M goes on to say that her mother allows her eat a piece of chocolate each Friday. C (Interview in W) stated that 'in the summer I like salads! And then we get a treat every so often, if we are good mammy gets us a take away, depends on how good we are!' She went on to describe her favourite takeaway as 'meatballs, chips, rice and sweet and sour sauce!'

It is evident from what student participants say that parents play an important role in their lives and in particular their diets. In many instances foods are defined as 'good' or 'bad' and in C's (interview in W) case takeaways are 'good' as they are described as rewards for good behaviour, indicating that healthy foods such as salads are to be endured. Opportunity to eat certain foods is either blocked or enabled by parents, thus impacting on participants' dietary behaviour (COM-B model).

From parents' perspectives, some described Pokémon Go as a useful exercise resource for their daughters as it encourages them to walk in seeking Pokémon Go characters. However, in response to a query from the interviewer as to whether M thought that Pokémon Go might be a useful exercise resource for her daughter, M stated that she knew that both her daughter, C, and her son were interested and:

I also know from going around in the car and having the hotspot on in my car that when they have their tablets on that they can actually play Pokémon as you drive around! So, walking isn't always necessary (.) and they are looking for the weird ones (.) they are not interested in the regular ones, they are always looking for the weird ones that are hard to find! But yes, you can drive and find Pokémon's!

In response to a query on how M thought that C might respond to a conversation about her taking part in exercise, M stated that 'the only thing she (C) is interested in

is anything to do with technology!' This comment suggests that M believes that her daughter has no interest in exercise. As mentioned before, M tends to describe C as a passive participant in her own life. Yet, Pokémon Go would provide C with an opportunity to engage in physical activity. According to Niantic (2017), the makers of Pokémon Go, *'our goal is to create experiences that encourage healthy outdoor exploration and social gameplay'* and they discourage playing Pokémon Go in a car or on a bike for safety reasons (imposing a speed limit on collecting Pokémon). M's comments suggest that she facilitates C engaging in passive behaviour rather than facilitating her having the opportunity to actively pursuing Pokémon Go characters using her smartphone and her technical knowledge.

Opportunities, as per the COM-B model of behaviour, to make healthy lifestyle choices are facilitated in most cases by mothers while students are willing, on the most part, to take their mothers' advice. There are interesting exceptions where, for example, opportunities to learn are blocked for D in W, where opportunities to engage in physical activities appear to be discouraged by parent M, and where C in W's mother offers takeaways as 'treats' when encouraging C to eat healthily.

3.2 (3b) Subtheme: Her daughter's voice

While the story so far may suggest that student participants' voices are not always heard there is evidence to indicate that their voices do, indeed, impact on how parents interact with them. Having a voice indicates that daughters are capable of making choices even though those choices may not be regarded by parents as wise or healthy. When parent B spoke about her daughter C using the Internet, C's voice can be clearly heard. B stated that when she challenges C on the amount of time she spends on her laptop C responds saying '*I have this to do, mammy*. It was interesting to note that C had helped prepare her mother for the

interview by giving her a list of things she uses mobile technologies for: 'What did she tell me this morning? I wrote down some of these things ((pause)) sports and basketball, she said that she plays darts online ... and she has started a 30 days fitness challenge!'

Also, according to parent B, C creates her own opportunities in using mobile technologies as a way of maintaining a healthy lifestyle. These activities include her linking in with her sisters in taking on a 30 days fitness challenge. B stated that her daughter C is less likely to listen to her, and that C's healthy lifestyle practices are influenced by her sisters.

Parent IC stated that while her daughter C does listen when IC is giving her advice, 'the only advice she doesn't listen to is regarding food (.) what she should be eating and what she shouldn't be eating (.) the only thing that she doesn't listen to!' While C will eats healthily at home (because she has little choice) her own voice is more significant than that of her mother when she is away from her home. It is evident from what IC and C both say that C has the motivation and capability, when given the opportunity, to use her voice in engaging in a lifestyle that she chooses.

With respect to food choices, Cs lifestyle would appear to have two parts; the home one where she fits in with her mother's food choices and an external one where she makes her own food choices. C chooses low nutrient high energy dense foods and research findings indicate that there is a link between unhealthy eating habits and weight gain (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2011). C has gained quite a bit of weight while attending the centre and even though she participates in a healthy lifestyle programme the food choices she makes for lunch are unhealthy ones.

In speaking about her daughter's S's voice, T gave an example of S using her voice when 'for the first time yesterday evening, for the first time I did oven chips and

because I did not make them myself she said, "you're joking!" T's comment indicates that she has created high expectations for S in how she supports S in maintaining a healthy diet. S's voice on healthy food choices is also indicated in T's comments when she said that S *'would be a good healthy eater, you know, no junk food!'*

In speaking about her daughter N's voice, IM stated that when she suggests that N choose a yoghurt rather than a square of chocolate when she is hungry at night N's response is '*No*' and that is the end of that discussion. N's very clear '*No*' to a healthy option at a specific time may be indicative of environmental opportunities that mirror her mother's behaviour who described herself as a '*late night "binger" if that's what you call it!*'

In the context of the COM-B model, daughters' voices indicate that they are capable of making their wishes known to their mothers. C indicates to her mother that she is capable of making her own choices around Internet use and lifestyle choices. S does not hesitate in making her opinion known on her mother's food choices; neither does N hesitate in letting her mother know that she will make her own food choices.

3.2 (3c) Subtheme: My daughter and I ... she's her own person

There was strong evidence in all interviews to indicate that there is a close relationship between mothers and daughters who participated in this study. While many of these relationships may very well appear to be one-sided and about mothers' needs and expectations, others have aspects that suggest a genuine 'team' effort where both parties work together in making healthy lifestyle choices.

C was very able to persuade parent B about the positives of using mobile technology, that being online was not all a negative experience and B could see that C used it in a way that was supportive of her learning new things. In the context of a discussion on the many things that C has achieved, plus the numerous things she is working on, B stated that 'perhaps I don't give her enough credit for the things she does!' and acknowledged that C does tend to follow through on her plans, an example being the 30 day fitness challenge. B further emphasised her understanding of C's way of doing things when she said 'she is very much her own person with her own opinions'. B's comments indicate that C is a very capable person who is highly motivated to pursue ideas and plans and that B understands that she must provide C with the opportunity to follow-through on her plans as this facilitates C engage in behaviours that are of benefit to her There was clear evidence from both B's and C's comments that their relationship is based on mutual respect.

IC's relationship with C is, perhaps, highlighted in the following comments made by C; *'but mammy won't let me have it!'* The conversation at that stage was focused on IC encouraging C to participate in Slimming World sessions and IC's discovery that, according to IC, C did not comprehend the purpose of these sessions. IC stated, *'it was the stuff she liked that she would talk about, not what she was supposed to talk about which is the stuff she should be eating!'* IC described C's comment about IC not letting her have what she wanted to eat as follows:

Yeah, and she blames us for not losing weight and when I asked her she said "you don't feed me!" and I said, "hold on (.) You have a meal in the evening time when you come home, you have something small in the evening time at around 6 or 7 o'clock!" but what she means is, we are not giving her the stuff that she wants!

IC went on to state that she makes a mistake in assuming that C understands less than she actually does: *'I assume that C hasn't the mental capacity to understand something'*. Her comment was made in the context of how C was able to persuade both her mother and her father that the reason she was not able to eat the Slimming World meals prepared by her mother was because the microwave in the centre was not working. So, perhaps rather than her not understanding the purpose of attending Slimming World, it is likely that C did not want to attend Slimming World or eat Slimming World meals. C did say, in the focus group discussion, that she did not find attending Slimming World particularly useful. There is evidence from both IC and C that their relationship is fraught with difficulties, particularly with respect to healthy/unhealthy food choices. These difficulties reflect both IC's role as protector/advisor and C's as recipient of this advice. While there is little evidence of teamwork within this mother daughter relationship there is clear evidence of C's voice. While IC advised her to engage with Slimming World her motivation/voice was directed elsewhere and this is where she directed her capabilities (COM-B model).

G spoke about how she and S exercise together and stated that she sometimes has to make S exercise: '*I would make her go*!' When G was asked if she discussed options with S, G stated '*I would give her a choice*! *I would ask her, "do you want to go to BK woods or to M, or where*?" The discussion moved on to what advice G would give other parents in supporting their daughters in maintaining a healthy lifestyle, G stated:

You can't force someone to eat food, if you aren't eating it yourself then you can't force them to eat it (.) and you need a breakout every week (.) you need some leeway on it! ... Do you know what I mean? You need to go at their pace, you can always go at your own pace tomorrow! Keep it simple!

G is clearly concerned that S engages in healthy lifestyle activities and describes her role as an enabler to S's role as passive participant. According to G, she is also very aware that S cannot be rushed and is mindful of the importance of modelling behaviour rather than 'do as I say'. Yet, she does speak about having to make S exercise and this indicates that at time, perhaps, G is persuasive and at other times she pressurises S to participate. There is research evidence to indicate that parental influence may have a negative impact on adolescent behaviour particularly if that influence is based on pressure rather than persuasion (Lessard et al, 2010).

Parent IM spoke about how she and N work together as a team and how she encourages N by asking her to go walking with IM. IM stated: 'And I would ask her to come up with me and I would drive us there (.) and we would do two or three rounds of the EO track and we would come home'. IM went on to say 'yes, we do something together every day! If I go, she goes, if she goes I go (.) we support each other!'

These comments by students and parents indicate that opportunities to engage in health behaviours are a complex combination of both positive and negative contexts, with a hint of motivational resistance on the part of students (COM-B model).

4. Discussion

Introduction

The aims of this research project were to discover how female students use mobile technologies and whether they use them as a resource in making healthy lifestyle choices. These aims were broken down into the following objectives; the first objective was to discuss with student participants their use of mobile technologies, and the second was to discuss health issues that matter to them in order to understand if/how these health issues impact on their lifestyle choices.

Overall findings indicated that the majority of these female students do use mobile technologies on a daily basis and that they use them for a variety of purposes. These purposes range from using social media apps such as Facebook and Snapchat to keep in touch with friends and family, to gaming apps such as Pokémon Go. They also use apps and sites that support healthy lifestyle choices such as Slimming World, Curves, SHealth and Fitbit. Findings also indicated that students, similar to the general population, experience a variety of health needs including epilepsy, thyroid disease, and food allergies that in some cases impact on their healthy lifestyle choices.

Findings from discussions with students indicate that parents play a significant role in their daughters' lives and for this reason parents, with daughters consent, were invited to participate in interviews. Data from these interviews indicate that parents had mixed views on the benefits of their daughters using mobile technologies.

With regard to healthy lifestyle choices, again, most parents expressed mixed views about their daughters' choices and spoke about their role as advisor or team leader. Parents did express views suggesting that they are aware that their daughters have their own voices and that they sometimes underestimate their daughters capability.

81

There is evidence to indicate that the majority of students who participated in this study have the capability to use mobile technologies in a way that is supportive of them making healthy lifestyle choices. There is also evidence to indicate that opportunity to engage with mobile technologies is sometimes limited by parental supervision. Motivation to use mobile technologies in support of making healthy lifestyle choices can be influenced negatively by non-volitional factors such as compulsive viewing with a consequent negative impact on health behaviours such as sleep.

The following sections include an in depth discussion of findings under the aims of this study.

4.1 Aim 1: Students use of mobile technology

Sorbring et al (2017), Normand (2016), and Lussier-Desrochers, Caouette and Godin-Tremblay (2016) describe the barriers that people with intellectual disabilities experience in using the Internet as ranging from basic barriers to upper barriers.

The most basic barrier, the *first barrier*, 'access to digital devices', they describe as a financial one where an individual does not have the opportunity to acquire mobile technologies or to gain access to the Internet because of a lack of monetary resources. These factors are external to the individual and are described as 'opportunity' to engage in behaviour within the COM-B model of behaviour.

The *second barrier*, 'sensory motor ability', refers to the individual's physical capability to use digital devices and includes sensory or motor capabilities in using smartphones or tablets. The *third barrier*, 'cognitive ability' and the *fourth barrier*, 'technical ability' they suggest may or may not be connected as smartphones and tablets have become an integral part of young people's lives and using mobile technologies has identified them apart from previous generations; they have become a

'digital nation'. These factors are internal to the person and are described within the COM-B model as 'capability'; the psychological and physical ability that an individual has in engaging in behaviour. In this regard, Shaw et al (2015), in a systematic review of research findings about using social media as a health intervention in adolescent health, stated that adolescents (aged 12-24 years) are dynamic users of social media, that they are often the teachers for adults, and that when adults 'catch up' adolescents tend to move on to the next new technologies.

The *fifth barrier* identified is 'understanding of social codes and conventions of the digital world' (netiquette) and focuses on the difficulties that online connections can cause young people with intellectual disabilities who may face greater cognitive obstacles than other young people in identifying risky situations. From a COM-B perspective, this barrier is both external to the individual in that it exists within the online environment (opportunity) and internal to the individual (capability). Difficulties in both of these areas may impact negatively on that individual's ability to engage in online communities. This negative impact may occur as a consequence of that individual's motivation to communicate online without having the capability to understand the risks involved.

Student participants in this research indicated their cognitive and technical knowledge of mobile technologies when they described how smartphones and tablets function. None of these participants reported any sensory or motor issues in using mobile technology nor did they speak about financial barriers to using the Internet. These factors indicate that not only have participants got the physical, cognitive and technical capability to engage in using mobile technologies, they have financial access to these technologies. According to the COM-B model, students' capability and motivation in using mobile technologies is evident, and opportunity to use these

technologies is facilitated by them having sufficient funds to acquire them plus access to the Internet.

Participants also indicated that as well as having detailed knowledge about the technical aspects of using mobile technologies they are also very aware of, and use on a daily basis, sites and apps that facilitate them engaging in social connections with young people of all abilities. They spoke about how they use smartphones and tablets as a way of keeping in touch with friends and family, and with their class colleagues. They spoke about Facebook and compared the pluses and minuses of Snapchat versus Instagram in facilitating social connections. They also spoke about the importance of abiding by the codes and conventions of Internet use (netiquette), for example, not sharing information that would compromise wellbeing such as sharing when drunk. All these factors suggest that students are capable of engaging within online communities in a responsible way; they articulated a clear understanding of the difficulties and possible dangers that exist in using apps and sites online.

These research findings are also indicative of how capable these participants are in engaging in behaviours that are supportive of a healthy lifestyle. Haigh et al (2013) identified that having positive relationships with family and colleagues is a significant factor in ensuring a healthy lifestyle for people with an intellectual disability. They also stated that social media apps facilitate relationships for people who might normally have difficulty in so doing. Research findings from recent studies in Sweden indicated that young people with an intellectual disability are striving for 'free zones' where they can hide from parental or adult oversight and, in turn, hide their disability from those with whom they connect (Lofgren-Martenson, Sorbring & Molin, 2015). Similar findings by Shaw et al (2015) indicate that social media plays a central role in the lives of young people in general and 'provides young people with individual networks that can be used to promote and reflect the young person's individualism and community' (pp. 2). Lussier-Desrochers et al (2017) stated that the use of information and communication technologies (ICT) by people with an intellectual disability facilitates their ability to communicate with others and engage in reciprocal social interactions in their communities. These findings mirror those of Valkenburg and Peter (2007) who found that not only can online communication be useful in building friendships it also impacts positively on wellbeing.

However, parental responses in this research indicate that some parents are less likely to take such a positive view of their daughters' online activities. Some parents discussed the benefits their daughters gained when using mobile technologies in learning new skills, in reading books online, or as a useful way of keeping their daughters occupied. Others spoke about the threat that mobile technologies pose to their daughters plus the efforts they need to put in place to ensure that their daughters remain safe. Some parents stated that they took the decision to use their daughters' passwords, without seeking their permission, to monitor and manage their social media activities including blocking access to dating sites and friend requests on Facebook. As has already been mentioned, social interaction and inclusion is central to student participants' way of using mobile technologies. Social interaction and inclusion has been found to be a useful way of engaging people in exercising such as, for example, students use of the gaming app Pokémon Go. Parental decisions to block or risk-manage opportunities for their daughters to engage in social interaction may impact negatively on their daughters. They may be excluded from social groups plus they may not acquire the skills necessary to use mobile technologies as a resource in making healthy lifestyle choices. Lack of opportunity to engage may also impact negatively on an individual's ability to acquire the sills necessary to negotiate social media sites and apps (Blum-Ross, & Livingstone, 2016). Opportunities to engage are central to an individual's ability to engage in behaviours and this is highlighted in the COM-B model of behaviour.

Parental decisions can in part be explained by evidence from research findings that indicate that social media apps pose greater risks of exploitation and sexual predation for individuals with an intellectual disability than among the general population of adolescents (Lussier-Desrochers, 2017). Young people with intellectual disabilities may experience difficulties in interpreting and understanding social interaction on the Internet as there are fewer clues to others' intentions than in face-to-face communication (Lofgren-Martenson, 2008). This can lead to young people with an intellectual disability experiencing challenging and risky situations (Lofgren-Martenson et al., 2015).

Researchers such as Mitchell (2012), and Lindstrom et al (2007) made the point that a primary motivation for many parents taking an oversight approach may be a desire to protect young people from making life choices that could negatively impact on self and family. In an inclusive research project Cumming, Strnadova, Knox, and Parmenter (2014) found that using iPads increased the quality and quantity of social networks of participant female researchers with an intellectual disability. They also found that these female researchers had difficulties with support staff and with family where iPads were borrowed without permission and where family members confiscated them because they disapproved of what was being shared. In the context of what has already been discussed it is realistic to suggest that the

barriers to students making life choices identified by families include the vulnerability

of the individual to exploitation, limited decision-making capacity on the part of the individual, limited skill level, and lack of awareness of consequences (Curryer et al, 2016).

Barriers identified by families may very well reflect the stress that these families experience in caring for a child-to-adolescent with a disability. Seltzer et al (2010) found significant differences in cortisol expression between mothers of adolescents and adults on the autistic spectrum and mothers of age-matched adolescents in the general population. Mothers of those on the spectrum had significantly hypo-activated cortisol levels, especially those mothers of adolescents who present with challenging behaviours. These findings support those of Olsen and Hwang (2001) who found that mothers of young people on the autistic spectrum experienced higher levels of anxiety and depression than those mothers of young people with an intellectual disability. Olsen and Hwang also found that mothers of young people with an intellectual disability experienced higher rates of anxiety and depression than those in the general population.

These findings highlight both the difficulties that some young people with an intellectual disability experience in controlling their lives (Cumming et al, 2014) and the difficulties that parents experience in dealing with perceived risks and threats to both themselves and their young adult 'children'.

What is concerning in these findings is the possibility that family members may very well be imposing their own perceptions of morality and choice on the individual with an intellectual disability in the name of keeping the person safe (Cumming et al, 2014). Many adults with an intellectual disability have identified the role of 'parent as protector' as a barrier to making choices and to self-determination (Curryer, et al., 2016; Haigh et al., 2013). When mothers spoke in interview some of them mentioned the difficulties that their daughters create for them when they try to encourage them, while other mothers spoke about having to make holiday plans to suit their daughters' needs. Daughters in this research either took a passive role in sharing their objection to certain 'demands' or actively disagreed with parents.

Mitchell (2012) stated that parents and carers who take this 'paternalistic' approach do so in the belief that the vulnerability of people with intellectual disabilities translates into an inability to make wise life choices. Research (Reindl et al, 2016; Bjornsdottir et al, 2015; Mitchell, 2012) indicates that this approach is widespread among parents and carers of people with intellectual disabilities who struggle with finding a balance between a 'caring' approach and 'overseer' approach. They go on to state that those who take a paternalistic approach assume that allowing individuals with an intellectual disability make choices would be unwise as it could lead to them making 'wrong' or 'risky' decisions.

This approach is based upon an assumption that individuals with in intellectual disability lack decision-making capacity, an approach that has been replaced legally within many jurisdictions with a functional approach wherein it is assumed that the person has capacity (United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, 2006). One of the eight guiding principles of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities is *'respect for inherent dignity, individual autonomy including the freedom to make one's own choices, and independence of persons'*. According to this principle, each person is entitled to make his/her own choices, and be assisted in doing so when necessary. These principles also enshrine the right of individuals to make choices that may be perceived by others to be unwise or risky. However, while many countries, including Ireland, have signed the UN convention not all have ratified it, including Ireland. While Ireland has passed the

88

Assisted Decision-Making Capacity Act (2015) moving the legal position from a paternalistic and 'best interests' approach towards persons with intellectual disabilities to a rights-based approach of choice, control and consent, Ireland has yet to enshrine in law the rights of people with disabilities to make their own choices. When these principles are enshrined in law and people with an intellectual disability are assisted in making choices, no matter how they are perceived within their families, then the work of those who support them as independent adults will have a more solid footing.

Interestingly, student participants indicated that they are capable of understanding the risks around privacy and security associated with using mobile technologies, and in particular using social media. Participants stated that they had downloaded apps for security to ensure that their smartphones were safe because they were aware of the consequences of their information being 'hacked'. They talked about the importance of knowing where apps come from, whether apps are reliable and whether information shared on apps is safe. They spoke about the importance of sharing information only with people they know and trust when using social media apps such as Snapchat and Facebook and mentioned the fact that people open fake Facebook pages. In a similar vein, they spoke about the importance of being safe online by ensuring that they know with whom they are speaking. They made the point that just because a person closes a Facebook account it does not mean that the page disappears from the Internet. Students' comments are supported by research findings (Dehling et al., 2015) on the development of mHealth apps that require detailed information from users. Those findings indicated that the majority of available mHealth apps lacked essential information privacy and security measures and recommended that this be the focus of app developers as a way of fostering user acceptance and trust.

Students also spoke about compulsive viewing and expressed mixed views as to how this behaviour impacts on their lives. Where some participants were enthusiastic binge-watchers and Candy Crush gamers, others spoke about how this behaviour negatively impacts on their sleep and shared how they were making efforts to curb their compulsive viewing. Some students saw the positives in gaming apps such as Pokémon Go that encourages gamers to exercise as a way of completing tasks. This observation is supported in recent research where findings indicated that mobile apps combining gaming with physical activity lead to significant short-term increases in activity (Shameli et al, 2017; Althoff et al, 2016). The examples given above indicate that motivation and opportunity can either have a positive or negative impact on behaviour and this impact is dependent primarily on how an individual's capability is mediated by these factors (COM-B model).

Sleep disturbance was also the focus of a discussion on late night use by participants of smartphones and tablets. Some students stated that they were afraid that they might miss out on social activities if they turned their phones off at night, or at any time, while others stated that keeping phones on at night would impact negatively on hours slept. Those who spoke about feeling lost without their phones experience what is commonly called a 'fear of missing out' (FOMO) on incoming text messages and social media alerts, a fear of missing out on opportunities to engage with others, a fear of being excluded (Woods & Scott, 2016). In this instance, opportunity and motivation impact negatively on that individual's capability in engaging in health promoting behaviour resulting in negative health behaviours (COM-B model). In the context of the pressure to be available twenty-four hours a day and seven days a week on social media, research evidence to date suggests that a relationship exists between social media use and adolescent mental health (Woods & Scott, 2016; Rosen et al, 2013). Woods and Scott (2016) found high levels of anxiety and depression among adolescents who use social media. The evidence from their research suggests that this relationship may not be a simple one where social media use can be identified as a source of anxiety or depression. Anxious adolescents may use social media to ease their anxiety, while depressed adolescents may use social media to regulate their moods. However, they found that night-time usage of social media.

4.2 Aim 2: Mobile technologies, conversations about health issues that matter, and healthy lifestyle choices

For many student participants, mobile technology plays an important role in their daily lives and provides opportunities for relaxing, watching favourite television programmes, for gaming, and for connecting with friends by sharing messages and photos. Access to the Internet also provides student participants with opportunities to learn new skills that benefit wellbeing, and learn about the role of diet and exercise in maintaining a healthy lifestyle. Student participants talked about using smartphone apps such as SHealth, Fitbit, and Pokémon Go as useful aids in maintaining a healthy lifestyle on a daily basis. The SHealth app is based on Samsung phones and is a standard commercial app as is Fitbit. The difficulty associated with standard commercial apps is that they lack evidence-based strategies that are critical to most clinical weight loss programmes (Rivera et al, 2016).

While research has yet to be conducted into the appropriate number and types of behavioural strategies necessary for an effective app, most commercial apps that employ goal-setting strategies are dependent on the participant being motivated sufficiently to remember to input multiple types of data on a daily basis (Rivera et al, 2016). This was one of the critiques offered by student participants who expressed frustration at having to remember so many items to input on mHealth apps. According to the COM-B model of behaviour, this demand to remember lots of detail may not only poses a challenge to an individual's capability in using an app but may also be an obstacle to that individual's motivation.

In contrast to these health apps, Pokémon Go is a gaming app and research by Althoff et al (2016) found that the use of Pokémon Go increased physical activity among men and women across the general population of all ages with results that were significant enough to be recommended for use in public health programmes. Many participants in this study spoke about being positively motivated to use Pokémon Go as a way of exercising while one parent viewed it as a positive way of encouraging her daughter to take forty minute walks, searching for Pokémon Go characters.

Lee et al (2017) recommended mHealth app developers should 'consider gamification when developing mHealth services if their target users are healthy people. If they target the younger generation, they need to have a strategy that maximises the enjoyment factor by using not only gamification but also social interaction' (pp. 9). As has been mentioned already, social interaction is at the centre of participants' use of the Internet and of their use of mobile technologies so they are well placed to benefit from such suitably developed apps. Also, research findings from Van Lippevelde et al (2016) recommended using a gamified monitoring app that uses reward-based learning incorporating individual differences as a way of motivating behaviour change in adolescent snacking behaviour. Motivation is a necessary requirement for engaging in any behaviour (COM-B) and Pokémon Go, as described by participants in this study, provides individuals with both motivation and opportunity to engage in healthy activities.

Other student participants discussed the usefulness of Slimming World and Curves and stated that these sites provide opportunities for individuals to participate and become part of a group where support is available both face-to-face and online; useful motivating strategies in supporting diet and exercise routines. They were able to speak about Syns and how best to use the diet programmes offered on their app and online. Student participants in this study spoke about the usefulness of having visual options available on the online Slimming World site and on the app. Students also spoke about how their mothers keep visual diaries online on their member pages on Slimming World and stated that this method of self-monitoring was useful in maintaining a healthy diet. What was significant in these conversations was the role that mothers play in 'encouraging' them to download healthy lifestyle apps such as the free one offered through Slimming World. For some students, this encouragement provided an opportunity to participate in activities that promoted healthy eating and exercise routines. Perhaps this opportunity also contributed to participants' capability to engage with a programme that they found to be user-friendly and that provides social support, factors described by Slimming World as important aspects in successful programmes (Slimming World, 2017). Opportunity and capability are also considered to be two important components of behaviour in the COM-B model of behaviour, opportunity/context considered to be a primary component as it is context that facilitates or obstructs an individual's capability to engage in behaviour (Michie et al, 2011).

In a systematic evaluation of Internet and mobile interventions for improving diet, physical activity, obesity, tobacco, and alcohol use, Afshin et al (2016) found

93

that mobile interventions and Internet use were more effective in promoting physical activity if they used evidence-based behavioural change strategies based on psychological theories of behavioural change. According to the COM-B model of behaviour, behavioural change techniques are successful when behaviour is understood as a combination of three components, namely capability, opportunity, and motivation. The comments made by some students suggest that using online sites that provide social support and individual feedback (opportunity) and that require the participant to engage in a way that reflects personal ability (capability) facilitate motivation.

Student participants spoke about current health issues that matter to them, and in particular they spoke about how some of those health issues impact negatively on their lives. One student spoke about the necessity of having regular blood tests as part of maintaining a healthy lifestyle. Another spoke about hypothyroidism and the impact that this has on her ability to manage a healthy diet while dealing with cravings for 'forbidden' foods such as chocolate. Another student participant spoke about being lactose intolerant and about choosing alternative sources of protein to dairy products. Findings from research by Cooper et al (2015) indicated higher levels of co-morbidity within the adult population of people with an intellectual disability than in the general population. They stated that while co-morbidity increases with age it is highly prevalent at all ages within this population, with similarities experienced between those in the aged 20-25 and those aged 50-54. They also reported that women with an intellectual disability have higher rates of co-morbidity across all age groups. Their research findings support those of Caton et al (2012) and McGuire et al (2007) who found that a greater number of people with intellectual disabilities than those within the general population experience chronic health

problems and have an existing medical condition, or a physical or sensory disability, that impacts on their ability to maintain a healthy lifestyle. These examples provide evidence to support the idea that chronic health problems impact on those individuals' capability in making healthy lifestyle choices. These situations are further compounded by the reality that making healthy food choices is also dependent on what is available so, as per the COM-B model, opportunity is an important part of the equation. Also, motivation to consume energy dense foods negatively impacts on capability and opportunity and many of these foods are more readily available than healthy options thereby supporting taste-driven choices (Breslin, 2013).

In speaking about what a *healthy lifestyle* might involve students primarily spoke about eating healthy foods, about maintaining a balanced diet, exercising regularly, and about how their mothers recommend and buy healthy food options. Interestingly, Melville et al (2008), citing the work of Golden and Hatcher (1997), state that the results of a reliable questionnaire indicated a higher level of knowledge about nutrition among obese participants with an intellectual disability than among non-obese participants with an intellectual disability. These findings suggest that factors other than knowledge impact on levels of obesity within this population. According to the COM-B model, behaviour is a combination of capability, opportunity, and motivation. Knowledge is only one component in this dynamic process and is dependent upon the individual having both opportunity and motivation to engage. Perhaps an indication as to what one of those other factors may be can be found in the discussion that participants had about food cravings.

When speaking about food cravings, some students spoke about how unhealthy energy drinks are. One student was able to give a personal experience of drinking excessive amounts of these drinks in one sitting where her mother had to

95

bring her to hospital because of rapid heartbeat. Another gave an example of an incident she saw on YouTube where a person mixed illegal drugs and energy drinks and she described the negative consequence he experienced. Yet, they discussed personal preferences among brands and discussed the difficulties in being asked for ID when buying energy drinks because 'there are kids mixing them with alcohol, vodka and Red Bull!' One student was able to verify this difficulty because, as she stated, 'Yeah, I should know, I do it all the time!' According to Visram et al (2016) young people consume energy drinks because they taste good, because young people are influenced by branding and marketing and these drinks are well advertised on sites and apps used by young people and because these drinks are perceived to benefit performance. Taste-driven food choices have evolved and adapted within our environment and for many people their sense of taste (intrinsic motivation) may lead them to eat highly palatable foods that are low in nutrient content (Breslin, 2013). A second attraction of many of these foods is that they require little or no preparation and, therefore, are instantly available. There is research evidence that suggests a relationship exists between retail food environments and eating patterns and it is these environmental factors that create an opportunity for individuals to engage in unhealthy eating practices (Ní Mhurchú, 2013). Therefore, it can be stated that tastedriven choices are associated with both internal motivation (Breslin, 2013) and with external social factors such as brand loyalty (opportunity/context) that enhances participation (Visram et al, 2016). These findings suggest that participants are motivated to drink energy drinks because of brand loyalty and because these drinks taste good; opportunity and motivation would appear to have a stronger impact on students than their knowledge about the side effects of these drinks (COM-B model).

From parents perspectives on their daughters diets, two of the six mothers stated that they were satisfied that their daughters eat balanced diets, one mother did not mention her daughter's food preferences, two mothers' stated that their daughters would eat *'rubbish'* unless monitored, while the sixth stated that her daughter tries her best and that they support each other in trying to maintain a healthy lifestyle.

With regard to exercise as part of a healthy lifestyle, Hsieh et al (2015) reported that the majority of people with an intellectual disability do not engage in physical activity at sufficient levels to achieve or maintain optimum health levels. Findings from this study indicate that while some participants are motivated to engage in exercise, others do so when encouraged by their mothers. This encouragement provides some students with the opportunity to acquire the capability necessary to engage in health behaviours whereas without this opportunity they might engage in passive pursuits (COM-B model).

In this study, the majority of mothers spoke about the effort they put into encouraging their daughters to engage in exercise routines by ensuring that daughters' exercise with them. Some mothers spoke about the team effort and of a relationship of mutual support. All but two mothers expressed concern about their daughters' motivation to engage in exercise routines; of the two, one mother appeared to be quite happy with her daughter's level of inactivity while the other mother was happy that her daughter took the initiative in organising an exercise routine with her sisters. However, research findings from a longitudinal study of adolescent health behaviour showed no significant difference in weight loss between those with our without parental support (Pett et al, 2013). These findings may be a reflection of the nature of the relationship between parents and their adolescents, and whether parents used persuasion or pressure (Lessard et al, 2010).

In what might seem to be self-contradictory statements, all mothers expressed the view that they underestimate their daughter's ability and spoke in positive terms about the relationship that had developed between them.

4.3 Discussion Summary

Using the COM-B model of behaviour as an overarching framework for understanding participants' behaviour has facilitated an understanding of the factors that impact on participants' use of mobile technologies and also of the factors that influence their lifestyle choices.

Capability: There is evidence in findings from interviews and focus groups of students' capability in engaging in using mobile technologies and in negotiating their way through social media sites, the Internet, and apps that support healthy lifestyle choices. What is also evident is their capability in understanding the impact that health issues have on their choices, an understanding of the difference between healthy food choices and taste-driven choices, plus an understanding of how impulsive behaviours such as cravings have on healthy lifestyle choices.

Opportunity: What is also evident in this study is the important role that opportunity/context as described in the COM-B model, plays in choices participants make with respect to both using mobile technologies and in making healthy lifestyle choices. For many participants, their mothers mediate 'opportunity' to engage in certain behaviours without their knowledge or permission. This factor indicates that opportunity to engage in behaviour may be blocked by factors that are unknown to the individual who, perhaps, is motivated to engage in that behaviour. Some students' responses to mothers mediating as protectors or advisors was to take a passive role in including parents 'advice' in how they use mobile technologies or when making

healthy lifestyle choices, while others challenged their mothers either directly or indirectly.

Motivation: Many students spoke about the impact that automatic processes such as habitual behaviour (compulsive viewing), impulsivity (choosing high energy drinks despite knowing the negative consequences), and emotional responses (food cravings for chocolate, FOMO) have on their ability to engage in making healthy lifestyle choices. What was also evident was that mothers were motivated to protect and control their daughters' behaviour without, in many instances, trusting their daughters to acquire the necessary skills to engage responsibly.

Overall, the COM-B model has facilitated a broad understanding of the three components, both internal and external to participants, that impact on their behaviour. What is very significant about this model is that it includes contextual factors as well as motivational factors and as is evident in this study, these factors play an essential role in the lives of participants. What is also significant about the COM-B model is that it forms the hub of the BCW (Figure 1) and provides practitioners with a way of identifying how this interaction of components needs to be modified in order for behaviour change to occur. In the present study, examples of the components that need to be focused on for behaviour change to occur are *capability* (e.g., cravings), occupational (parental role) and motivational (e.g., cravings, and compulsive viewing) components. Surrounding this hub is the functional intervention ring (Figure 1) providing practitioners with a choice of interventions. Of these functional interventions, *persuasion* may be a useful intervention with parents when focusing on their role in facilitating the use of mobile technologies by their daughters. Incentivisation and education may be useful strategies in working with students in managing cravings and compulsive viewing.

The outer rim of the wheel (Figure 1) contains seven policy strategies that may be useful in supporting functional interventions. *Service provision* within NLN may be a way of supporting educational and incentivisational interventions with students who engage in compulsive viewing. *Communication/marketing* may also be a useful approach in support of educational interventions with students who experience cravings and who also engage in compulsive viewing.

5. Reflective Practice, Research Limitations, & Recommendations

5.1 Reflective Practice

I begin with the assumption that competent practitioners usually know more than they can say (Schon, 1983; pp. 8-9).

The purpose of this chapter is to share this researcher's reflection on her role in the research process, to explore overall limitations within this research project and to conclude with recommendations.

In identifying the gap between formal theory and professional practice Schon (1983) described 'reflective practice' as the ability to reflect on one's actions so as to engage in a process of continuous learning. The purpose of reflecting on practice is to be aware of how one is located within the research and how this impacts on the research process (Braun & Clarke, 2013; Fook, 2007). Reflective practice can help practitioners understand their own values, goals, purposes, and interests and enable them to work in challenging circumstances where power relations may be unequal, and where they may be working in emotionally and physically demanding environments.

From students' perspectives my role as psychologist in National Learning Network is to support them when they have issues around self-care and personal responsibility, when they need support around health behaviours that do not work for them, or when they need to talk about personal issues, or issues that arise in the centre that might impact on their ability to attend. This means that they come to me when they need help or advice and no matter how friendly or approachable I am, I am aware that there is a power imbalance in how our conversations are interpreted. In other words, I always hold the role of 'the expert' as I will never be in a position where I ask them for help on similar issues. I have an open door policy in each centre and encourage students to drop in to chat when they are passing; this means that we do chat about lots of things not related to their needs, about what programmes they are watching, about the latest celebrity disasters, and about what they did at the weekend.

The idea to engage students in research on health behaviours was prompted by the fact that many of our students, despite participating in healthy lifestyle programmes, have diets based on fast food and takeaway options. Also, while they engage in exercise programmes in the centre many of them use creative reasons as to why they should not attend! The idea also came from findings of a systematic review I completed on risk factors for obesity among individuals with an intellectual disability. Again, the number of people who use our services that are overweight prompted the idea for the subject matter of this systematic review. The findings of this systematic review I completed in 2015 indicated that the main risk factors for obesity among adults with an intellectual disability were being female, having a mild intellectual disability, and living independently or with family. I hoped to expand on these findings, as I was aware that many of our students are avid smartphone users and I thought that this might be an area worth exploring. I also thought it a worthwhile idea to explore with them whether or not they use diet or exercise apps on their smartphones.

My supervisors and I debated how best to proceed and decided that I needed to include a reference to obesity, as this would be a follow on from the systematic review. While the main rationale for the study remained focused on the role of mobile technology in the lives of women with a mild intellectual disability, concerns arose among us as to how I could ethically explore the concept of obesity while not 'fat shaming' individuals. I came up with what I thought was an appropriate title (*The use of mHealth technologies by women classified with mild intellectual disabilities who* *self-rate on the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (PFRS) with regard to body image and obesity: An exploratory study)* and study rationale that would respect each individual's perception of self by asking each person to rate self on an obesity scale that did not include BMI indicators. I received ethical approval for the title and rationale for this study in January 2016 and I began interviewing individuals in April 2016. The reason I chose to interview individuals was because I thought this would facilitate an exploration of issues in a way that might otherwise embarrass them in a group format.

I was quite anxious about inviting female students to participate in this study as a significant number of female students in NLN at that time had weight issues and I was concerned that they might think that I was focusing on them exclusively. I discussed with tutors how best to approach the research subject with students and I agreed with tutors that they would speak with each group of female students prior to my discussing the topic of my research with them. Tutors have a very relaxed approach to working with students, hence the rationale for this approach. I thought that this might facilitate students decide if they wished to participate without having to say 'no' directly to me. I then met with the students who agreed to participate and went through the whole process with them and asked if they had any questions. I described their participant role as a 'helping' one where their role was to help me understand how they use their smartphones and tablets and whether they might use them as part of a healthy lifestyle.

Prior to each interview I identified a visual representation of myself on the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (Swami et al, 2008) and then asked individuals to place themselves on the same scale. I thought that this might help participants relax into the process and this seemed to work for most participants. However, some

103

interviews were very short and I believe that this was due in part in how I framed questions, plus a wish on participants' part to give 'right' answers. I did reframe questions when I thought that participants might not understand what I was asking, plus I did check back my understanding of their replies with participants to ensure that I understood what they meant. Also, while I used the questions as a guide I found that sometimes I tended to move away from the points I wanted to focus on in an effort to engage with participants.

I found that I was not very comfortable with the overall process and I believe that this is because I have on-going issues with weight and managing my work-life balance. I find it difficult at times to balance work and study while making time for exercise and personal space and I am sure that this impacted on how I engaged with participants. I am also quite sure that my own difficulties in managing a work-life balance prompted my initial decision to explore the area of maintaining a healthy lifestyle with students. Perhaps my own experience of the difficulties I have had made me more aware of the difficulties that participants might also experience in their lives.

However, at viva progression in May 2016 I was questioned on the overall process including the rationale for my study. I was also questioned about what the examiners described as the unnecessary complexity of trying to explore too many factors. Also, they questioned whether obesity and weight should be the sole focus for a study rather than discussing healthy lifestyle issues. The point being made by examiners was that weight and obesity are not health behaviours. Taking a health psychology perspective should focus on healthy lifestyle issues that would facilitate a more useful conversation about health behaviours. I took this feedback on board, simplified the rationale for the study and decided to consult with students about health issues that matter to them rather than focus on weight and obesity. I also explored

with students whether they wished to participate in interviews or focus groups, as this was also a factor that examiners wished to see pursued.

Students chose focus groups and stated that they preferred that their tutors participate as co-moderators with this researcher within the focus groups. They stated that this would make them feel comfortable in discussing issues that are personal to them. I also found the idea of engaging with students in a focus group setting diluted my own difficulties in speaking about this subject on a one-to-one basis as I felt that this would be a more supportive environment for all participants. During the focus group discussions I thought that all went really well. There were lots of discussions on health issues that matter to participants, they discussed the positives and downsides of using mobile technologies and they also spoke about how mothers influence their lives. However, listening to the tapes of focus group discussions I thought that I spoke a lot and while I was aware that I needed to keep people on track I did sound as if I had a particular agenda, or that I was trying to 'force' particular ideas about using mobile technologies on students. Mind you, what also clearly came across was their ability to either ignore and not respond, or merely acknowledge my words with 'hmm'!

A theme that came up in all focus group sessions and one that I particularly became aware of was the theme of 'parental role'. In discussion with my supervisors it was agreed that it would be useful to interview parents to discover what their influence is and how they influence their daughters' behaviours. I was a bit concerned about engaging with parents as the ethos of our service is based on the belief that our students are independent adults. However, I did see that getting permission from students to speak with their parents would allow me the opportunity to understand the role that parents have in their lives. There would be no conflict between seeing students as adults and speaking with their parents, getting the parents perspective on how useful or otherwise mobile technologies are in supporting young women with a mild intellectual disability in making healthy lifestyle choices.

Interestingly, only mothers agreed to participate and I interviewed six, five of whose daughters had participated in the first part of the study. I was particularly concerned with the opinions expressed by some mothers who were very much of the opinion that they are the experts on their daughters and entitled to monitor and control some of their daughters' behaviour, particularly with regard to their daughters' access to sites and apps that they considered inappropriate. However, I did not get the sense that these mothers did so for the 'wrong' reasons but that they thought that they needed to do this to protect their daughters, even though they stated that they did underestimate their daughters' abilities. I do believe that these parents have a difficult task in deciding when it is best to protect or enable their daughters. I also think that some of their behaviours, no matter how well intended, do impact on their daughters' human rights. I did not raise this issue with parents because I thought that this would interfere with their ability to be direct and honest. Also, as I had promised parents that our conversations were confidential I was not in a position to share their opinions with their daughters.

However, this whole process has made me more aware of our need as professionals to ensure that students with whom we work are reminded of their human rights and that we encourage them to exercise their personal boundaries with all, including their parents.

5.2 Research limitations

The purpose of the second part of this chapter is two-fold: firstly to reflect on the limitations of this research and, secondly, to suggest future areas for improvement or progression as in line with Schon's (1983) reflection-on-action.

The primary limitation of this study was that it focused on females that are participants in a supportive service where they are treated as independent adults with decision-making rights and responsibilities. There are females with an intellectual disability within our society who do not wish to, or are unable to, gain direct access to supportive services. That does not mean, however, that they are unable to make healthy lifestyle choices, nor that they would/could not use mobile technologies as a way of maintaining healthy lifestyles. It may mean that unless these females are known to the services it is highly unlikely that their voices will be heard. It would have been a useful exercise to try to invite participants from a wider population of women through social media. This would have had the advantage of making contact with people who use mobile technology as a way of engaging with peers and others; plus it may have provided a broader range of participants. Also, while all female participants across five centres in the south east of Ireland were invited to participate, of a total of forty who met the criteria those who agreed to participate were white, with all but one born in Ireland. Their ages ranged between eighteen and twenty-six with an average of 19, thus excluding the opinions of older females. This meant that opinions reflected a limited representation of the overall population of women with intellectual disabilities.

While one of the criteria was participants' be either living independently or with family, only two of the participants stated that they lived independently with the other twenty-four stating that they lived with family. Perhaps a more balanced mix of
participants would have provided a broader reflection of opinions, or maybe the mix of participants in this study is a reasonably accurate reflection of living accommodation for females within the age group who participated in this research. At the present time, of an overall population of 4,757,976 people who live in the Republic of Ireland, 458,874 adults over the age of 18 live in the family home and 41.4% of those are female (Census, 2016).

Another possible limitation of this study was the fact that interviews and focus group meetings with student participants were held in either classrooms or meeting rooms in centres rather than in neutral spaces. Participants were, of course, offered the opportunity to participate in alternative surroundings but stated that they were more comfortable in the NLN centre. Context (opportunity) influences behaviour and students in centre tend to act as students in classrooms with the same group dynamics reflected in discussions (COM-B model of behaviour). As was normal classroom practice among the various groups, students who were vocal during class were also vocal in the focus groups while others played their normal passive roles despite encouragement from both the moderator and co-moderator. There is nothing to suggest, of course, that group dynamics would change within a different context but the possibility cannot be discounted. The benefit of running group sessions in centres was ready access to participants who would all be in centres on the same day.

5.3 Recommendations

In exploring the usefulness or otherwise of mobile technologies as a resource for females with intellectual disabilities in making healthy lifestyle choices, findings from this research indicated that participants are prepared to engage with mobile technologies that have an interactive element. Many studies show that successfully meeting the health needs of individuals with intellectual disabilities involves the development of health apps that are user-centred and user-inclusive (de Cock et al, 2017; Shameli et al, 2017; Haymes et al, 2013). This researcher suggests that one of the most effective ways of ensuring that these steps are progressed is to place this research in the area of public health promotion and intervention.

A first recommendation is that the relationship between parents and their daughters with a mild intellectual disability be further explored in the context of how the parental role of protector/advisor impacts on daughters' behaviours. This recommendation is based on findings from this study that indicate that daughters' capability is impacted both positively and negatively by mothers' monitoring and/or controlling daughters opportunities to engage in particular behaviours as indicated by the COM-B model of behaviour.

A second recommendation is that further research be undertaken where participants are invited to participate from a wider population of women through social media. This would have the advantage of making contact with people who use mobile technology as a way of engaging with peers and others.

A third recommendation, based on the COM-B model of behaviour, is that further research be undertaken on the role of mobile technologies in supporting opportunities for progression in education and training for students with a mild intellectual disability within the context of a service such as NLN. This research would include students as active participants working with tutors and with programme development officers in developing programmes and/or modules that both match students' needs and are in line with governmental expectations re outcomes for student progression.

A fourth recommendation is that an organisation such as the Health Research Board (an agency supporting and funding health research under the aegis of the

109

Department of Health in Ireland) leads research in the area of exploring how existing commercial health apps may be adapted as user-centred mobile health apps for people with intellectual disabilities. These apps should include a reward-based learning element similar to that used in gamification apps, which is supportive of people with intellectual disabilities making healthy lifestyle choices.

6. Conclusion

Mobile technologies play a central role in the lives of young adults in the general population (Ceobanu & Boncu, 2014) and as is evident from this research the same is true for females with a mild intellectual disability. However, this researcher was unable to find any literature that included the voices of women with a mild intellectual disability in research on the role of mHealth in health behaviours or in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices.

This research study explored the use of mobile technologies by women with a mild intellectual disability and whether they found these mobile technologies useful resources in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices. The theoretical model used was the COM-B model of behaviour that describes behaviour as a function of an individual's capability and motivation, factors influenced by environmental and social opportunities. This model was chosen because it provides a broad framework for understanding behaviour that is in line with the epistemological and ontological perspectives of this researcher. Themes were conceptualised in the research data using this model as a framework and findings were identified as follows:

Findings from this research indicated that women in this group are knowledgeable about the technical use of mobile technologies and that they primarily use their smartphones and tablets for social interaction with friends and peers. Research findings also indicate that some of them use apps on their smartphones as a resource in maintaining a healthy lifestyle. Difficulties in using mHealth apps identified within this research relate to the level of engagement required to input multifactorial levels of data. Also, very few of these apps provide users with an interactive experience unlike social apps such as Facebook and Snapchat where users are constantly invited to engage and participate. Findings also indicate that participants' mothers play a significant role in monitoring and guiding their behaviour both online and in person. Some daughters challenge their mothers in a passive way; others challenge their mothers directly, again others accept their mothers' interventions.

What is unique about this study is that it adds student participants' voices on how useful mobile technologies are, or can be, in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices among females with a mild intellectual disability.

References:

Afshin. A., Babalola, D., McLean, M., You, Z., Ma, W., Chen, C-Y., Arabi, M. and Mozaffarian D. (2016) Information technology and lifestyle: A systematic evaluation of Internet and mobile interventions for improving diet, physical activity, obesity, tobacco, and alcohol use. *Journal of the American Heart Association* DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.1 15.003058.

Allman-Farinelli, M., Partridge, S.R., McGeechan, K., Balestracci, K., Hebden, L., Wong, A., Phongsavan, P., Denney-Wilson, E., Harris, M.F. and Buaman, F. (2016) A mobile health lifestyle program for prevention of weight gain in young adults (TXT2BFiT): Nine-month outcomes of a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research MHealth Uhealth* 4 (2) e78.

Althoff, T., White, R.W. and Horvitz, E. (2016) Influence of Pokémon Go on physical activity: Study and implications. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. 18 (22) e315.

American Association on Intellectual & Developmental Disabilities (2013) aaidd.org/intellectual-disability/definition.

Andone, I., Blaszkiewicz, K., Eibes, M., Montag, C., Markowetz, A., & Trendafilov, B. (2016) How age and gender affect smartphone usage. *UbiComp Adjunct*.

Archer, M., Sharp, R., Stones, R. and Woodiwiss, T. (1999) Critical realism and research methodology. *Alethia*. 2:1, 12-16, DOI:10.1558/aleth.v2i1.12.

Beail, N. and Williams, K. (2014) Using qualitative methods in research with people who have intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*. 27 (2) pp.85-96.

Bhaskar, R. (1975) A realist theory of science. London: Verso.

Bhaskar, R. (1989) *Reclaiming reality: A critical introduction to contemporary philosophy*. London: Verso.

Bhaumik, S., Watson, J.M., Thorp, C.F., Tyrer, F., and McGrother, C.W. (2008) Body mass index in adults with intellectual disability: distribution, associations and service implications: a population-based prevalence study. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 287-298.

Biggerstaff, D. (2012) Qualitative Research Methods in Psychology, Psychology -Selected Papers, Dr. Gina Rossi (Ed.), InTech, DOI: 10.5772/38931. Available from: <u>https://www.intechopen.com/books/psychology-selected-papers/qualitative-research-methods-in-psychology</u> Downloaded 29 October 2017.

Bjornsdottir, K., Stefansdottir, G.V. and Stefansdottir, A. (2015) 'It's my life': Autonomy and people with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disability*. 19 (1) pp. 5-21.

Blum-Ross, A. and Livingstone, S. (2016) Families and screen time: Current advice and emerging research . *Media Policy Brief 17*. London: Media Policy Project, London School of Economics and Political Science.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*. 3 pp. 77-101.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2013) *Successful qualitative research: a practical guide for beginners.* London: Sage

Breslin, A.S. (2013) An evolutionary perspective on food and human taste. *Current Biology*. 23 pp. 409-418.

Caton, S., Chadwick, D., Chapman, M., Turnbull, S., Mitchell, D. and Stansfield, J. (2012) Healthy lifestyles for adults with intellectual disability: Knowledge, barriers, and facilitators. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*. 37 (3) pp. 248-259.

Census (2016) Summary Results <u>www.cso.ie/en/census</u> downloaded 29 October 2017.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. U.S. Obesity Trends. (2011) https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/databases.html downloaded 12 November 2017.

Ceobanu, C. and Boncu, S. (2014) The challenges of the mobile technology in the young adult education. *Social and Behavioural Sciences*. 142 647-652.

Chadwick, D., Wesson, C. and Fullwood, C. (2013) Internet access by people with intellectual disabilities: Inequalities and opportunities. *Future Internet*. 5 pp. 376-397

Coons, K.D. and Watson, S.L. (2013) Conducting Research with individuals who have intellectual disabilities: Ethical and practical implications for qualitative research. *Journal on Developmental Disabilities*. 19 (2) pp. 14-24.

Cooper, S-A., McLean G., Guthrie, B., McConnachie, A., Mercer, S., Sullivan, F. and Morrison J. (2015) Multiple physical and mental health comorbidity in adults with intellectual disabilities: population-based cross-sectional analysis. *BMC Family Practice*. DOI: 10.1186?s12875-015-0329-3.

Cumming, T.M., Strnadova, I., Knox, M. and Parmenter, T. (2014) Mobile technology in inclusive research: Tools of empowerment. *Disability & Society*. 29 (7) pp. 1000-1012.

Curryer, B., Stancliffe, R.J. and Dew, A. (2015) Self-determination: Adults with intellectual disability and their family. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*. 40 (4) pp. 394-399.

Curryer, B., Stancliffe, R.J., Dew, A., Wiese, M. (2016) Family relationships and support for self-determination: the lived experience of adults with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 60 (7) DOI: 10.1111/jir.12305

De Cock, N., Vangeel, J., Lachat, C., Beullens, K., Vervoort, L., Goossens, L., Maes, L., Deforche, B., DeHenauw, S., Braet, C., Eggermont, S., Kolsteren, P., Van Camp, J. and Van Lippevelde, W. (2017) Use of fitness and nutrition apps: Associations with body mass index, snacking, and drinking habits in adolescents. *JMIR MHealth & UHealth.* 5 (4) e58 1-16.

De Winter, C.F., Bastiaanse, L.P., Hilgenkamp, T.I.M., Evenhuis, H.M., & Echteld, M.A. (2012) Overweight and obesity in older people with intellectual disability. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. Pp. 398-405.

Dehling, T., Gao, F., Schneider, S. and Sunyaev, A. (2015) Exploring the far side of mobile health: Information security and privacy of mobile health apps on IOS and Android. *JMIR MHealth & UHealth.* 3 (1) e8 pp. 1-17.

Deloitte. (2017) *State of the smart: Global mobile consumer survey 2017: UK Cut.* <u>https://www.deloitte.co.uk/mobileuk/</u> Downloaded 30 October 2017.

Department of Health (2005a) *Research Governance Framework for Health ad Social Care,* second edition, available at http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAnd Guidance/DH 4108962 downloaded 30 October 2017

Derbyshire, E. and Dancey, D. (2013) Smartphone medical applications for women's health: What is the evidence-base and feedback? *International Journal of Telemedicine and Applications*. DOI: 10.115/2013/782074.

Emsting, C., Dombrowski, S.U., Oedekoven, M., O'Sullivan, J.L., Kanzler, M., Kuhlmey, A. and Gellert, P. (2017) Using smartphones and health apps to change

and manage health behaviors: A population-based survey. *Journal of Medical Internet Research.* 19 (4) e101 pp. 1-16.

Feldman, M.A., Owen, F., Andrews, A.E., Tahir, M., Barber, R. and Griffiths, D. (2016) Randomized control trial of the 3r's health knowledge training program for persons with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*. 29 pp. 278-288.

Fletcher, A.J. (2017) Applying critical realism in qualitative research: methodology meets method. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*. 20 (2) pp. 181-194.

Flick, U. (2009) An introduction to qualitative research. London: Sage.

Fook , J. (2007) Reflective practice and critical research. In J Lishman (ed.), *Handbook for practice learning in social work and social care, second edition: Knowledge and theory.* Jessica Kingsley, pp. 363-375.

Gazizova, D., Puri, B.K., Singh, I., & Dhaliwal, R. (2012) The overweight: obesity and plasma lipids in adults with intellectual disability and mental illness. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 895-901.

Haigh, A., Lee, D., Shaw, C., Hawthorne, M., Chamberlain, S., Newman, D.W., Clarke, Z. and Beail, N. (2013) What things make people with a learning disability happy and satisfied with their lives: An inclusive research project. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*. 26 pp. 26-33.

Handel, M.J. (2011) mHealth (mobile health) – using apps for health and wellness. *Explore*. 7 (4) pp. 156-261,

Haymes, L.K., Storey, K., Maldonado, A., Post, M. and Montgomery, J. (2013) Using applied behaviour analysis and smart technology for meeting the health needs of individuals with intellectual disabilities. *Developmental Neurorehabilitation*. DOI: 10.3109/17518423.2013.850750.

Hsieh, K., Rimmer, J.H. and Heller, T. (2014) Obesity and associated factors in adults with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 58 (9) pp. 851-863.

Jackson J. E., Doescher M. P., Jerant A. F. and Hart L. G. (2005) A national study of obesity prevalence and trends by type of rural county. *Journal of Rural Health* 21 pp. 140–8.

Jantine Dute, D., Bemelmans, W.J.E. and Breda, J. (2016) Using mobile apps to promote a healthy lifestyle among adolescents and students: A review of the theoretical basis and lessons learned. *JMIR MHealth and UHealth.* 4 (2) e39.

Jobling, A. and Cuskelly, M. (2006) Young people with Down syndrome: a preliminary investigation of health knowledge and associated behaviours. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability.* 31 (4) pp. 210-218.

Kagohara, D.M., van der Meer, L., Ramdoss, S., O'Reilly, M.F., Lancioni, G.E., Davis, T.N., Rispoli, M., Lang, R., Marschik, P.B., Sutherland, D., Green, V.A., and Sigafoos, J. (2013) Using iPods and iPads in teaching programs for individuals with developmental disabilities: A systematic review. *Research in Developmental Disabilities* 34, 147-156.

Kamel Boulos, M.N., Giustini D.M. and Wheeler, S. (2016) Instagram and WhatsApp in health and healthcare: An overview. *Future Internet*. 8 (37) DOI: 10.3390/fi8030037.

Koritsas, S. and Iacono, T. (2016) Weight, nutrition, food choice, and physical activity in adults with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 60 (4) pp. 355-364.

Krueger, R.A. and Casey, M.A. (2009) *Focus Groups: A practical guide for applied Research.* 4th edition. California: Sage.

Lee, C., Lee, K. and Lee, D. (2017) Mobile healthcare applications and gamification for sustained health maintenance. *Sustainability*. DOI: 10.3390/su9050772.

Lefevre, C.E. (2016) The Behaviour Change Wheel in action – applying change methods and techniques to environmental issues. https://www1.bps.org.uk/system/files/userfiles/Division%20of%20Occupational%20P sychology/public/The%20Behaviour%20Change%20Wheel%20in%20Action%20_Se pt2016.pdf Downloaded 14 April 2018

Lessard, J., Greenberger, E. and Chen, C. (2010) Adolescents' response to parental efforts to influence eating habits: when parental warmth matters. *Journal of Youth Adolescence*. 39 pp. 73-83.

Lindstrom, L., Doren, B., Metheny, J., Johnson, P. & Zane, C. (2007) Transition to employment: role of the family in career development. *Exceptional Children*, 73, pp. 348-366.

Lofgren-Martenson, L. (2008) Love in cyberspace. Swedish young people with intellectual disabilities and the Internet. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*. 10 125–138.

Lofgren-Martenson, L., Sorbring, E. and Molin, M. (2015) "T@ngled up in Blue": Views of parents and professionals on internet use for sexual purposes among young people with intellectual disabilities. *Sexuality and Disability, 33,* 533-544. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11195-015-9415-7</u> Downloaded 29 October 2017.

Lussier-Desrochers, D., Caouette, M., & Godin-Tremblay, V. (2016) Démarche exploratoire sur les tablettes numériques en soutien à la suppléance à la communication orale pour les personnes présentant une déficience intellectuelle (DI) ou un trouble du spectre de l'autisme (TSA) (Research Report). [20 (Research Report).] Trois-Rivières, Québec: Centre de partage d'expertise en intervention technoclinique. Downloaded 14 April 2018

Lussier-Desrochers, D., Normand, C.L., Romero-Torres, A., Lachapelle, Y., Godin-Tremblay, V., Dupont, M-E., Roux, J., Pepin-Beauchesne, L. and Bilodeau, P. (2017) Bridging the digital divide for people with intellectual disability. *Journal of Psychosocial Research on Cyberspace*. 11 (1) <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5817/CP2017-1-1</u> Downloaded 12 November 2017

Maaskant, M.A., van Knijff-Raeven, A.G.M., van Schrojenstein Lantman-de Valk, H.M.J., & Veenstra, M.Y. (2009)Weight status of persons with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*. 426-432.

McGuire, B.E., Daly, P and Smyth, F. (2007) Lifestyle and health behaviours of adults with an intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 51 (7) pp. 497-510.

Melville, C.A., Cooper, S-A., Morrison, J., Allan, L., Smiley, E. and Williamson, A. (2008) The prevalence and determinants of obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*. 21 pp. 425-437.

Michie, S., van Stralen, M.M. and West, R. (2011) The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implementation Science* 1 (12) <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1186%2F1748-5908-6-42</u> Downloaded 30 October 2016

Michie, S., Atkins, L., and West, R. (2014) *The Behaviour Change Wheel: A guide to designing interventions*. Great Britain: Silverback Publishing.

Mikulovic, J., Dieu, O., Fardy, P.S., Bui-Xuan, G. and Vanhelst. J. (2014) Influence of sleep timing behavior on weight status and activity patterns in adults with intellectual disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2014.08.008

Mikulovic, J., Vanheist, J., Salleron, J., Marcellini, A., Compte, R., Fardy, P.S., & Bui-Xuan, G. (2014) Overweight in intellectually-disabled population: physical, behavioural and psychological characteristics. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. 153-161.

Mitchell, F., Jahoda, A., Hankey, C., Matthers, L., Murray, H. and Melville, C. (2016) 'Moving on and feeling good': A feasibility study to explore the lifestyle behaviours of young adults with intellectual disabilities as they transition from school to adulthood – a study protocol. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*. DOI: 10.1186/s40814-015-0044-9.

Mitchell, W. (2012) Parents' accounts: Factors considered when deciding how far to involve their son/daughter with learning disabilities in choice-making. *Children and Youth Services Review.* 34 pp. 1560-1569.

Miyamoto, S.W., Henderson, S., Young, H.M., Pande, A. and Han, J.J. (2016) Tracking data is not enough: A qualitative exploration of the role of healthcare partnerships and mHealth technology to promote physical activity and to sustain behaviour change. *JMIR MHealth & UHealth* 4 (1) e5.

Moore, K.A., McGillivray, J., Illingworth, K. and Brookhouse, P. (2004) An investigation into the incidence of obesity and underweight among adults with an intellectual disability in an Australian sample. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*. 29 (4) PP. 306-318,

Moran, R., Drane, W., McDermott, S., Dasari, S., Scurry, J.B., & Platt, T. (2005) Obesity among people with and without mental retardation across adulthood. *Obesity Research.* 13 (2) 342-349.

Ní Mhurchú, C., Vandevijvere, S., Waterlander, W., Thornton, L.E., Kelly, B., Cameron, J.J., Snowdon, W. and Swinburn, B. (2013) Monitoring the availability of healthy and unhealthy foods and non-alcoholic beverages in community and consumer retail food environments globally. *Obesity Reviews*. 14 (1) pp. 108-119.

Niantic (2017) Pokémon Go. <u>https://support.pokemongo.nianticlabs.com/hc/en-us/articles/226389207-Safety-FAQs</u> Downloaded 5 November 2017.

Normand, C. (2016) A conceptual model of factors leading to the inclusion of people with neurodevelopmental disorders in the digital world. Paper presented at 5th Annual Conference of ALTER-ESDR: Inclusion, Participation and Human Rights in Disability Research - comparisons and exchanges. Stockholm, Sweden. Downloaded 14 April 2018

Ogden, J. (2016) Celebrating variability and a call to limit systematisation: the example of the Behaviour Change Technique Taxonomy and the Behaviour Change Wheel. *Health Psychology Review*, 10:3, 245-250, DOI: <u>10.1080/17437199.2016.1190291</u> Downloaded 14 April 2018.

Olsen, M.B. and Hwang, C.P. (2001) Depression in mothers and fathers of children with intellectual disability. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 45 (6) pp. 535-543.

Peters, G-J.Y., and Kok, G. (2016) All models are wrong, but some are useful: a comment on Ogden (2016), *Health Psychology Review*, 10:3, 265-268, DOI: <u>10.1080/17437199.2016.1190658</u> Downloaded 14 April 2018.

Pett, M., Clark, L., Eldredge, A., Cardell, B., Jordan, K., Chambliss, C. and Burley, J. (2013) Effecting healthy lifestyle changes in overweight and obese young adults with intellectual disability. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 118 (3) pp.224-243.

Pfaeffli Dale, L., Dobson, R., Whittaker, R. and Maddison, R. (2016) The effectiveness of mobile-health behaviour change interventions for cardiovascular disease self-management: A systematic review. *European Journal of Preventative Cardiology*. 23 (8) pp. 801-817.

Public Health England (2015a) *People with learning disabilities in England 2015: Main report.* <u>www.gov.uk/phe</u> downloaded 29 October 2017.

Public Health England (2015b) *Health and care of people with learning disabilities: England 2014-15, experimental statistics.* <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/catelogue/PUB22607</u> Downloaded 29 October 2017.

Public Health England (2016) *Our support for public behaviour change – public health matters*. <u>https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2016/09/02our-support-for-population-behaviour-change/</u> downloaded 29 October 2017.

RehabGroup (2017) *RehabGroup Information Leaflet* Governance Publications. <u>www.rehab.ie</u> downloaded 14 April 2018

Reindl, M-S., Waltz, M. and Schippers, A. (2016) Personalization, self-advocacy and inclusion: An evaluation of parent-initiated supported living schemes for people with intellectual and developmental disabilities in the Netherlands. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities*. 20 (2) pp.121-136.

Ritchie, J. and Lewis, J. (2009) Qualitative Research Practice. London: Sage

Rivera, J., McPherson, A., Hamilton, J., Birken, C., Coons, M., Iver, S, Agarwal, A., Lalloo, C. and Stinson, J. (2016) Mobile apps for weight management: A scoping review. *JMIR MHealth & UHealth.* 4 (3) e87 DOI: 10.2196/mHealth.5115.

Robertson, J., Emerson, E., Baines, S., & Hatton, C. (2014) Obesity and health behaviours of British adults with self-*reported* intellectual impairments: cross sectional survey. *BMC Public Health*. <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/14/219</u> Downloaded 24 October 2016

Robertson, J., Emerson, E., Gregory, N., Hatton, Cl, turner, S., Kessissoglou, S., & Hallam, A. (2000) Lifestyle related risk factors for poor health in residential settings for people with intellectual disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. 469-486.

Rosen, L.D., Whaling, K., Rab, S., Carrier, L.M. and Cheever, N.A. (2013) Is Facebook creating 'iDisorders'? The link between clinical symptoms of psychiatric disorders and technology use, attitudes and anxiety. *Computers in Human Behaviour*. 29 pp. 1243-1254.

Salesforce Marketing Cloud (2014) Mobile Behavior Report. http://www.exacttarget.com/sites/exacttarget/files/deliverables/etmc-2014mobilebehaviorreport.pdf Downloaded 29 October 2017 Schon, D.A. (1983) *The Reflective Practitioner*. University of Michigan: Basic Books.

Scott, H.M., and Havercamp, S.M. (2016) Systematic review of health promotion programs focused on behavioural changes for people with intellectual disability. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*. 54 (1) pp.63-80.

Seltzer, M.M., Greenberg, J.S., Hong, J., Smith, L.E., Almeida, D.M., Coe, C. and Stawski, R.S. (2010) Maternal cortisol levels and behaviour problems in adolescents and adults with ASD. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*. 40 (4) pp.457-469.

Shameli, A., Althoff, T., Saberi, A. and Leskovec, J. (2017) How gamification affects physical activity: Large-scale analysis of walking challenges in a mobile application. *International World Wide Web Conference Committee*. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1145/3041021.3054172</u> Downloaded 29 October 2017

Shaw, J.M., Mitchell, C.A., Welch, A.J. and Williamson, M.J. (2015) Social media used as a health intervention in adolescent health: A systematic review of the literature. *Digital Health.* 1 pp. 1-10.

Slevin, E., & Northway, R. (2014) Obesity. In Taggart, L., & Cousins, W. (Eds.). *Health Promotion: for People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities.* (pp. 55-68). Berkshire: Open University Press.

Slimming World (2017) <u>www.slimmingonreferral.com</u> Downloaded 12 November 2017 Sohler, N., Lubetkin, E., Levy, J., Soghomonian, C., & Rimmerman, A. (2009). Factors associated with obesity and coronary heart disease in people with intellectual disabilities. *Social Work in Health Care.* 76-89.

Sorbring, E., Molin, M. and Logren-Martenson, L. (2017) "I'm a mother, but I'm also a facilitator in her every-day life": Parents' voices about barriers and support for internet participation among young people with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Psychosocial Research on Cyberspace*. 11 (1) DOI: 10.5817/CP2017-1-3.

Swami, V., Buchanan, T., Furnham, A. and Tovee, M.J. (2008) Five-factor personality correlates of perceptions of women's body sizes. *Personality and Individual Differences*. 45 pp. 697-699.

United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (2006) Retrieved from <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities-2.html</u> Downloaded 12 November 2016 University College London (2015) Behaviour change models and strategies relevant to Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners <u>https://www.ucl.ac.uk/pals/research/cehp/research-groups/core/pwp-review/docs/PWPREVIEW-behaviour_change</u> downloaded 30 October 2017.

Valkenburg, P.M. and Peter, J. (2007) Online communication and adolescent wellbeing: Testing the stimulation versus the displacement hypothesis. *Journal of Computer-mediated Communication* 12 (4) pp. 1169-1182

Van Lippevelde, W., Vangeel, J., de Cock, N., Lachat, C., Goossens, L., Beullens, K., Vervoort, L., Braet, C., Maes, L., Eggermont, S., Deforche, B. and Van Camp, J. (2016) Using a gamified monitoring app to change adolescents' snack intake: the development of the REWARD app and evaluation design. *BMC Public Health*. DOI: 10.1186/s2889-016-3286-4

Visram S, Cheetham M, Riby DM, Crossley, S.J. and Lake, A.A. (2016) Consumption of energy drinks by children and young people: a rapid review examining evidence of physical effects and consumer attitudes *BMJ Open* doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010380 downloaded 12 November 2017

Voth, E.C., Oelke, N.D. and Jung, M.E. (2016) A theory-based exercise app to enhance exercise adherence: A pilot study. *JMIR MHealth & UHealth* DOI: 10.2196/mHealth.4997

Walsh, J.C., Corbett, T., Hogan, M., Duggan, J. and McNamara A. (2016) An mHealth intervention using a smartphone app to increase walking behaviour in young adults: A pilot study. *JMIR MHealth & UHealth*. DOI: 10.2196/mHealth.5227.

Waterlander, W, Whittaker, R., McRobbie, H., Dorey, E., Ball, K., Maddison, R., Myers Smith, K., Crawford, D., Jiang, Y., Gu, Y., Michie, J and NiMhurchu, C. (2014) Development of an evidence-based mHealth weight management program using a formative research process. *JMIR MHealth & UHealth*. DOI: 10.2196/mHealth.2850,

WebMD. (2017) Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS): Symptoms, Cause, and <u>Treatment</u>

https://www.webmd.com/women/tc/polycystic-ovary-syndrome-pcos-topic-overview downloaded 8 November 2017.

Wehmeyer, M.L., Yeager, D., Bolding, N., Agran, M. and Hughes, C. (2003) The effects of self-regulation strategies on goal attainment for students with developmental disabilities in general education classrooms. *Journal of Developmental and Physical Disabilities*. 15 (1) pp. 79-91.

Williden, M., Taylor, R.W., McAuley, K.A., Simpson, J.C., Oakley, M. and Mann, J.I. (2006) The APPLE project: An investigation of the barriers and promoters of healthy eating and physical activity in New Zealand children aged 5-12 years. *Health Education Journal.* 65 (2) pp. 135-148

WHO (1999) Healthy living: What is a healthy lifestyle? Reprinted from http://www.who.int/iris/handle/10665/108180

WHO (2011) mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies. Reprinted from www.who.int/goe/publications/goe_mHealth_web.pdf

WHO (2015) Definition of Intellectual. Reprinted from Disability.www.euro.who.int/en/health.../**definition-intellectual-disability**

Willig, C. (2008) *Introducing qualitative research in psychology*. Berkshire: Open University Press.

Woods, H.C. and Scott, H. (2016) #Sleepyteens: Social media use in adolescence is associated with poor sleep quality, anxiety, depression and low self-esteem. *Journal of Adolescence*. 51 41-49.

Risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities: a systematic review of the evidence

Contents

Abstract	125
Introduction	128
Method	131
Results	133
Discussion	146
Limitations	149
Conclusion	150
References	152
Appendix A Process for Selection of Studies for inclusion in Review	155
Appendix B Data Extraction Form	156
Appendix C Characteristics of included studies (not included)	-

Risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities: a systematic review of the evidence.

Ailish O'Brien, Trainee Health Psychologist, the University of the West of England/Regional Psychologist, NLN. Julian Bath, Supervisor/the University of West of England & Mary Hughes, Supervisor/National Learning Network.

Abstract

Background

There is a paucity of research in the area of risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities – there are no systematic reviews in this area in the Cochrane Database.

Objectives

To understand to what extent biopsychosocial factors impact on levels of obesity in adults with intellectual disability.

Information Sources

English language electronic databases (1997-2015) plus hand-searched journals (2006-2014); databases searched – DOAJ, Informa Health Care, PsycINFO, Ssyc Articles, JStor, BILD, ASSIDD, the UWE library. Google and Google Scholar were searched for non-government/government agency information. Hand-searched journals were Journal of Health Psychology, Health Psychology, Rehabilitation Psychology, Irish Journal of Psychology, European Psychologist, and British Journal of Health Psychology. Search terms included intellectual disability, mental retardation, learning disorders, learning difficulties, developmental disabilities, developmental disorders, obese, obesity, overweight, risk factors, gender, sex, adults, age, ethnicity, socioeconomic, lifestyle, biopsychosocial, physical, social, environmental, biological, genetic, weight status, weight measurement, fat measurement, and body mass index.

Eligibility Criteria

Types of studies included; cross-sectional, prevalence, and longitudinal studies. *Participants*; Adults aged 18 or over with an intellectual disability (as defined by the WHO).

Intervention; studies evaluating quantitative or qualitative measures of risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities.

Outcome; An understanding of risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities.

Data Extraction

Data was extracted using a form adapted from a template from the Cochrane Collaboration Group – data were extracted by the lead researcher (AO'B) and reviewed by a second (MH).

Evaluation of Studies

The lead researcher assessed quality; methodological difficulties and issues with respect to missing statistical data meant that summary effects were not reported but effect measures odd ratios (OR) were worked out where sufficient data was provided.

Results

The diversity among methods and procedures within studies indicated that it would be beneficial to focus on each study separately. The findings from 9 of the 10 the studies indicated that gender (being female) was the highest risk factor for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities.

Limitations

Inconsistencies in methodological quality, a lack of homogeneity in studies, missing statistical data, difficulties experienced in making contact with authors, were among some of the factors that crated limitations in this review.

Conclusions

Recommendations for refinement in qualitative and quantitative methods to better assess the impact of biological and sociocultural gender-specific risk factors for obesity in women with intellectual disabilities. Recommendation for adaptations in clinical practice to include biological and gender-specific factors in promoting healthy lifestyles.

Introduction

The WHO (2015) defines intellectual disability as:

A significantly reduced ability to understand new or complex information and to learn and apply new skills (impaired intelligence). This results in a reduced ability to cope independently (impaired social functioning), and begins before adulthood, with a lasting effect on development.

While this definition may suggest that disability is within the individual, the WHO also states that disability is context-based where environmental factors play a significant role in enabling the individual participate and be included in society (2015).

It is estimated that approximately 2% of the UK population have an intellectual disability and according to Public Health England (2013) the rate of obesity among this population is significantly different from that of the general UK population (28.3% to 20.4%). The WHO (2015) defines overweight and obesity as "abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair health" and state that being overweight or obese is a major risk factor for non-communicable diseases such as:

- Cardiovascular diseases (mainly heart disease and stroke), which were the leading cause of death in 2012;
- Diabetes mellitus;
- Musculoskeletal disorders (especially osteoarthritis a highly disabling degenerative disease of the joints);
- Some cancers (endometrial, breast, and colon)
- Gastric problems tooth decay as a result of a diet high in sugar, gall bladder problems, excessive gasses and gastric bloating, and liver problems;
- Respiratory problems and sleep apnoea.

Obesity is also linked to mental health difficulties such as depression and anxiety and a systematic review of longitudinal studies on the relationship between obesity and mental health indicated a positive correlation between depression and obesity; people who were obese had a 55% risk of experiencing depression while people with depression had a 58% risk of becoming obese (Luppino et al, 2010).

The standard measurement method used in many studies of overweight and obesity is Body Mass Index (BMI), which is a classification of body fat based on weight divided by the square of the height (kg/m²). The WHO recommends that a BMI equal to or greater than 25 indicates a weight status of overweight while a BMI equal to or greater than 30 indicates a weight status of obesity. However, the WHO cautions that BMI should be used as a "rough guide" as it may not allow for differences of fat distribution among individuals. Slevin and Northway (2014) support this caution and point out that BMI correlates with, rather than measures, the amount of body fat in an individual. They suggest that BMI should be used as a screening tool rather than a diagnostic tool for weight status.

The WHO describes the primary cause of obesity and overweight as an energy imbalance between calories consumed and calories expended. According to data from WHO, global obesity levels have more than doubled in the years 1980 to 2014 in tandem with global changes in eating behaviours and habits. These changes occurred as a result of an increase in the availability and consumption of highly accessible calorie-laden and energy-dense foods high in saturated or trans fats, and/or unrefined sugar. These factors are further compounded by a decrease in physical activity associated with societal and environmental changes that arise from development unsupported by appropriate policies in areas such as health, transport, urban planning, environment, food processing, distribution, education and marketing (WHO, 2015). The WHO also states "supportive environments and communities are fundamental in shaping people's choices and preventing obesity" (WHO, 2015).

According to Public Health England (2013), the risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities include behavioural, environmental, and biological factors. Women, people classified with a mild intellectual disability, people with genetic disorders such as Prader-Willi syndrome and Down's syndrome, those taking prescribed psychotropic medication, and people who live independently are described as being at increased risk for obesity (PHE, 2013). Slevin and Northway (2014) describe causative factors and barriers as genetic and physical factors, psychological factors, social and cultural factors, and lower socio-economic status. Therefore, while the primary cause of obesity may be described as simply an imbalance between nutritional intake and energy consumption it is important to note that there are numerous causes and barriers to obtaining or maintaining a healthy weight for all populations (Slevin & Northway, 2014).

Despite the fact that data for people with intellectual disabilities are available through public health domains there is a paucity of research in the area of health determinants for this population. A search of the library of the University of the West of England and of the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews for reviews in this area was unsuccessful as no systematic reviews were found on the risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities.

In light of the above this systematic review seeks to answer the following question:

• To what extent do biopsychosocial factors impact on levels of obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities?

Method

Protocol & Registration

There is no review protocol registered for this systematic review.

Information sources

English language electronic databases for the years 1997 to 2015 plus hand -searched journals for the years 2006 to 2014 were searched for studies in this systematic review. Electronic databases searched were as follows; DOAJ, Informa Health Care, PsycINFO, Ssyc Articles, JStor, BILD, ASSIDD, and the UWE library. Google and Google Scholar were used to search for WHO reports, government reports and non-government agency reports. Hand searched journals were; Journal of Health Psychology, Health Psychology, Rehabilitation Psychology, Irish Journal of Psychology, European Psychologist, and British Journal of Health Psychology. Boolean search strategies were used to search for articles with the following terms; intellectual disabilities, developmental disorders, obese, obesity, overweight, risk factors, gender, sex, adults, age, ethnicity, socioeconomic, lifestyle, biopsychosocial, physical, social, environmental, biological, genetic, weight status, weight measurement, fat measurement and body mass index.

Eligibility criteria

Types of studies: Types of studies included; cross-sectional/prevalence studies, and longitudinal studies.

Participants: Participants were adults aged 18 or over with an intellectual disability (as defined by the WHO).

Intervention: Intervention measures were studies evaluating quantitative and/or qualitative measures of risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities.

Outcome: An understanding of risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities.

Exclusion criteria: Studies that focused on children and adolescents; studies whose research protocols were based on factors other than risks for obesity; Public Health studies which reported data from diverse sources; studies focused solely on secondary issues such as physiological functioning; general obesity studies; studies focused solely on behavioural change; and studies focused on lifespan issues Figure 1 (Appendix A).

Data extraction

A standardised data extraction form, adapted from the Data Collection Form devised by the Cochrane Collaboration Group, was pilot-tested on an initial 5 studies after which it was revised (Appendix B). Data were extracted by the primary researcher (AO'B) and reviewed by a second (MH). Disagreements were resolved through discussion and it was agreed that areas of mutual difficulty be referred to a third party but this was not necessary.

Evaluation of studies

The lead researcher (AO'B) assessed the quality of included studies using the EPHPP tool developed by the Effective Public Health Practice Project, Canada. An assessment of heterogeneity of each study indicated that the quality evaluation should be focused on each study individually - details of this assessment are in Table 1 (Appendix C).

Summary effect measures were not reported but, where possible, effect measure odds ratios (OR) were worked out for each study where sufficient data were provided. As there was a small number of studies included in this review it was decided from a

clinical perspective and, indeed, from a research perspective that individual aspects of each study be explored and highlighted rather than summarised.

Results

Study Selection

A total number of ten studies that focused on the inclusion criteria of risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities were selected for this systematic review; details with respect to exclusion criteria are given in Figure 1 (Appendix A). All the studies included in this systematic review were found by searching online databases – no articles that met the inclusion criteria were found through a hand-search of journals. Of the ten studies selected for the review, four took place in the UK, two in the Netherlands and in the USA, and one each in Australia and France. Full details of all studies are in Table 1 (Appendix 3).

Study Characteristics – study design factors

As stated above, ten studies that reported findings on risk factors for overweight and obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities were selected for this study. None of these studies were randomised control trials as most were described as cross-sectional, prevalence, or observational studies – two of these studies (Mikulovic et al, 2013; Robertson et al, 2000) described using random sampling but neither of these included a description of the sampling process.

Characteristics and Results of Individual Studies

Results of individual studies are included in Table 1 (Appendix C) and are summarised as follows:

Study 1:

Objectives

In their study, Bhaumik, Watson, Thorp, Tyrer, and McGrother (2008) sought to identify risk factors for overweight and obesity within a sample of people with intellectual disabilities, investigate inequalities in weight status between people with intellectual disabilities and those in the general population, and offer suggestions as to how these inequalities might be addressed.

Method

Participants in this study, 1119 in all aged 20 or over, were taken from the Leicestershire Learning Disability Register. A requirement of the study was that participants had a health check within two years of the date 1 July 1998 and had engaged in a home interview (with carers present) within three years of the health check. For comparison purposes, data for the general population was taken from the Health Survey for England 1998 (Department of Health, 1998) and this comparison was restricted to those aged 25 and over in order to comply with national statistics data.

Bhaumik et al performed a cross-sectional analysis of the data from the register and compared it with that of the general population, and they ran logistic regression on demographic, physical, mental health issues, and behavioural skills within the ID population sample to identify risk factors for obesity and overweight.

Results

The Standard Morbidity Rate (SMR) for obesity was lower for males (0.80; 95% CI 0.64-1.00) but the SMR for females (1.48; 95% CI 1.23-1.77) was higher than found in the general population. Adults living independently or with family were three times as likely to be obese as those in residential care (OR 3.28; 95% CI 2.12-5.08). Obesity

for females was almost three times that of males (OR 0.36; 95% CI 0.25-0.53) within this population. Overall, obesity was associated with living independently or with family, ability to drink/eat unaided, being female, hypertension, Down syndrome, and the absence of cerebral palsy.

Conclusions

The authors concluded that obesity is independently associated with both female sex and Down syndrome. They also include many recommendations for addressing organisational, political, and attitudinal barriers that exist within health services and within the whole area of health care.

Study 2:

Objectives

The objectives of the study by de Winter, Bastiaanse, Hilgenkamp, Evenhuis, and Echteld (2012) were to investigate the prevalence of overweight, obesity, and body fat percentage in older adults with intellectual disabilities. They also sought to identify any association there may be between overweight and obesity and demographic factors, health behaviours, activities of daily living (ADL), and treatment factors.

Method

Researchers in this study used BMI, waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), and skin-fold thickness in a regression analysis to measure body fat in adults with intellectual disabilities and compared findings with data within the general Dutch older population. They also used regression analysis to investigate associations between overweight and obesity with participant and treatment characteristics (gender, age, level of intellectual disability, Down's syndrome, autism, independent living, smoking, (instrumental) activities of daily living [(I) ADL], physical activity and use of atypical antipsychotic medication). Nine hundred and forty five

individuals with borderline to profound intellectual disability aged 50 and over and living in a variety of settings (central settings, community settings, and independently) receiving care or support from three organisations recognised as careproviders in the Netherlands.

Results

Overweight and obesity were highly prevalent among adults with intellectual disabilities. BMI measures of obesity were higher (26%) than in the general population (10%). Measures of obesity by waist circumference and WHR were 46% and 48% respectively –no comparison data was available for the general population (see Table 1, Appendix C). According to de Winter et al, characteristics such as gender (being female), Down's syndrome, being older/of higher age, having a mild to moderate ID, autism, living independently, engaging in lower levels of physical activity, and use of atypical antipsychotics were associated with a greater risk for overweight and obesity.

Conclusions

The study authors state that their findings indicate a need for education in health behaviours in areas such as diet and exercise among people with intellectual disability, particularly those living independently. They also state that policy makers and clinicians need to be aware of the risks among this population so that they are best placed to address health care costs and quality of life issues.

Study 3:

Objectives

Gazizova, Puri, Singh, and Dhaliwal (2012) investigated the relationship between weight status and lipid levels of adults with intellectual disability and co-existing mental illness.

Method

They conducted a stepwise multiple regression analysis in order to allow for the investigation of semi-partial correlations in identifying predictor variables associated with BMI. Participants in this study were identified through the outpatient service in Hillingdon, England, and data collected were compared with that from the general population collected through the Health Survey of England (2008). Characteristics of data collected included BMI, age, gender, the presence of additional physical conditions, residential status, mental illness, and use of psychotropic medication. Analysis of lipid profiles included serum cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein, high-density lipoprotein (HDL), triglycerides and the serum cholesterol/HDL ratio.

Results

Findings indicated that 28% of patients were overweight and 41% obese. Of these, risk factors for obesity were associated with gender (being female), having mild intellectual disability, and high serum triglyceride levels – greater detail is contained in Table 1 (Appendix C). No statistical significant difference was found in either the mean serum cholesterol levels or the mean triglyceride levels between those taking and those not taking first-generation antipsychotics, second-generation antipsychotics, or anti-epileptic medication.

Conclusions

The authors state that their findings indicate higher rates of obesity within this population than was found in previous studies. They suggest that further studies include waist circumference and skin-fold thickness as well as BMI when measuring weight status. They also suggest that levels of physical activity, parental obesity, and socio-economic factors might be included in future studies.

Study 4:

Objectives

Maaskant, van Knijff-Raeven, van Schrojenstein Lantman-de Valk, and Veenstra (2009) studied the weight and weight status of individuals with intellectual disability (living in either institutional, residential, or community residential facilities) at two time points, namely 2002 and 2007, and to study differences in weight and weight status between these two time points. They also investigated the impact of various factors such as age, gender, level of intellectual disability, aetiology, and residential status/living conditions on weight and weight status within this timeframe.

Method

The authors measured BMI of 336 participants, clients of a Dutch service provider, and statistical analysis was performed using paired or unpaired *T-tests* where appropriate.

Results

Findings indicated a mean increase in BMI between 2002 and 2007 of 0.8 (2.2kg). In 2002 measures indicated that 36% of the study group was overweight/obese – however, this figure increased to 45% in 2007. Results from a linear regression indicated that none of the named characteristics – age, level of intellectual disability, gender, aetiology, living circumstances, or aetiology impacted on weight changes between 2002 and 2007. Findings from logistic regression analysis indicated that gender was a significant variable that impacted on weight change from normal to being overweight or obese – being female was shown to be a high risk factor for obesity and overweight (Appendix C).

Conclusions

The authors suggest that health promotion material be tailored to suit the abilities of people with intellectual disabilities. They state that in the main these materials are in written format and, therefore, are difficult for people with intellectual disability to understand. They also suggest that any health behaviour interventions should take into consideration contextual factors such as demographic factors, socio-economic factors, inter-personal factors as well as intra-personal factors.

Study 5:

Objectives

Mikulovic, Vanheist, Salleron, Marcellini, Compte, Fardy, and Bui-Xuan (2014), working on the initiative of the French Federation for Adapted Sports (FFSA), investigated the following factors in a sample of people with intellectual disability from French institutions; prevalence of overweight and obesity, health behaviours such as lifestyle, eating habits, physical activity, and perceptions of body image and health. Their second aim was to assess the relationship between metabolic disorders and potential predictive variables such as demographic factors.

Method

The authors collected data by using an adapted version of a questionnaire that had been developed for use with adolescents without intellectual disability, and then used with adolescents with intellectual disability. A total of 570 people (59% of whom were males) participated in this study, the majority of whom (57%) lived in institutions, 25% were half-boarders, and 18% lived within the community.

Results

Data were analysed through the use of descriptive statistics, and by running univariate and multivariate regressions. Findings indicated a mean BMI of 24.9 with 45.6%

overweight, 17.2% of whom where obese. According to the study, the greatest risk factor for obesity was gender (being female, P < 0.0001). Females (53.9%) were much more at risk of being overweight than males (39.9%) and obesity levels for females at 28.2% were significantly higher than those for males (9.5%). The authors made a point of noting that their findings on the relationship between weight status and living circumstances was in contrast to previous findings. They found that people living within institutions had higher levels of overweight and obesity (48.4%) than either half-boarders (41.2%) or those living independently within the community (34.0%). They also found that overweight adults with intellectual disability spent more time engaging in physical activities than the general population, a finding that the authors' state is not consistent with earlier reports. A significant association between weight status and obesity was also found within familial relationships (P = 0.045). They also found that 80% of participants were unhappy with body image and physical ability, apart from which they appeared to have a reasonably good opinion of themselves.

Conclusions

The authors recommend that an emphasis be placed on encouraging people to engage in physical activities and self-focused programmes that would help individuals work on those factors that are obstacles to healthy lifestyles.

Study 6:

Objectives

Moore, McGillivray, Illingworth, and Brookhouse (2004) aimed to investigate the weight distribution of adults with an intellectual disability in an Australian population sample by measuring BMI. Their second aim was to investigate weight distribution by sample split for gender, and then sample split for accommodation status. The third

aim of this study was to compare weight status classification for males between BMI and Kelly and Rimmer's (1987) Percentage of Body Fat (PBF) formula.

Method

Ninety-three participants, 51 females and 52 males, were recruited from four nongovernmental agencies. Data on respondents indicated that 8% lived independently, 44% lived with parents, 21% resided in community residential units supported by outreach services, and 27% lived within fully supported environments.

Results

Data findings indicated gender (being female) to be a major risk factor for overweight and obesity where 41.4% of females were classified as overweight (compared to 30.8% for males) and 36.6% of females as obese (compared to 30.8% for males). Data comparisons between the general pop and this sample indicated higher levels of overweight (41.4% to 28.8%) in females with intellectual disability and higher levels of obesity within this population also (36.6% to 18.2%). Figures for males indicated no significant difference (61.6% ID to 63.7% gen pop). There were no significant differences found between accommodation status and weight status by BMI. However, significant differences were found in weight status between BMI and PBF where, according to PBF, 73% of males were obese.

Conclusions

Authors suggest that longitudinal research is indicated to assess changes in weight status over time, allowing for changes in residential status; also they suggest that health behaviours such as physical activity and diet be included as predictive risk factors.

Study 7:

Objectives

Moran, Drane, McDermott, Dasari, Scurry, and Platt (2005) stated that they were interested in discovering whether or not significant differences exist in weight status between people with intellectual disability and the general population and also whether changes occur in obesity levels across time.

Method

Authors used a retrospective observational study of medical records of 1806 people to identify people with intellectual disability (680) and those without, ensuring prospective participants were age-matched. Data on demographic factors such as age, gender, race, plus other medical conditions were also extracted. The authors highlighted the following caution – living accommodation for people in the sample was more likely to be flexible (205) rather than restrictive (120). They also note that there were a high percentage (27.1%) of people with a dual diagnosis of intellectual disability and severe mental illness. A further observation by the authors was that there were a lower proportion of females with ID in the sample than males, indicating that this is reflective of standard data findings.

Results

Data findings indicated a BMI of >30 in 33.1% of people without intellectual disability in comparison with 21% people with intellectual disability among those in the age group 20 to 29. Among those aged 50 to 59, 40.5% of people without intellectual disability and 35.2% of people with ID had a BMI of >30. Females were at greater risk of being obese (P = 0.0001) than males and African Americans had greater obesity levels than whites (P = 0.0001) across the 20 to 60age span. No significant difference was found in prevalence rates of obesity between people with

mild intellectual disability and those in the general population (P = 0.083). They also found that 15% to 40% of people with and without intellectual disability moved in and out of obesity between 20 to 60 years of age.

Conclusions

The authors emphasise that rather than being a chronic condition, obesity is transitional and therefore open to health behaviour interventions and that physicians should emphasise the importance of this among their patients.

Study 8:

Objectives

Robertson, Emerson, Baines, and Hatton (2014) investigated rates of obesity and health behaviours among British adults self-identified as having an intellectual disability and those without. They also investigated whether there was a relationship between socio-economic factors and differences in weight status between these populations.

Method

Authors ran a secondary analysis of de-identified cross-sectional data from the first two waves of Understanding Society, a longitudinal study of life experience of UK citizens. Five hundred and twenty people, aged between 16 and 49, participated in this study. It is important to note that socioeconomic factors were measured using a selfassessed hardship scale and a self-assessed scale of financial status – there is no indication as to how questions were agreed or or how these scales were measured for validity or reliability.
Results

The authors found that rate of obesity, physical inactivity, tobacco use, and alcohol use and poor diet were higher in adults with self-reported intellectual disability than in the general population. They also found no significant difference between populations when data was adjusted for age or gender – however, when risk factors of material hardship and financial status were adjusted for there was a consequent reduced risk found for self-reported intellectual disability in obesity, tobacco use, nutrition, and physical activity but not in alcohol use.

Conclusions

Authors suggest that their findings indicate a necessity to treat people with intellectual disability as a 'vulnerable group' who are particularly vulnerable to socioeconomic deprivation and that health inequalities need to be addressed at a policy level.

Study 9:

Objectives

Robertson, Emerson, Gregory, Hatton, Turner, Kessissoglou, and Hallam (2000) investigated risk factors (obesity, poor diet, physical inactivity, tobacco use and alcohol abuse) for poor health among adults with intellectual disability. They also investigated the prevalence of these factors among this population plus the variables that predict these factors.

Method

The authors used a cross-sectional analysis of data collected on 500 adults. The study population consisted of 3 samples of 30 adults randomly selected from 3 village communities, 5 samples of adults randomly selected from five residential campuses, and 10 samples of adults randomly selected from people living independently but

supported in dispersed housing schemes (no information was given in the study as to how samples were randomly selected).

Results

Authors reported that levels of physical inactivity and poor diet were higher in the sample than in the general population and, also, that levels of obesity among females within the sample were higher than in the general population. Risk factors for poor health were identified; poor diet, tobacco use, obesity, those who lived in less restricted environments and those with greater ability. Risk factors for obesity among those with less ability and more restrictive settings included physical inactivity. The authors made a point of stating that physical inactivity was the single most important risk factor for obesity among people with intellectual disability with 84% of males and 88% of females classified as physically inactive.

Conclusions

Robertson et al conclude by stating a recommendation that the single most effective way of improving health among people with intellectual disability is to introduce moderate levels of physical activity.

Study 10:

Objectives

Sohler, Lubetkin, Levy, Soghomonian, and Rimmerman (2009) describe the aim of this study as an investigation of obesity-related needs of adults with intellectual disability so as to inform practitioners who support them in primary health care settings.

Method

Sohler et al reported findings from data collected from a community-based speciality medical practice for people with intellectual disability in New York. Risk factors identified were sociodemographic and clinical risk factors relating to hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, and diabetes mellitus among an ethically diverse population – 291 people participated of whom 55.3% were aged under 30 and 72.5% were Black or Hispanic. Adults were included if they had a diagnosis of intellectual disability, lived either in the community with family/relatives or independently, received all their health care within the practice, and had attended the practice for one visit at least during the study.

Results

Findings indicated that of the total number of people; 126 were obese (43%), 58 (19.9%) had hypertension, 77 (26.5%) had hypercholesterolemia, and 13 (4.5%) had diabetes mellitus. They report that age, gender (being female), and BMI were the most consistent risk factors for poor health.

Conclusions

Authors suggest that practitioners need to use innovative strategies with a team focus on health care. They suggest that strategies should include modest changes in diet and physical activity for people and their families. Because of the focus of the article, the authors emphasise the role of social workers in the team process and give advice as to appropriate case management strategies.

Discussion

Summary of Evidence

One of the main findings from these studies indicates that gender (being female) is a high risk factor for obesity and poor health among people with intellectual disabilities (Bhaumik et al., 2008; de Winter et al., 2012; Gazizova et al., 2012; Maaskant et al., 2009; Mikulovic et al., 2014; Moore et al., 2004; Moran et al., 2005; Robertson et al., 2000; Sohler et al., 2009). The only study that did not find any association between gender and obesity was Robertson et al (2014) where no significant difference was reported for gender or age.

Four studies also indicated an association between levels of intellectual disability and obesity where those with mild intellectual disability were more likely to be obese than those with either moderate or severe (Bhaumik et al., 2008; de Winter et al., 2012; Gazizova et al., 2012; Robertson et al., 2000). Conversely, Mikulovic et al (2014) found that those who were more able to live independently had lower levels of obesity than those with more severe disabilities living in supported institutional care. Moran et al (2005) found no significant difference in prevalence of obesity between people with mild intellectual disability and the general population while Maaskant et al (2009) found that level of intellectual disability did not impact on weight status in their longitudinal observational study.

Living independently or with family members rather than living within more restrictive accommodation was found to be a risk factor in some of these studies (Bhaumik et al., 2008; de Winter et al., 2012; Robertson et al., 2000). However, Moore et al (2004) and Maaskant et al (2009) reported no significant difference between accommodation status and weight status while Mikulovic et al (2014) found that people living within more restrictive accommodation had higher levels of obesity than those who were either half-boarders or living independently. However, they did make the point that a risk factor for obesity within this population was having a parent who was physically inactive, a factor that might indicate a connection between obesity levels and those living within family situations in other contexts.

Having a diagnosis of Down's syndrome was another risk factor for obesity identified by Bhaumik et al (2008) and Robertson et al (2000).

147

Physical inactivity as a risk factor for obesity was highlighted in several of these studies (de Winter et al., 2012; Robertson et al., 2014; Robertson et al., 2000). However, again conversely Mikulovic et al (2014) found higher levels of physical activity among overweight adults with intellectual disability than in the general population. In their study, Gazizova et al (2012) and Sohler et al (2009) recommended that level of physical activity be included in future studies in order to address risk factors for obesity at a behavioural level.

Many of the studies make recommendations for future clinical practice and research. The majority emphasise the importance of matching interventions for behavioural change with the ability of people with ID (Bhaumik et al., 2008; de Winter et al., 2012; Maaskant et al., 2009; Mikulovic et al., 2014; Robertson et al., 2000; Sohler et al., 2009). Many of these studies make recommendations for changing health care practice, attitudes, and policies (Bhaumik et al., 2008; Maaskant et al., 2009; Robertson et al., 2014; Sohler et al., 2009) while others suggest that demographic factors, inter-personal factors, intra-personal factors, and socio-economic factors be included as predictive risk factors (de Winter et al., 2012; Gazizova et al., 2012; Maaskant et al., 2009; Moore et al., 2004).

Gazizova et al also make a very specific recommendation for future research when they recommend that measures other than BMI, such as waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio, be used when assessing body fat in people with disabilities in order to gain a comprehensive analysis. Moore et al (2004) make the point in their study that BMI does not reflect body fat percentage and that "body composition of persons who have an intellectual disability is different. Certainly they appear to have more abdominal fat than the general population" (p. 316). However, this statement is made without any reference to supporting evidence and, therefore, must be viewed with caution.

Moore et al (2004) recommend that longitudinal research be encouraged in order to assess weight status over time. Moran et al (2005) also describe obesity as a transitional condition rather than a chronic condition and recommend that clinicians emphasise this to their patients as a way of encouraging behavioural change.

Limitations

Outcome level

The purpose of this review was to gain an understanding of the biopsychosocial factors that impact on levels of obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities. The preceding summary of evidence indicates that the main risk factor for obesity among people with intellectual disabilities is gender, namely being female. The lack of agreement among studies around all risk factors indicates the different approaches and objectives within these studies and supports the decision taken in the review to deal with each study separately.

Study & Review level

This study has many limitations that are in part due to the variation in the quality of the studies including inconsistencies in methodological quality and statistical analyses reported. The lack of homogeneity among studies, perhaps, is a reflection of the ethical and logistical difficulties associated with gaining access to vulnerable populations. However, there was also a difference in methodological quality among studies with many studies lacking clarity on issues such as:

- Informed consent;
- Ethical approval;
- Over/under-representation in samples e.g., ethnicity;

- Lack of clarity on randomisation protocol;
- Validity and reliability of measures used;
- Definition/description of level of intellectual disability;
- Protection of anonymity.

Issues also arose with regard to the interpretation of results/statistical analysis, such as; missing P values, missing SD values, effect sizes not quoted, and inconsistencies between statistical analyses quoted in text and tables – see Table 1 (Appendix C).

Other limitations of this review include the following; difficulties experienced in making contact with authors to gain clarity on both methods used and clarity on interpretation of statistical analyses; the fact that only English language articles were extracted meant that reviewers needed to be cognisant of the fact that these studies represent specific populations with a need to be cautious in extrapolating outcomes; reviewers were unable to locate qualitative articles that would, perhaps, have given depth to outcomes – it is noted that in some studies (Mikulovic et al., 2014; Moran et al., 2005; Robertson et al., 2014) researchers used an interview format as part of the methodological process, but none included qualitative information on personal experience from participants.

Conclusion

The most common risk factor for high levels of obesity found in these studies was gender, a finding that is supported by Public Health England (2013). However, some of the researchers pointed out that while gender is a significant risk factor for obesity there is also a need on the part of researchers and clinicians to be aware of social, economic, biological, and inter-personal factors as contexts for obesity (Maaskant et al., 2009; Robertson et al., 2014)

An interesting point to note for clinicians involved in health care, for those responsible for health promotion programmes and for policy-makers is the importance of understanding the distinction between 'sex' and 'gender'. WHO defines sex as follows; sex "refers to the biological and physiological characteristics that define men and women", while gender they state, "refers to the socially constructed roles, behaviours, activities, and attributes that a given society considers appropriate for men and women" (Kanter & Caballero, 2012). It is known that extremes in body weight are associated with sex hormones and hypothalamic function (Geliebter et al., 2013; Kennedy et al., 1997) and research in this area indicates that obese women experience greater affective neural responses associated with craving than obese men, which might be a contributing factor for higher levels of obesity among women (Geliebter, et al, 2013).

Studies of sociocultural factors and obesity have indicated that gender-based food preferences exist and that in many Western cultures men are more likely to consume protein-rich foods such as meat and drink a lot of alcohol, while women exhibit a preference for energy-dense foods such as biscuit bars or chocolate (Geliebter et al., 2013). Also, research indicates that women in Western cultures are more likely to consume greater amounts of dairy foods while expressing a preference for 'healthy' foods (Power et al., 2008; Mittendorfer et al., 2009; Kanter & Caballero, 2012; Geliebter et al., 2013; Krahn & Fox, 2013).

Recommendations for research in this area, particularly with respect to the experience of women with intellectual disabilities, might include a refinement of quantitative and qualitative research methods to better assess the impact of sociocultural gender-specific factors that may contribute to the high levels of obesity among women in this population. It would also be very relevant for research

practitioners to acknowledge the biological differences that exist between the sexes and how these differences impact on day to day functioning of women with intellectual disabilities – for example, there is very little research or information on the impact of the menopause on this population (Chou et al., 2013), Research indicates that the transition into menopause effects fat distribution in the body and therefore may exacerbate the effects of obesity on health (Kanter & Caballero, 2012).

Recommendations for clinical practice might include programmes or strategies that are informed by the fact that the causes of obesity are both biological and social and vary by sex and gender – for example, research indicates that sex differences exist in how adipose tissue is stored and metabolised (Power et al., 2008). Practitioners would also need to be aware of the impact of social and cultural factors in gender roles. Perhaps health strategies that are based on the differences between sexes might be more effective than those that focus on a general population of obese adults with intellectual disabilities. It would be important that these programmes be sensitive to existing inequalities for people with intellectual disabilities and not exacerbate these disparities.

References

Bhaumik, S., Watson, J.M., Thorp, C.F., Tyrer, F., & McGrother, C.W. (2008). Body mass index in adults with intellectual disability: distribution, associations and service implications: a population-based prevalence study. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 287-298.

Chou, Y.C., Lu, Z.Y., & Pu, C.Y. (2013). Menopause experiences and attitudes in women with intellectual disability and in their family carers. *Journal of Developmental Disability*. 114-123.

De Winter, C.F., Bastiaanse, L.P., Hilgenkamp, T.I.M., Evenhuis, H.M., & Echteld, M.A. (2012). Overweight and obesity in older people with intellectual disability. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. 398-405.

Gazizova, D., Puri, B.K., Singh, I., & Dhaliwal, R. (2012). The overweight: obesity and plasma lipids in adults with intellectual disability and mental illness. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*. 895-901.

Geliebter, A., Pantazatos, S.P., McOuatt, H., Puma, L., Gibson, C.D., & Atalayer, D. (2013). Sex-based fMRI differences in obese humans in response to high vs. low energy food cues. *Behavioural Brain Research*. 91-96.

Kanter, R., Caballero., B. (2012). Global gender disparities in obesity: a review. *Advances in nutrition*. 491-498.

Kennedy, A., Gettys, T.W., Watson, P., Wallace, P., Ganaway, E., Pan, Q., & Garvey, W.T. (1997). The metabolic significance of leptin in humans: gender-based differences in relationship to adiposity, insulin sensitivity, and energy expenditure. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism.* 1293-1300.

Krahn, G.L., & Fox, M.H. (2013). Health disparities of adults with intellectual disabilities: what do we know? What do we do? *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*. 431-446.

Luppino, F.S., de Wit, L., M.S., Bouvy, P.F., Stijnen, T., Cuijpers, P., Penninx, B.W.J.H., Zitman, F.G. (2010). Overweight, obesity and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Archives of General Psychiatry*. 220-229.

Maaskant, M.A., van Knijff-Raeven, A.G.M., van Schrojenstein Lantman-de Valk, H.M.J., & Veenstra, M.Y. (2009). Weight status of persons with intellectual disabilities. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*. 426-432.

Mikulovic, J., Vanheist, J., Salleron, J., Marcellini, A., Compte, R., Fardy, P.S., & Bui-Xuan, G. (2014). Overweight in intellectually-disabled population: physical, behavioural and psychological characteristics. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. 153-161.

Mittendorfer, B., Magkos, F., Fabbrini, E., Mohammed, B.S., Klein, S. (2009). Relationship between body fat mass and free fatty acid kinetics in men and women. *Obesity*. 1872-1877.

Moore, K.A., McGillivray, J., Illingworth, K., & Brookhouse, P. (2004). An investigation into the incidence of obesity and underweight among adults with an intellectual disability in an Australian sample. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*. 306-318,

Moran, R., Drane, W., McDermott, S., Dasari, S., Scurry, J.B., & Platt, T. (2005). Obesity among people with and without mental retardation across adulthood. *Obesity Research*. 342-349.

Power, M.L, & Schulkin, J. (2008). Sex differences in fat storage, fat metabolism, the health risks from obesity; possible evolutionary origins. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 931-940.

Public Health England. (2013). *Obesity and disability. Adults.* <u>http://www.gov.uk/phe</u> Robertson, J., Emerson, E., Baines, S., & Hatton, C. (2014). Obesity and health behaviours of British adults with self-*reported* intellectual impairments: cross sectional survey. *BMC Public Health*. <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-</u> 2458/14/219

Robertson, J., Emerson, E., Gregory, N., Hatton, Cl, turner, S., Kessissoglou, S., & Hallam, A. (2000). Lifestyle related risk factors for poor health in residential settings for people with intellectual disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. 469-486.

Slevin, E., & Northway, R. (2014). Obesity. In Taggart, L., & Cousins, W. (Eds.). *Health Promotion: for People with Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities.* (pp. 55-68). Berkshire: Open University Press.

Sohler, N., Lubetkin, E., Levy, J., Soghomonian, C., & Rimmerman, A. (2009). Factors associated with obesity and coronary heart disease in people with intellectual disabilities. *Social Work in Health Care.* 76-89.

WHO (2015) Definition of sex and gender.

Definition of Intellectual Disability.www.euro.who.int/en/health.../definition-intellectual-disability





Appendix B - Data Extraction Form

Notes:

- Be consistent in the order and style you use to describe the information for each report.
- Record any missing information as unclear or not described, to make it clear that the information was not found in the study report(s), not that you forgot to extract it.

Review title	Risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities: a systematic review of the evidence.
Study ID (surname of first author and year first full report of study was published e.g. Smith 2001)	
Notes	

General Information

Date form completed	
(dd/mm/yyyy)	
Name/ID of person	
extracting data	
Reference citation (e.g.	
Medline)	
Study author contact	
details	
Publication type	
(e.g. full report, abstract,	
letter)	
Notes:	

Study eligibility

Study	Eligibility criteria	Eligib	oility c	riteria	Location in text
Characteristic		meta			of source (pg α
S				Unclea	¶/fig/table)
		Yes	No	r	
Type of study	Experimental study including randomized controlled trials (RCTs)				

				-	
	or cluster-randomized trials (CRTs).				
	Quasi-experimental studies including quasi-randomized trials, controlled before-after studies (CBAs) and interrupted time series studies (ITSs).				
	Observational studies including cohort, case-control and cross- sectional studies.				
Participants and setting	Adults aged 18 or over with a diagnosis/classification of intellectual disability.				
Types of intervention	Quantitative/Qualitative analysis of risk factors for obesity in adults with intellectual disabilities.				
Types of determinants	Determinants of concern are: 1) Biological factors; developmental				
	factors associated with genetic inheritance or acquired through environmental factors such as prenatal environment.				
	2) Psychological factors –				
	intrapersonal or interpersonal.				
	3) Social/environmental factors;				
INCLUDE	EXCLU	DE]		
Reason for exclusion					
Notes:					

DO NOT PROCEED IF STUDY EXCLUDED FROM REVIEW

Characteristics of included studies

Methods

	Descriptions as stated in report/paper	Location in text or source (pg & ¶/fig/table)
Aim of study		
Design		
Unit of		
observation		
(individual or		
groups)		
Start date		
End date		
Duration of		
participation		
(from recruitment		
to last follow-up)		
Ethical approval		
needed/ obtained	Yes No	
for study	Unclear	
Notes:		

Participants

	Description	Location in text or source (pg & ¶/fig/table)
Population		
description		
(from which study		
participants are		
drawn)		
Setting and context		
Inclusion criteria		
Exclusion criteria		

Method of					
recruitment of					
participants (e.g.					
phone, mail, clinic					
patients)					
Informed consent					
obtained	Yes No	Uncle	ar		
Total no. of subjects					
Clusters					
(if applicable, no.,					
type, no. people per					
cluster)					
Baseline imbalances					
(if applicable)					
Withdrawals and					
exclusions					
Results					
nesuns					
Statistical methods					
used and					
appropriateness of					
these methods.					
these methods.					
Number of missing					
participants and					
reasons.					
Results	Mean	SD	No of participants	Effect	
					_
Effect size – e.g. OR	Adjusted f	rom stats	quoted		
					_
					<u> </u>
Number of missing					
participants and					
reasons.					
					<u> </u>
Authors' reported					
limitations of study's					
methods/results					
	1				

Scientific quality assessment (specify tool, e.g. modified EPHPP tool)	
Notes:	

Other information

Appendix B – Ethical approval from RehabGroup





Investing in People, Changing Perspectives

Ailish O'Brien National Learning Network Regent House William Street Kilkenny

7th September 2015

Dear Ailish,

I note that you have submitted a formal proposal to National Learning Network to conduct research.

I am pleased to inform you that you have been granted ethical approval to proceed.

I stress that at all times, Rehab Group's policies and procedures must be adhered to, and draw particular attention to two policies and procedures, *Research*, (COR-OPS 002), and *Data Protection*, given the nature of the research to be undertaken and any subsequent revisions to these which are implemented during the project. Details in relation to confidentiality will be provided separately.

The following specific conditions also apply to your research:

- The research must proceed as outlined in the proposal and any changes to this must be agreed in advance in writing with the designated Rehab contact person, Ursula Collins and me.
- The research schedule must be agreed with National Learning Network through Ursula Collins.
- All individual data will be kept by you, the researcher, at a secure location, outside the service. The data should be stored in an encrypted file format (Office 2007/2010/2013 or PDF) and password protected with a minimum of ten characters alphanumeric. The password should not be stored with the document.
 - In addition, the folder and /or any drive that the data is stored on (primary storage e.g. laptop, USB keys and backups) should be encrypted to AES256 or similar standards. To encrypt the data, please use BitLocker or equivalent built-in encryption technology provided by your Operating System.
 - You must ensure that you are using a supported Operating System e.g. Windows Vista or later. Please note that Windows XP is no longer supported.
 - Online storage of data using services such as DropBox must encrypt the data to a minimum of 256-bit AES encryption and should have two-step verification features available and enabled.

Rehab Group | Sandymount Roslyn Park, Beach Road, Sandymount, Dublin 4, Ireland.

> T +353 1 205 7200 F +353 1 205 7211 W www.rehab.ie

The Rehab Group

The kenad usuap Directors S Spain (Chairman), B Nevin (Vice-Chairman), J Brereton, N Hyland, A Kelly, K Marshall, Al Martin, S McHugh, K O'Higgins, F Ross, P Salinon (English), J Smith, D Tallon, D Went, M Wilhams, S Whigley-Howe (English) Registered Office Roslyn Park, Sandyracount, Dublin 4. Company limited by guarantice, Registered in Dublin, Ireland No. 14800 Rohab Group is a NGO in special consultative status with the Konomic and Social Council (ECOSOC) of the United Mations,

- 4. Transmission of data must also be performed in a secure manner. Data should only be sent as an attachment i.e. not in the body of the email. The attachment should be in one of the secure file formats mentioned above. The password for the attachments must not be transmitted by email. Instead, you should call or text the recipient with the password. The email account used to send the data should allow for secure (https) login e.g. Gmail. It is recommended that the password used to secure the email account is strong (minimum 12 characters alphanumeric) and changed periodically. Two-step verification features (if available) should be enabled.
- 5. You will be required to provide brief updates to the Rehab Group Lead Director on Research policy on a three monthly basis, to inform internal reports on research activities.
- 6. The raw data gathered by you will be kept by you until the final research has been submitted to the University of the West of England in Bristol and National Learning Network. All raw data, taped and transcribed (including all onsite and offsite backups), will be destroyed no later than one year after the report has been completed and you will write to Rehab Group to confirm that this has been done.
- 7. Any resulting reports will be provided to National Learning Network. A copy of any research reports will be made available to the host organisation, National Learning Network. The researcher may be requested to present the report in the host centre and to any other forum within the wider organisation to which it may be of interest and to provide a synopsis of the report for information and use within the organisation.
- 8. In the event of approval for publication of the research by Rehab, the researcher will continue to adhere to the Rehab Group's policies and procedures and any revisions of same, with particular reference to the *Procedure on Dissemination and/or Publication of Research*, which refers to research commissioned by or conducted by Rehab and which would, for the purpose of any publication of this research, be considered to apply in full. This includes the requirement for sign off of the final document which will be given by Ursula Collins and final sign-off of the design and branding of the publication which will be given by Rehab's Communications and Public Affairs Team.

I would ask that you sign below to indicate your acceptance to these conditions, and return this letter to me at Rehab Group, Roslyn Park, Beach Road, Sandymount, Dublin 4.

Wishing you every success in your research,

Olivalia Ol

Cliodhna O'Neill Director of Public Affairs and Communications Rehab Group

I, ______ have read and understood the terms outlined to me in the letter of 7th September 2015 regarding the conditions under which I may undertake my academic research within National Learning Network. I undertake to conduct my research in accordance with these terms.

Signed

Dated

Appendix C – Ethical approval from UWE

RE: FRDC Outcome - Ailish O'Brien RD1 - Ailish O Brien

18/12/2017, 14:35

RE: FRDC Outcome - Ailish O'Brien RD1

Leigh Taylor <Leigh.Taylor@uwe.ac.uk> on behalf of Research Ethics <researchethics@uwe.ac.uk>

Fri 05/02/2016 14:40

Research Project

To:Ailish O Brien <Ailish2.Obrien@live.uwe.ac.uk>;

CcJulian Bath (Staff - SOLS) <Julian.Bath@uwe.ac.uk>; Rachel Gillibrand (Staff - SOLS) <Rachel.Gillibrand@uwe.ac.uk>; mary.hughes@nln.ie <Mary.Hughes@nln.ie>;

Hi Ailish

UWE REC REF No: HAS.15.12.059 Application title: The use of mhealth technologies by women classified with mild Intellectual Disabilities who self-rate on the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (PFRS) with regard to body image and obesity: An exploratory study

Thank you for your response to the conditional approval. I can now confirm that you have full ethical approval.

https://outlook.office.com/owa/?viewmodel=ReadMessageItem&Ite...hsOf2EvOAAOCPY3ZAAA%3D&IsPrintView=1&wid=31&ispopout=1&path=

Kind regards

Leigh

Leigh Taylor (Mrs) Team Leader (Committee Services) Research Administration Research, Business & Innovation University of the West of England, Bristol

Leigh.Taylor@uwe.ac.uk Tel: 0117 328 1170

http://rbi.uwe.ac.uk/resadmin.asp

From: Ailish O Brien [mailto:Ailish2.Obrien@live.uwe.ac.uk]
Sent: 30 January 2016 09:53
To: Research Ethics
Cc: Julian Bath; Rachel Gillibrand; mary.hughes@nln.ie
Subject: Re: FRDC Outcome - Ailish O'Brien RD1

Hi Leigh

I attach amended ethics application form as requested.

Page 1 of 8

Appendix D – Semi-structured interview for students



Semi-structured interview -

- 1. Do you have a computer/smartphone/tablet?
- 2. There are sites and apps on the Internet that give advice on diet and exercise. Have you ever looked at any of these sites and if so can you tell me what you found?
- 3. What was most useful about these sites?
- 4. What was least useful?
- 5. Have you downloaded any health apps and if so, why?
- 6. Where did you hear about these apps?
- 7. What did you find useful about these apps?
- 8. What was least useful about these apps?
- 9. Do you use any of these apps for information on diet and exercise?
- 10. Are these apps user-friendly in other words, can/do you use them on a regular basis and if so how regularly?
- 11. As part of your healthy lifestyle classes do you use your phone for, say, everyday reminders and information such as:
 - a. A diary for class times or for new recipes?
 - b. As a way of keeping tabs on what you eat or drink or when you need to exercise?
- 12. Would you use your phone as a way of keeping a photo diary of meals you eat such as breakfast, lunch, snacks, and/or dinner? How would you do this?
- 13. Can you give me other examples of how you might use your phone as part of a healthy lifestyle?

Appendix E – Photographic Figure Rating Scale



Images used in the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (Swami, Salem, Furnahm & Tovee, 2008) arranged in ascending order of body mass index. (Permission received from author)

Appendix F – Information sheet and certificate of consent for student interviews

Informed Consent



Principle Researcher	Ailish O'Brien
Director of Studies	Julian Bath
2 nd Supervisor	Dr Rachel Gillibrand
Supervisor at National Learning Network	Mary Hughes

The use of mhealth technologies by women with mild Intellectual Disabilities who self-rate on the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (PFRS), with regard to body image and obesity: An exploratory study.

This Informed Consent Form has two parts:

- Information Sheet (to share information about the study with you)
- Certificate of Consent (for signatures if you choose to participate)

You will be given a copy of the full Informed Consent Form

Part I: Information Sheet

Introduction

My name is Ailish O'Brien – I am your regional psychologist and you know me from our meetings in the centre. I am exploring the use by female students of mhealth technology such as mobile phones, social media, and health apps, particularly in the area of healthy lifestyle. This is part of a research project I am working on as part of my studies in the University of the West of England, Bristol. I am going to give you information and invite you to be part of this research project. You do not have to decide today whether or not you will take part in the research. Before you decide, you might want to talk to someone you are comfortable with.

This consent form may contain words that you do not understand. Please ask me to stop as we go through the information and I will take time to explain. If you have questions later, you can ask me.

Purpose of the research

The purpose of this research is to discover whether you have found mhealth technologies such as mobile phones, health apps, and social media sites useful for ideas about diet, exercise and being healthy.

Type of Research Intervention

This research involves you taking part in a semi-structured interview. This means I will ask you some questions about your experience of using mhealth technologies. I will also ask you to pick a figure of a woman's body that you think looks like your body shape from a row of pictures of women's body shapes. I am asking you to do this so that we can get an idea of how you see yourself – the right answer is the one you choose! Also, I will take a copy of our interviews on a recording device.

Participant Selection

You are being invited to take part because you are part of the Options group in this centre. You may be interested in giving your opinion on using mhealth technology.

Voluntary Participation

Your taking part in this research is entirely voluntary which means that you choose whether to take part or not. If you choose not to take part all the services you receive at this Centre will continue and nothing will change. You may change your mind about giving your consent during the first part of the study when your story is being recorded. I will check in with you to make sure that you are happy with your story being included in the study. However, once the study is completed you will not be able to withdraw your story.

Procedures

You will take part in an interview with me. In this interview you will choose the picture that you think is most like yours from the row of pictures of women's figures. While you are choosing your picture and when you are taking part in the interview we will sit in a comfortable place at the centre. If you prefer, we can do both in your home or a friend's home. If you do not wish to either choose a picture or to answer one or any of the questions during the interview, say so and I will stop. No one else but I will be present unless you would like someone else to be there. The information recorded is confidential. This means that only you, I and one other person who is Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will know what you say. The entire interview will be electronically recorded so that I will be able to write exactly what you say. No one will be able to know the name of anyone on the recording because I will not say your name or write your name down. The recording will be kept in a fire proof locked cabinet in my office. The recording will be wiped clean once the study has been completed.

If you find any of the matters we discuss upsetting let me know either during the interview or later. If you need support we can then decide who is best placed to support you. If you do not want to speak with any people in your support team either in the centre or your supports outside the centre you can speak with Mary Hughes who is the Senior Psychologist in National Learning Network. Mary knows what this study is about and her contact details are below.

Duration

The research takes place over 18 (say eighteen) months in total. During that time I will meet you once and each interview will last for about one hour.

Confidentiality

As already mentioned above, I will make sure that your name and details will be anonymous (your name will not be used and your details will known by a number only) so that no one can know you from any information you share.

Sharing the Results

Nothing that you tell us will be shared with anybody outside the research team. This study may be published but this will not affect your right to confidentiality because your name will not be written down anywhere.

Right to Refuse or Withdraw

You do not have to take part in this research if you do not wish to do so. If you choose not to take part this will not affect your place in the centre. You may stop taking part in the interview any time that you wish. I will give you an opportunity at the end of the interview to listen to what you have said and have a look at notes I have taken. This will give us a chance to make sure that the recording is correct. You can also ask me to change parts of what I have written in case I did not understand you correctly.

Who to Contact

If you have any questions or concerns about the study you can ask them now or later. If you wish to ask questions later contact either Mary or me at the following numbers:

Ailish O'Brien	086 6072963	ailish.obrien@nln.ie
Mary Hughes	087 2412301	mary.hughes@nln.ie



Part II: Certificate of Consent

I have read the information sheet, or it has been read to me. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about it and any questions I have asked have been answered to my satisfaction. I consent voluntarily to take part in this study

Print Name of Participant

Signature of Participant

Date _____

Day/month/year

I have witnessed the accurate reading of the consent form to the potential participant, and the individual has had the opportunity to ask questions. I confirm that the individual has given consent freely.

Print name of witness _____

Signature of witness _____

Date ___

Day/month/year

I confirm that the participant was given an opportunity to ask questions about the study, and all the questions asked by the participant have been answered correctly and to the best of my ability. I confirm that the individual has not been coerced into giving consent, and the consent has been given freely and voluntarily.

A copy of this ICF has been provided to the participant.

Print Name of Researcher/person taking the

consent_____

Signature of Researcher /person taking the consent

_____Date _____

Appendix G – Sample of Student Interviews

$\frac{160422 - C - A}{A}$	Ver Level le chine et the Comme conheite Level coite commised
A:	that the diet plans are very good, and that the exercise plans are very good. They seem to be, to be very worthwhile seeing it on the Internet.
Interviewer:	Great, great! And, am, that's the only one that you have looked at? Was there anything else?
A:	Ahh (.) Slimming World, the recipes (.)
Interviewer:	So there are pretty good recipes on Slimming World?
A:	Yeah!
Interviewer:	What was most useful about these sites?
A:	What was most useful about these sites, ah, you can get recipes that are not sweet, they aren't sweet or sour, or anything like that, they are very good for you, in fact they are quite tasty!
Interviewer:	And have you tried some of those recipes?
A:	I have tried a few (.) in the centre here, mostly, yeah!
Interviewer:	So what was least useful about those sites, do you think?
A:	Am (.) I couldn't really think, to be honest,
Interviewer:	((overlapping)) they were pretty straight forward to get through and
A:	((overlapping)) they were, yeah.
Interviewer:	Have you downloaded any health apps, and if so why?
A:	Yes, the S Health app, I have downloaded that on my phone, I have downloaded it because I wanted to see how many steps I am getting in a day, how many walking steps I am getting in a day (.) how much water I am drinking, my water intake in a day, very important to me as well as the walking.
Interviewer:	Where did you hear about these apps?
A:	Where did I hear about these apps (.) I heard about these apps, I suppose, through friends, through friends of friends, that kind of thing!

<u> 160425 – W - A</u>

- Interviewer: Would you (.), what would you think would be the downside of having an app like that?
- A: Ah (.) you could forget sometimes (.),

Interviewer: Mm

A: when you are someone who doesn't remember all of the time, to put the information in, but it also (.), the downside is that someone is trying to, let's say 'hack' your comp, your phone,

Interviewer: Mm

- A: and they will hack all the apps and get all your information,
- Interviewer: Mm
- A: from your phone, from all the applications, so that is (.) kind of like a downside,
- Interviewer: Mm. So (pause) what you are saying is, the downside was, first of all to remember to put in the calories of the food,
- A: Yeah
- Interviewer: and the second was if someone hacked in to it, or if someone got your personal information (pause), right. Would you think that your smartphone could be used (.) as a way of (.) working out a healthy lifestyle, you know?
- A: ((intake of breath)) In a way, ah, I'm kind of split in the middle (.) as a help, and it is easier to have the smartphone to use it, as it can be less stress free,

Interviewer: Ah huh

A: also, we are not using our brains as a way, ah, to work, and it's just, we are not used to working our brains as we have them to do it for us.

Interviewer: Ok

A: I'm kind of fifty, fifty (.), it's just that they have something that is quick and easy and it is also, where it is like, we are also supposed to process, how we are supposed to work our brains properly if we have smartphones?

Appendix H – Amendment to Focus Groups



Amendment to Existing Research Ethics Approval

Please complete this form if you wish to make an alteration or amendment to a study that has already been scrutinised and approved by the Faculty Research Ethics Committee and forward it electronically to the Officer of FREC (researchethics@uwe.ac.uk)

UWE research ethics	HAS.15.12.059
reference number:	
Title of project:	Application title: The use of mhealth technologies by women classified with mild Intellectual Disabilities who self-rate on the Photographic Figure Rating Scale (PFRS) with regard to body image and obesity: An exploratory study
Date of original approval:	29 January 2016
Researcher:	Ailish O'Brien
Supervisor (if applicable)	Julian Bath

1. Proposed amendment: Please outline the proposed amendment to the existing approved proposal.

1a. I propose changing the title to: **An exploration of the role of mhealth (mobile technologies) in facilitating a healthy lifestyle among women with a mild intellectual disability.**

1b. I also propose changing the method of data collection from semi-structured interviews to focus groups.

2. Reason for amendment. Please state the reason for the proposed amendment.

1a. In light of recommendations I received in the Progression Viva I have changed the title to reflect amendments suggested in creating a clearer and more focused project.

1b. In order to collect relevant data for this project it is proposed to use focus
groups that will be recorded for thematic analysis. In my original application for ethical approval I stated that I would use semi-structured interview format but initial interviews that I ran indicate that this format will not provide sufficient material for my study. I consulted with students and asked for their advice as to the best method of engaging them in the project. They stated that they would be comfortable in discussing issues relating to health and mtechnology as part of a group and that they would like a tutor to be a co facilitator so that they would have two people to help them if any difficult issues arose. On their advice I intend running co-facilitated focus groups, two sessions with each group; the first session will focus on their use of mtechnology and the second on health issues that matter to them.

I have attached copies of relevant information sheets/consent forms plus copies of topics for discussion.

3. Ethical issues. Please outline any ethical issues that arise from the amendment that have not already addressed in the original ethical approval. Please also state how these will be addressed.

Ethical issues may relate to individuals sharing personal information within the group. The meetings being facilitated by two people will address this issue where one person will support an individual experiencing difficulties while the other will provide support for the group. Also, the already mentioned supports both within National Learning Network (NLN) and external to (NLN) will be in place.

To be completed by supervisor/ Lead researcher:

Signature:

	•
Julist	Obur

Date:

14 June 2016

To be completed by Research Ethics Chair:

Send out for review:	Ves Ves
	x No
Comments:	Since the revised documentation has been submitted
	as part of the amendment then this change raises no
	further ethical issues
Outcome:	x Approve

Approve subject to conditions

🗌 🗌 Refer to Research Ethics Committee

Date approved:

Signature:

21.06.2016

Dr Julie Woodley (via e-mail)

Guidance on notifying UREC/FREC of an amendment.

Your study was approved based on the information provided at the time of application. If the study design changes significantly, for example a new population is to be recruited, a different method of recruitment is planned, new or different methods of data collection are planned then you need to inform the REC and explain what the ethical implications might be. Significant changes in participant information sheets, consent forms should be notified to the REC for review with an explanation of the need for changes. Any other significant changes to the protocol with ethical implications should be submitted as substantial amendments to the original application. If you are unsure about whether or not notification of an amendment is necessary please consult your departmental ethics lead or Chair of FREC.

Appendix I – Topics for Focus Group Discussion

Focus Group Discussion Topics – First Session



Introduce the overall topic of the session:

The role of mobile technology (mtechnology) in students' lives

Begin the session by reminding students that personal issues can be discussed with the tutor or with myself after the session.

- Sub-headings:
 - Do students use their smartphones/tablets on a regular basis?
 - What do they use their smartphones/tablets for?
 - How often do they use them?
 - Have they found any apps/sites that they find useful?
 - What are those apps/sites?
 - Are there any downsides of using apps/sites?
 - When do they turn their smartphones/tablets off?

Focus Group Discussion Topics – Second Session



Introduce the overall topic for the session:

Health issues that matter to students

Begin the session by reminding students that personal issues can be discussed with the tutor or with myself after the session.

- Sub-headings:
 - When I mention the words 'health issues' what do you think about?
 - What health issues matter to you?
 - How do you deal with these issues on a daily basis? (Link to healthy lifestyle)
 - Where do you look for help with these issues?
 - Have you ever looked for an app/internet site to help you when you need information about health issues? (Link to healthy lifestyle)

Appendix J – Information sheet and Consent form for Focus Groups

Informed Consent



Principle ResearcherAilish O'BrienDirector of StudiesJulian Bath2nd SupervisorDr Rachel GillibrandSupervisor at National Learning NetworkMary Hughes

An exploration of the role of mhealth (mobile technologies) in facilitating a healthy lifestyle among women with a mild intellectual disability.

This Informed Consent Form has two parts:

- Information Sheet (to share information about the study with you)
- Certificate of Consent (for signatures if you choose to participate)

You will be given a copy of the full Informed Consent Form

Part I: Information Sheet

Introduction

My name is Ailish O'Brien – I am your regional psychologist and you know me from our meetings in the centre. I am exploring the use by female students of mhealth technology such as mobile phones, social media, and health apps, particularly in the area of healthy lifestyle. This is part of a study I am working on as part of a Professional Doctorate in Health Psychology in the University of the West of England, Bristol. I am going to give you information and invite you to be part of this research. You do not have to decide today whether or not you will take part in the research. Before you decide, you can talk to anyone you feel comfortable with about the research.

This consent form may contain words that you do not understand. Please ask me to stop as we go through the information and I will take time to explain. If you have questions later, you can ask me.

Purpose of the research

The purpose of this research is to discover whether you have found mhealth technologies such as mobile phones, health apps, and social media sites useful in healthy living.

Type of Research Intervention

This research involves you taking part in focus group discussions, two sessions in all. The length of each session will depend on how the discussion goes but I imagine no more than an hour will be spent on each topic.

Participant Selection

You are being invited to attend because you are part of the Options group in this centre and you may be interested in giving your opinion on using mhealth technology.

Voluntary Participation

Your taking part in this research is entirely voluntary which means that you choose whether to take part or not. If you choose not to take part all the services you receive at this Centre will continue and nothing will change. You may change your mind about giving your consent during the first part of the study when the discussion is being recorded – I will check in with you to ensure that you are happy being included in the study. However, once the study is completed I will not be able to give you the opportunity to change your mind about taking part.

Procedures

You will take part in two group discussions with other female students in your group. The information recorded is confidential which means that only one I and one other person, Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will read what I have written from the recording. The entire discussion will be electronically recorded and no one will be identified by name on the recording, all names will be deleted. The recording will be kept in a fire proof locked cabinet in my office. The information recorded is confidential, and no one else except Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will have access to the recording. The recording will be destroyed once the study has been completed.

If you find any of the matters we discuss upsetting please let me know either during the meeting or later so that we can decide who is best placed to support you. If you do not want to speak with any people in your support team either in the centre or your supports outside the centre you can speak with Mary Hughes who is the Senior Psychologist in National Learning Network and knows what this study is about. Mary's contact details are below.

Duration

The research takes place over 18 (say eighteen) months in total. During that time, I will meet you twice and each discussion should take no more than an hour.

Confidentiality

As already mentioned above, I will ensure that your name and details will be changed so that no one can recognise you (your name will not be used and your details will identified by a number only) from anything you say.

Sharing the Results

Nothing that you tell us will be shared with anybody outside the research team. This study may be published but this will not affect your right to confidentiality because your name will not be written anywhere.

Right to Refuse or Withdraw

You do not have to take part in this research if you do not wish to do so. If you choose not to take part this will not affect your place in the centre. You may stop taking part in the discussion any time that you wish. I will check in with you during the discussion to make sure that I understand you correctly. I will give you an opportunity at the end of the discussion to review your remarks. You can ask to change parts of what I have recorded or written if you do not agree with my notes or if I did not understand you correctly.

Who to Contact

If you have any questions or concerns about the study, as I stated above, you can ask them now or later. If you wish to ask questions later, you may contact either Mary or me at the following numbers:

Ailish O'Brien	086 6072963	ailish.obrien@nln.ie
Mary Hughes	087 2412301	mary.hughes@nln.ie



Part II: Certificate of Consent

I have read the information sheet, or it has been read to me. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about it and any questions I have asked have been answered to my satisfaction. I consent voluntarily to take part in this study

Print Name of Participant_____

Signature of Participant _____

Date _____

Day/month/year

I have witnessed the accurate reading of the consent form to the potential participant, and the individual has had the opportunity to ask questions. I confirm that the individual has given consent freely.

Print name of witness _____

Signature of witness

Date __

Day/month/year

I confirm that the participant was given an opportunity to ask questions about the study, and all the questions asked by the participant have been answered correctly and to the best of my ability. I confirm that the individual has not been coerced into giving consent, and the consent has been given freely and voluntarily.

A copy of this ICF has been provided to the participant.

Print	Name	of I	Researche	er/person	taking	the
consent						
Signature	of	Resear	cher	/person	taking	the
consent						
Date						

Day/month/year

Appendix K – Sample of transcribed Focus Group discussions

<u>1st Focus Group K – 160516</u>

Moderator:	Yeah (.) why don't you turn off your phones?
E:	I might miss something on Snapchat!
D:	Or on Facebook, or a phone call or a message!
A:	I use it to help me fall asleep; I can't fall asleep (.)
Moderator:	So you use it to help you fall asleep?
A:	Yeah.
Co-moderator:	And you would sleep well, then A, would you?
A:	Yeah.
Moderator:	That's a really useful one, helps you stay healthy!
Co-moderator:	Would you use your phones (.) when would you stop
	messaging people?
E:	3am.
D:	2:30am.
J:	8:30pm.
Everyone talking at th	ne same time
Moderator:	What happens at 2:30am or at 3:am?
E:	People stop messaging!
I:	Oh you're having a laugh!
Moderator:	So your phone decides what time you go to sleep?
E:	((laughs)) yeah!
Co-moderator:	J said that she turns her phone off at 8:30; what about you F,
	what time do you turn your phone off?
F:	8:00pm.
Co-moderator:	And you, H?
H:	The only reason I leave my phone on at night is for the alarm,
	that's the only reason!
Co-moderator:	What about you, B?
B:	I'm the same as H, for the alarm.
Co-moderator:	And what about you, C, would you be on your phone late?
C:	Huh? I'd be on my phone; I'd turn it off when I got tired, about
	11pm.
Co-moderator:	So, phones do affect our sleep patterns, which is part of our
	health isn't it?
Moderator:	So, E, what would happen if you turned your phone off at
	12:00?
E:	((laughs)) I'd die of boredom!
I:	Or you might get some extra hours sleep!
E:	No I wouldn't! That's way too early!
I:	No it's not!
Moderator:	So what time do you wake up at then?
E:	If I'm not coming in here I wake up at 3pm, but if I'm coming
	in here I wake at 8:30 or 8:45.

Moderator:	Do anyone of you ever notice that if you stay up very late you feel extra tired or (.) that you have difficulty in concentrating
Multi rosponso:	when you are here?
Moderator:	This is because sheep is important in processing what has
Woderator.	happened during the day so that you have memories, sleep also allows you be able to focus and concentrate.
E:	I never have difficulty in concentrating; I catch up on my sleep at the weekends!
Moderator:	You may catch up physically but you still need to have a sleep pattern that starts before 3am!
Co-moderator:	They always say that you should be in bed an hour before 12.
Moderator:	Yeah (.) and using your phone as a way of helping you sleep is good because listening to music or a soft voice helps the brain sleep! Healthy lifestyle is more than what you eat or how your exercise, it is also about how you sleep! The odd late night is ok but regular late nights are bad for your brain!
Multi-response:	((laughs))
Co-moderator:	I suppose stress comes into that, too, there are probably apps for stress and meditation (.) we have used some on the white board here, we have used a 5 minute meditation one, and one where you listen to a soft voice and closed our eyes (.) we've found them to be really good!
Moderator:	So guys anything else to add?
Co-moderator:	Do you really like using, having smartphones and access to all these apps?
E	Yeah
Moderator [.]	Could you imagine life without your smartphones?
E	No I'd be too bored!
Moderator [.]	So you'd be bored?
D.	Lost
Co-moderator	Do you think your phone is your friend?
E:	Yeah!
D.	Of course!
Moderator [.]	What do you think is the most valuable thing about your
	phone?
E:	Everything!
Moderator:	Hm?
E:	Everything: music and photos, your apps!
D:	Snapchat!
Multi-response:	((laughs))
Moderator:	Is an important part of your phone that it links you to other people?
Multi-response:	((pause))

Co-moderator:	Do you think it difficult that you do not have face-to-face contact with people when you are messaging, that you feel a
	contact with people when you are messaging, that you reef a
	sense of isolation?
K:	No!
I:	Yeah, it can be difficult when you're not meeting person to person.

<u>160830 – W – 2nd Focus Group</u>

M:	We were in a chip shop one day (.) you see, mammy goes to him but I can't eat fatty food, but then he brought out a salad and he made a Panini for my mammy.
A:	There are also a few exercising apps on the phone, I used to have one of those on my phone and I had one where I had to put in my food I was eating, you had to be very specific!
Moderator:	So, were you putting in different portions or what was on your plate?
A:	What was on my plate! So, if I was having a burger I had to count the bread, the burger itself, the pickle, the onions, the tomato, the sauces and the portion size of it as well! I had to count how many minutes that I walked, what speed (.) how many laps during that minute, how many times I did it.
Moderator:	That is a lot of information!
A:	Yeah, it would tell me how many calories I need that
	day to stay healthy!
Moderator:	Yes, A, and was that something that you felt that you could do on a daily basis!
A:	Yes, it was something that you could do on a daily basis but the difficulty was the remembering! You had to remember so much!
Moderator:	Ok!
A:	That was kind of difficult!
Moderator:	Ok, would anyone else find that a lot of information to remember, and to put together as A said?
Multi-response:	Yeah!
M:	Some people download Pokémon Go! 'Cos that helps you walk! 'Cos if you are in a car it will tell when it reaches 40 that you have to get out and walk!
Moderator:	Right! So that's kind of a walking thing!
M:	Right!

A:	The reward is that you catch Pokémon! You are
	exercising and you don't know it! It's a game!
Moderator:	Yes, is that a game that you do with someone else, that
	you don't do it on your own!
M:	A whole bunch of you can do it!
A:	Yeah, it's on your phone, it's a one-player game, but if
	you do it with others then it's lots of fun!
Moderator:	And to people link in on social media, through
	Facebook and such?
A:	People are losing weight!
Moderator:	Is that something that you think would be an interesting
	way of doing exercise that you wouldn't be thinking
	about exercise, that you would be thinking about
	something else?
M:	I don't have an excuse; I have to walk the dog!
Moderator:	That's a good point!
A:	I use Pokémon in the park!
M:	That's cos it's next door to you!
K:	I dance and your heart is beating and you go really fast!
	I don't like walking and I had to follow my cousins on
	Pokémon!
M:	K, you are well able to walk!
A:	You could do something else while you are walking!
K:	Can I kind of tell you something that is confidential?
Moderator:	No, K, we can talk about it later if you wish?
K:	No, it's not that kind of confidential! Me and my mam
	have a plan of losing weight!
Moderator:	Ah!
K:	But my dad got a weighing scales and I weighed myself
	and my mam, and we have to be careful what we eat, so
	I find it hard to lose weight 'cos I love chocolate and I
	can't stop eating it, and I have a secret chocolate from
	the vending machine here.
M:	Instead of eating chocolate you could go to the shop and
	buy a piece of fruit and that would keep your mind off
	chocolate!
K:	But my mam does that!
M:	I would just bring an extra piece!
K:	But my mam doesn't know about it!
M:	So you are a secret chocolate eater K?
K:	Yes but I'm trying!
M:	Yes, but my mam lets me eat a piece on Friday!
Moderator:	That sounds nice! Anyone else have a day for a treat?

A:	Yes, there is a diet with a bad day, it's not really taking
	you away from what you want, it is just giving you a
	day when you can have anything you eat!
Moderator:	Is there anything else that you eat or drink that is bold!
M:	Yeah, I like Red Bull!
K:	I like Monster!
Multi-response:	Yeah Monster!
Moderator:	So, what's in all these drinks?
Multi-response:	Lots of caffeine!
Moderator:	So, they are not that good really!
Multi-response:	No! But there is one that has green tea!
Moderator:	So, any calories in these drinks?
Multi-response:	Lots!
Moderator:	Do you get a boost after drinking these?
Multi-response:	Yeah!
M:	But you can't have too much because they make your
	heart race! That happened me when I had 6 cans of Red
	Bull! My mam had to bring me to hospital and they told
	me not to drink too much because they are bad for your
	heart!

Appendix L – Ethical Approval from UWE to include parents



Amendment to Existing Research Ethics Approval

Please complete this form if you wish to make an alteration or amendment to a study that has already been scrutinised and approved by the Faculty Research Ethics Committee and forward it electronically to the Officer of FREC (researchethics@uwe.ac.uk)

UWE research ethics	HAS.15.12.059
reference number:	
Title of project:	Application title: An exploration of the role of mhealth (mobile technology) in facilitating a healthy lifestyle among women with a mild intellectual disability.
Date of original approval:	29 January 2016
Researcher:	Ailish O'Brien
Supervisor (if	Julian Bath & Rachel Gillibrand
applicable)	

1. Proposed amendment: Please outline the proposed amendment to the existing approved proposal.

1a. I propose to include interviews with parents/guardians of some of the participants, about 5 sets of parents/guardians in all. This proposal is dependent upon my receiving the consent of student participants.

2. Reason for amendment. Please state the reason for the proposed amendment.

1a. In light of recommendations from supervisors named above I intend broadening the scope of the exploration to include information from parents/guardians. The purpose of this further exploration is to discover the role that parents/guardians have in supporting health behaviour among the original participants.

1b. Parents/guardians will receive a written invitation to participate that will include all documentation including a cover letter, the information sheet, and a

consent form that I will hand to their daughters.

1c. In order to collect relevant data for this project it is proposed to use an interview format that will be recorded for thematic analysis.

I have attached copies of relevant letters to parents, information sheets and consent forms.

3. Ethical issues. Please outline any ethical issues that arise from the amendment that have not already addressed in the original ethical approval. Please also state how these will be addressed.

Ethical issues may occur where parents/guardians may disclose information about student participants that is unrelated to this exploration. I will encourage parents/guardians to discuss any concerns that they may have around the content of the consent form. I will verbally remind parents/guardians when they attend of the importance of ensuring that they focus on the subject matter of the interview.

To be completed by supervisor/ Lead researcher:

Signature:

Delst Obien

Date:

26 February 2017

To be completed by Research Ethics Chair:

Send out for review:	Yes
	XNo
Comments:	This seems a sensible approach all ethics aspects
	associated with the amendment have been addressed
Outcome:	X Approve
	Approve subject to conditions
	Refer to Research Ethics Committee
Date approved:	22 nd March 2017
Signature:	Dr Julie Woodley (via e-mail)

Guidance on notifying UREC/FREC of an amendment.

Your study was approved based on the information provided at the time of application. If the study design changes significantly, for example a new

population is to be recruited, a different method of recruitment is planned, new or different methods of data collection are planned then you need to inform the REC and explain what the ethical implications might be. Significant changes in participant information sheets, consent forms should be notified to the REC for review with an explanation of the need for changes. Any other significant changes to the protocol with ethical implications should be submitted as substantial amendments to the original application. If you are unsure about whether or not notification of an amendment is necessary please consult your departmental ethics lead or Chair of FREC.

Appendix M – Ethical Approval from RehabGroup to include Parents

Research Approval-Ailish O'Brien

Audrey Lynch

Mon 03/04/2017 09:44

To:Ailish O'Brien <Ailish.OBrien@nln.ie>;

Morning Ailish

This email is to inform you that the Research Panel reviewed your research proposal and are happy to inform you that your proposal has been approved with just the below change.

Just needs a "be" to be added to the confidentiality clause in the letter to the parents

We ask that you keep in contact during the research process and let us know how the project is getting on during the various phases of the research. You can communicate with Audrey Lynch at audrey.lynch@rehab.ie or 01 2057381 to send in any updates or if you have any queries.

Best of luck with the project.

Kind regards Audrey

Audrey Lynch PA to Director of Communications, Public Affairs and Fundraising Rehab Group Roslyn Park Beach Road Sandymount Dublin 4 01 2057381

https://outlook.office.com/owa/?viewmodel=ReadMessageItem&Ite...nFm961ARjAAAV2Af8AAA%3D&IsPrintView=1&wid=73&ispopout=1&path= Page 1 of 1

Appendix N – information sheet and Consent form for Parents of participants

Informed Consent



Principal Researcher Director of Studies 2nd Supervisor Supervisor at National Learning Network Ailish O'Brien Julian Bath Dr Rachel Gillibrand Mary Hughes

An exploration of the role of mhealth (mobile technologies) in facilitating a healthy lifestyle among women with a mild intellectual disability.

This Informed Consent Form has two parts:

- Information Sheet (to share information about the study with you)
- Certificate of Consent (for signatures if you choose to participate)

You will be given a copy of the full Informed Consent Form

Part I: Information Sheet

Introduction

My name is Ailish O'Brien – I am the regional psychologist in National Learning Network in the South East.

I am exploring the use by female students of mhealth technology such as mobile phones, social media, and health apps, particularly in the area of healthy lifestyle. This is part of a study I am working on as part of a Professional Doctorate in Health Psychology at the University of the West of England, Bristol. I am inviting you to participate in this research as your daughter participated in the first part of this study and has given her permission for me to speak with you.

Purpose of the research

The purpose of this research is to discover whether women have found mhealth technologies such as mobile phones, health apps, and social media sites useful in healthy living.

Type of Research Intervention

This research involves you taking part in an interview that should take no more than 1 hour.

Participant Selection

You are being invited to attend because you are a parent of one of the females who participated in the first part of this study. I would like your opinion of the role of mobile technology in facilitating healthy lifestyle in young women and in particular how this relates to your daughter. I am also interested in your opinion of what works/does not work in maintaining a healthy lifestyle.

Voluntary Participation

Your taking part in this research is entirely voluntary which means that you choose whether to take part or not. If you choose not to take part all the services offered to your daughter will continue and nothing will change. You may change your mind about giving your consent during the first part of the study when the discussion is being recorded – I will check in with you to ensure that you are happy being included in the study. However, once the study is completed I will not be able to give you the opportunity to change your mind about taking part.

Procedures

You will take part in an interview with myself. During the interview I will sit down with you in a comfortable place at the Centre. If it is better for you, the interview can take place in your home. If you do not wish to answer any of the questions during the interview, you may say so and I will move on to the next question. No one else but the interviewer will be present unless you would like someone else to be there. The information recorded is confidential, and no one else, except Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will have access to the information documented during your interview. The entire interview will be electronically recorded, but no one will be identified by name on the recording. The recording will be kept in a fire proof locked cabinet in my office. The information recorded is confidential, and no one else except Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will have access to the recording. The recording will be kept in a fire proof locked cabinet in my office. The information recorded is confidential, and no one else except Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will have access to the recording. The recording will be destroyed once the study has been completed.

Confidentiality

As already mentioned above, I will ensure that your name and details will be changed so that no one can recognise you (your name will not be used and your details will identified by a number only) from anything you say.

Sharing the Results

Nothing that you tell us will be shared with anybody outside the research team. This study may be published but this will not affect your right to confidentiality because your name will not be written anywhere. I appreciate your full and open co-operation and participation in this research project. Your privacy – and that of your daughter – is important to me. Please be assured that nothing in the written/published research material would lead to the identification of you, your daughter or your

family.

Right to Refuse or Withdraw

You do not have to take part in this research if you do not wish to do so. If you choose not to take part this will not affect your daughter's place in the centre. You may stop taking part in the interview any time that you wish. I will check in with you during the interview to make sure that I understand you correctly. I will give you an opportunity at the end of the discussion to review your remarks. You can ask to change parts of what I have recorded or written if you do not agree with my notes or if I did not understand you correctly.

Who to Contact

If you have any questions or concerns about the study, as I stated above, you can ask them now or later. If you wish to ask questions later, you may contact either Mary or me at the following numbers:

Ailish O'Brien	086 6072963	ailish.obrien@nln.ie
Mary Hughes	087 2412301	mary.hughes@nln.ie



Part II: Certificate of Consent

I have read the information sheet, or it has been read to me. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about it and any questions I have asked have been answered to my satisfaction. I consent voluntarily to take part in this study

Print Name of Participant_____

Signature of Participant ______

Date _

Day/month/year

I have witnessed the accurate reading of the consent form to the potential participant, and the individual has had the opportunity to ask questions. I confirm that the individual has given consent freely.

Print name of witness	
Signature of witness	

Date ___

Day/month/year

I confirm that the participant was given an opportunity to ask questions about the study, and all the questions asked by the participant have been answered correctly and to the best of my ability. I confirm that the individual has not been coerced into giving consent, and the consent has been given freely and voluntarily.

A copy of this ICF has been provided to the participant.

Print	Name	of	Researc	her/person	taking	the
consent			_			
Signature	of	Res	earcher	/person	taking	the
consent						
Date						

Appendix O – Information sheet and Consent form from Students for parental participation

Informed Consent



Principal Researcher Director of Studies 2nd Supervisor Supervisor at National Learning Network Ailish O'Brien Julian Bath Dr Rachel Gillibrand Mary Hughes

An exploration of the role of mhealth (mobile technologies) in facilitating a healthy lifestyle among women with a mild intellectual disability.

This Informed Consent Form has two parts:

- Information Sheet
- Certificate of Consent

You will be given a copy of the full Informed Consent Form

Part I: Information Sheet

Introduction

My name is Ailish O'Brien and I am your regional psychologist, you know me from our meetings in the centre and from taking part in this project. As you know, I am exploring the use by female students of mhealth technology such as mobile phones, social media, and health apps, particularly in the area of healthy lifestyle. This is part of a study I am working on as part of a Professional Doctorate in Health Psychology in the University of the West of England, Bristol.

I am asking for your permission to invite one or both of your parents to take part of this research. The reason I am asking this is to get your parents opinion on the usefulness or otherwise of sites, apps, and healthy lifestyle technology in promoting a healthy behaviour. I am also interested in their opinions on what works/does not work in promoting a healthy lifestyle.

You do not have to decide today whether or not you will ask your parents to take part in the research. Before you decide, you can talk to anyone you feel comfortable with about this.



Part II: Certificate of Consent

I have read the information sheet, or it has been read to me. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about it and any questions I have asked have been answered to my satisfaction. I consent voluntarily to take part in this study

Print Name of Participant_____

Signature of Participant _____

Date _

Day/month/year

I have witnessed the accurate reading of the consent form to the potential participant, and the individual has had the opportunity to ask questions. I confirm that the individual has given consent freely.

Print name of witness	

Signature of witness _____

Date _

Day/month/year

I confirm that the participant was given an opportunity to ask questions about the study, and all the questions asked by the participant have been answered correctly and to the best of my ability. I confirm that the individual has not been coerced into giving consent, and the consent has been given freely and voluntarily.

A copy of this ICF has been provided to the participant.

Print	Name	of	Research	ner/person	taking	the
consent						
Signature	of	Rese	archer	/person	taking	the
consent						
Date						

Day/month/year

Appendix P – Information Sheet and Consent Form for parents of nonparticipants

Informed Consent



Principal ResearcherAilish O'BrienDirector of StudiesJulian Bath2nd SupervisorDr Rachel GillibrandSupervisor at National Learning NetworkMary Hughes

An exploration of the role of mhealth (mobile technologies) in facilitating a healthy lifestyle among women with a mild intellectual disability.

This Informed Consent Form has two parts:

- Information Sheet (to share information about the study with you)
- Certificate of Consent (for signatures if you choose to participate)

You will be given a copy of the full Informed Consent Form

Part I: Information Sheet

Introduction

My name is Ailish O'Brien – I am the regional psychologist in National Learning Network in the South East.

I am exploring the use by female students of mhealth technology such as mobile phones, social media, and health apps, particularly in the area of healthy lifestyle. This is part of a study I am working on as part of a Professional Doctorate in Health Psychology at the University of the West of England, Bristol. I am inviting you to participate in this research as your daughter has given her permission for me to speak with you.

Purpose of the research

The purpose of this research is to discover whether females have found mhealth technologies such as mobile phones, health apps, and social media sites useful as part of a healthy lifestyle.

Type of Research Intervention

This research involves you taking part in an interview that should take no more than 1 hour.

Participant Selection

You are being invited to attend because you are a parent of one of the

female students in National Learning Network. I would like your opinion of the role of mobile technology in facilitating healthy lifestyle in young women and in particular how this relates to your daughter. I am also interested in your opinion of what works/does not work in maintaining a healthy lifestyle.

Voluntary Participation

Your taking part in this research is entirely voluntary which means that you choose whether to take part or not. If you choose not to take part all the services offered to your daughter will continue and nothing will change. You may change your mind about giving your consent during the first part of the study when the discussion is being recorded – I will check in with you to ensure that you are happy being included in the study. However, once the study is completed I will not be able to give you the opportunity to change your mind about taking part.

Procedures

You will take part in an interview with myself. During the interview I will sit down with you in a comfortable place at the Centre. If it is better for you, the interview can take place in your home. If you do not wish to answer any of the questions during the interview, you may say so and I will move on to the next question. No one else but the interviewer will be present unless you would like someone else to be there. The information recorded is confidential, and no one else, except Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will have access to the information documented during your interview. The entire interview will be electronically recorded, but no one will be identified by name on the recording. The recording will be kept in a fire proof locked cabinet in my office. The information recorded is confidential, and no one else except Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will have access to the recording. The recording will be kept in a fire proof locked cabinet in my office. The information recorded is confidential, and no one else except Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist, will have access to the recording. The recording will be destroyed once the study has been completed.

Confidentiality

As already mentioned above, I will ensure that your name and details will be changed so that no one can recognise you (your name will not be used and your details will identified by a number only) from anything you say.

Sharing the Results

Nothing that you tell us will be shared with anybody outside the research team. This study may be published but this will not affect your right to confidentiality because your name will not be written anywhere. I appreciate your full and open co-operation and participation in this research project. Your privacy – and that of your daughter – is important to me. Please be assured that nothing in the written/published research material would lead to the identification of you, your daughter or your family.

Right to Refuse or Withdraw

You do not have to take part in this research if you do not wish to do so. If you choose not to take part this will not affect your daughter's place in the centre. You may stop taking part in the interview any time that you wish. I will check in with you during the interview to make sure that I understand you correctly. I will give you an opportunity at the end of the discussion to review your remarks. You can ask to change parts of what I have recorded or written if you do not agree with my notes or if I did not understand you correctly.

Who to Contact

If you have any questions or concerns about the study, as I stated above, you can ask them now or later. If you wish to ask questions later, you may contact either Mary or me at the following numbers:

Ailish O'Brien	086 6072963	ailish.obrien@nln.ie
Mary Hughes	087 2412301	mary.hughes@nln.ie



Part II: Certificate of Consent

I have read the information sheet, or it has been read to me. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about it and any questions I have asked have been answered to my satisfaction. I consent voluntarily to take part in this study

Print Name of Participant_____

Contact Number

Signature of Participant

Date _____

Day/month/year

I have witnessed the accurate reading of the consent form to the potential participant, and the individual has had the opportunity to ask questions. I confirm that the individual has given consent freely.

Print name of witness	
Signature of witness	

Date ___

Day/month/year

I confirm that the participant was given an opportunity to ask questions about the study, and all the questions asked by the participant have been answered correctly and to the best of my ability. I confirm that the individual has not been coerced into giving consent, and the consent has been given freely and voluntarily.

A copy of this ICF has been provided to the participant.

Print	Name	of	Researc	her/person	taking	the
consent						
Signature	of	Res	earcher	/person	taking	the
consent						
Date						

Appendix Q – Semi- structured interview questions & Sample of interviews with parents


Semi-structured Interview Questions

- 1. What do you know about mobile technology, do you have/use a smartphone, tablet, iPad etc.?
- 2. Do you use apps/sites that focus on health behaviours such as exercise, healthy eating/health foods, etc.? If so, what ones have you found to be useful and why?
- 3. Do you share what you find with your daughter as a way of guiding her?
- 4. What other resources/methods have you found to be useful in guiding your daughter in how she takes care of her health? For example; exercise classes, attending Slimming World classes, walking together?
- 5. Does she listen to your advice?
- 6. In the context of what we have been talking about, how do you see your role in supporting your daughter?
- 7. What difficulties, if any, have you both experienced in working towards a healthy lifestyle?
- 8. What advice would you give other parents in supporting their daughters in maintaining/working towards a healthy lifestyle?

<u>1st interview with parents</u> <u>**12 May 2017**</u>

Interviewer:	Thank you for participating in this research piece, B, I really appreciate you doing this. As you know, this research is about the use by female students of mhealth technologies, smartphones, tablets iPad's also, it is about healthy lifestyles for example, Rosemary helps students shop and cook within a budget, they are given a budget and they have to go out and ah work within that budget so am and the kind of things we will be talking about today is your experience of what happens at home, the kind of things you get involved in with C alright? What do you know about mobile technology, B, and do you have a smartphone or tablet?
B:	((pause)) I have a phone but it's not a smartphone No it's an iPhone, I suppose I don't use it I use it to make calls now, as regards C
Interviewer:	Mm
B:	she has a separate phone and she uses it, too, to make calls. She has a laptop and an iPad and she spends a lot of time on those she tells me that she is doing typing or whatever it is called
Interviewer:	Mm
B:	and she is also on the laptop and she goes on You Tube and she downloads songs and, maybe there is an issue with that because she spends too much time on that, but there is also the positive side in that she is learning these songs which is helping her to speak, use her voice
Interviewer:	Mm yeah!
B:	and she is also aware of won't come to me now and she knows every song!
Interviewer:	Yeah!
B:	ah and the downside now is that she is into Home and Away, and Neighbours which I like to myself, sometimes and she watches them a lot
Interviewer:	Mm
B:	and she could become consumed by it, in a sense maybe too much, but it also makes her wise to the world!

Interviewer:	Mm
B:	to my horror, but that is probably a good side the bad side is that I cannot always tell her that she is looking at it too much 'cos she will come back with an answer "I have this to do mammy, I have that to do mammy" and I would just love to take the whole thing off her and throw it out! Like everything, as I said, there is a good side and a bad side
Interviewer:	It's getting the balance between them
B:	It's getting the balance and I haven't got that
Interviewer:	And I'm wondering if it is possible to get a balance?
B:	When I look at all the other members of the family I don't get a balance either because I have another lady who comes home
Interviewer:	((overlapping)) yeah
B:	and she spends her whole time
Interviewer:	((overlapping)) yeah
B:	and she's taking photographs and I'm saying, "Where are you sending that?" And they're at an age that they are just consumed by it
Interviewer:	Yeah
B:	and you'd hope that they'd know the right thing
Interviewer:	And I think that for us there was more about conversations between people
B:	Yeah and they are just connecting with each other by sending photographs or that's what they look like now or that's what they are doing now
Interviewer:	((overlapping)) yeah
B:	and that's ((pause)) and that's just the way the whole thing has gone
Interviewer:	Yeah
B:	and they have brought them into the schools now and there's not turning back now!

Interviewer: Mm ... and you did say it is about getting the balance right and you did say that C learnt a lot from it ...

<u>4th interview with parents</u> <u>19 May 2017</u>

Interviewer:	Do you think does C get involved in any exercise or anything at home, is there anything like that that she is interested in?
M:	The only think she is interested in is anything to do with technology! She goes to archery on a Tuesday evening and that is about as far as she goes! She has become a tech savvy you could nearly say recluse.
Interviewer:	Mm
M:	Her bedroom is like Games Stop you name it, what console they sell in there, she has it and that is her life! It doesn't involve any movement, any exercise and she is very happy inside in that, in that room!
Interviewer:	Mm that's her own space
M:	Yeah that's her own space! And you know, she is fantastic on phones, on tablets on games she doesn't even have to read the instructions
Interviewer:	Mm
M:	She knows what to do! It's amazing!
Interviewer:	So, do you think that there is something in that that could be useful, for, say could a conversation happen where she might be interested in doing something small, or do you think that she would not be interested in anything that would involve her moving?
M:	Honestly? I don't think I think she has no interest in movement at all
Interviewer:	At all
M:	At all I know that that sound terrible like, I see her friends that she is in National Learning Network with and I have, have her passcode to her Facebook page, and she's not on

WhatsApp, she's not on ... Oh, she is on WhatsApp, she's not on Snapchat, she's not on Twitter ...

Interviewer: Mm ...

M: She's not on any of those ... she has a Facebook page that the centre set up for her, she didn't set it up ... and her passcode is the same for everything, for her tablet, her phone, so I can go in and have a look and I can see by how many notifications that she does not go on Facebook and she is different from the other girls in her group, I can see this when I go in to have a look at their pages from hers ... and they sometimes send me friendship requests ... just to have a nosey as to what is going on in their lives in comparison to hers! Her life is completely different to theirs, they are so active on social media it's unbelievable ... everything they do, everything they eat, everything they drink! They even take pictures of their teachers!

Interviewer: Mm ...

M: You name it; it's out there! But she's not like that!

Interviewer: Mm ...

M: She has no interest in socialising with other people... so if you have no interest in socialising with other people then Facebook is not something that is important to you!

Interviewer: Mm ...

M: She likes to play games where she is alone, or she will play with someone on line that she doesn't ... doesn't know.

Interviewer: Mm ...

M: They could be anywhere in the world ...

Interviewer: So, her connection is 'once removed', there is no physical connection there is a connection shared through the game?

M: Yes, yes!

Interviewer: She always strikes me as someone who is comfortable in her own skin!

M: Very comfortable, so comfortable! I would ... if I could be somebody for a day I would like to be her, just to feel what it feels like just to accept yourself, what it feels like to be happy in your life!

Interviewer:	Mm
M:	With not a worry in the world!
Interviewer:	Mm
M:	And I think, social media when you are so active on it can, kind of you know like, interrupt your life because all the others are going in to town, meeting guys, and if I was that active on social media I might feel that I was missing out!
Interviewer:	Mm

5th interview with parents 26 May 2017

Interviewer:	She would have spoken about meals that you cook and this is why I am speaking with parents as many girls spoke about what their mother's did
G:	I would walk a lot I am after doing the 4 peaks challenge for Epilepsy Ireland about a fortnight ago
Interviewer:	Right!
G:	So, I suppose yeah, I had lost weight and put back on more I had gone to the Mothers and Baby commission because I had two children adopted and when that came up I went to make statements I didn't have to go, but I felt that if I didn't do that now when would I ever go? So I did it and when it finished I got very sick and then I started eating and put on the weight and while I had eaten healthily and had kept the weight off, I stopped walking and I said, "I can't put that weight back on!" so I joined Slimming World and lost it then I left after about 6 months I didn't lose it all
Interviewer:	Mm
G:	But I got a kick in the behind to kick- start my healthy eating and walking again!
Interviewer:	Do you think that it is more what you do rather than what you say that influences S?
G:	Probably! She would come shopping she doesn't like grocery shopping, but yet at the same time I don't know maybe so! I know if she had a chance she would buy rubbish

Interviewer:	When we were speaking in the focus group S was very able to speak about the healthy choices you make at home
G:	Mm
Interviewer:	Do you think that she takes your advice?
G:	At times, yes and I think it depends either on her frame of mind or whether it involves my friend or something that might go against her it might be something that she doesn't want to do she would make a face at you and would go off in a huff muttering as she went!
Interviewer: G:	And she is still an adolescent, of course! You think? She would never think of doing something off her own bat at home! No she would come home from work, make a coffee and sit with the dogs all day!
Interviewer:	Do you think she spends too much time on the phone?
G:	Too much! Too much! Too much! Absolutely too much! I have stopped them bringing their phones to the table, just like I stopped them bringing SK is a devil she would read all day and I would say "SK no book!" and you would be terrified saying things like that that you would turn them off it but the bloody phone, no!
Interviewer:	Do you see a similarity between how we see smartphones now and how people saw books in the past?
G:	Yes I do! I do, I absolutely do and she could read a book off her phone and she has a tablet and I tell her to read from the tablet I don't know why she won't read from the tablet, she prefers to read from her phone! It's either Facebook or a game do you know what I mean?
Interviewer:	Right
G:	So, yeah!
Interviewer:	So, she really does not get involved in exercise?
G:	No, no I went to T to walk the dunes before I did the challenge, right? And I brought there are 3 of our dogs that are fast walkers but Benjy is such a good walker, he goes slow so I would say you walk the back strand and I will go through the dunes and I would have gone through the dunes and she would not have gone half way but, yeah

Interviewer:	So, you would bring her walking?
G:	Yeah, but I would have to go slow!
Interviewer:	But she goes with you?
G:	Right I bring her to up to BK woods not every week, like but I would bring her up I would make her go!
Interviewer:	You would ask her to go?
G:	Well, I would give her a choice! I would ask her, "Do you want to go to BK woods or to M, or where?" I would give her the option of where! So it's not a case of we are going there!

Appendix R – Professional Skills Essay

Reflective Report

Introduction

In this reflective report I give a critical account of my development as a professional practitioner across the competencies of the Prof Doc in Health Psychology programme. I begin this report with a description of models of reflective practice and how these can be combined for effective practice. I then provide the context for my professional practice in National Learning Network (NLN). I follow this with examples of the development of my professional practice under the BPS competency headings and end with a conclusion paragraph.

Reflective Practice

Reflective practice has been described by Dewey as "the active , persistent and careful consideration of any belief or supposed form of knowledge in the light of the grounds that support it" (1910, p. 6). This suggests that we practitioners ought to take a questioning approach to tasks. The purpose of taking such an approach is to allow us reframe situations and problems in a way that facilitates us taking a new perspective. Schon (1983) describes the processes involved in reflective practice as reflection-in-action and reflection-on-action. The former is where practitioners engage this questioning approach in the here-and-now of practice, while the latter is after-the-fact questioning.

Atkins and Murphy (1993), describe the skills necessary *to engage* in reflective practice in their model (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Atkins & Murphy (1993) Model of Reflective Practice (permission received from Royal College of Nursing)

The '*how*' of reflective practice is very neatly described by Rolfe, Freshwater, and Jasper (2001) in their reflective practice model (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Rolfe et al (2001) Reflective Model (permission received from author and Palgrave Macmillan)

While the Rolfe et al (2001) model appears to be simple it facilitates a comprehensive critical reflective process when using the skills described by Atkins and Murphy (1993) as a framework. The first three stages of Atkins and Murphy's model, namely,

self-awareness and *describe the situation* and *analyse feelings* can be mapped onto the 'what' of Rolfe et al.'s model. The fourth part, *evaluate the relevance of knowledge* can be mapped on to the 'so what' stage of the model, while the final part, *identify any learning which has occurred* can be mapped on to the 'now what' stage.

A recommendation from the Rolfe et al model is that a simple action plan be put in place with key ideas indicating what you will do and how this change will improve your practice.

Context

My role in NLN is Regional Psychologist and I work as part of many interdisciplinary teams providing support for students with intellectual, physical, and/or mental health difficulties located in our five centres in the South East of Ireland. I also provide support for staff in those centres, and am part of the regional management team in NLN in the South West/Mid West/South East (Appendix A).

Consultancy Competence

As part of my role I facilitate the use of appropriate interventions, training modules, and workshops for students and staff. As part of the consultancy competence I put together workshops on Workplace Boundary Management and Workplace Stress Management for students participating on a Health Care Support programme contracted to NLN.

In reflective dialogue post-workshops, the co-facilitator and I agreed that the 'what' per Rolfe et al (2001) was not consulting students prior to workshops. Therefore, I was reliant on the information I received from their tutor as to difficulties they wanted addressed. This meant that we did not have sufficient time to facilitate more in-depth work with students even though this was what they requested during the workshops. This meant that we were not fully prepared to deal with the actual issues that students' needed us to prioritise.

The 'so what' was that the allocation of a half day rather than a full day for each module would have been of greater value to students and that workshops would have benefited from student participation through, say, focus group discussions. We also thought that it would have been beneficial for us to engage students in a follow-on session/group discussion about one to three months post workshop so that we could assess whether they had had an opportunity to put into practice skills they had learnt. However, I had not factored this in to our workshops and I was not in a position to renegotiate the terms of the contract post-workshops.

The 'now what' of this situation was that I needed to ensure that in future I arrange meetings with students to facilitate student-focused workshops. I also needed to follow this up with meetings with tutors and managers to ensure that these workshops go ahead without clashing with other factors.

However, despite the difficulties that arose on the day re meeting students' immediate needs, the day went very well with lots of student involvement and questions and was positively assessed by both students and tutor.

Teaching & Training

As part of the teaching and training competency I co-facilitated with a tutor, who acted as my supervisor, a series of workshops on sexual health education with students. In reflective dialogue post–workshops, my supervisor and co-facilitator stated that I appeared to be hesitant in engaging with students in initial workshops. Using Schon's (1983) reflection-in-action process and in the 'what ' of Rolfe et al.'s (2001) model, I feel that my hesitation was in response to the sometimes-puzzled expressions on students faces re concepts being discussed. In the 'so what' of the

model I wanted to create a learning pace and space that matched students' needs and strengths so that no one of the student group would be, or feel, excluded.

In the 'what now' with regard to the future I decided that it would be best to check in with students during the workshop so as to ensure that we are all 'on the same page'. I successfully used this learning in follow-on workshops when I was able to respond to students by changing the structure of workshops. In one workshop, for example, I discontinued a YouTube clip when I queried their understanding of the story line. This facilitated a discussion on the subject that focused on what students wanted to know rather than what I thought they wanted to know.

Rita was a good resource in guiding how I could adapt my way of working 'with' rather than 'to' students, and how best to maintain eye contact and motivation. I found these meetings with Rita useful as, in the context of Rolfe et al.'s (2001) reflective model (Figure 2), they gave me an opportunity to focus on the 'What?'

What is the problem/difficulty/ reason for being stuck/reason for feeling bad?
 What was my role in the situation? What am I trying to achieve? What actions did I take? What was the response of others?

The 'So what?'

 So what does this tell me/teach me/imply/mean about me/my class/others/our relationship? So what was going through my mind as I acted? So what did I base my actions on? So what other knowledge can I bring to the situation? So what broader issues arise from this situation?

The 'Now what?'

• Now what do I need to do in order to make things better/stop being stuck/improve my teaching/resolve the situation? So what broader issues need

to be considered if this action is to be successful? So what might be the consequences of this action? (Rolfe, G., Freshwater, D., Jasper, M., 2001)

Behaviour Change Competence

I initially established a private practice as part of a multidisciplinary team in a GP service. I now work independently of this practice on a part-time basis on one evening per week, usually Friday, plus Saturday's. As part of the behaviour change competence I began working with D on facilitating him deal with work-related stress. D was referred to me in July 2015 by his GP who, according to D, was unable to find any physiological reason for episodes of dizziness and blackouts that he had been experiencing for some months. D stated that he had had numerous tests and scans and nothing was found that could explain his physical symptoms. He stated that his doctor had spoken with him about his work and home life and had suggested that he make an appointment with me so that I could assess his situation.

I used a solution-focused approach working with D and in the overall context of facilitating D create solutions and find exceptions to what does not work there were times when I felt that the work had become 'stuck'. In the context of the reflectionon-action per Schon (1983), and the 'what' of Rolfe et al (2001), I used Milner and O'Byrne's (2002) suggestion. They suggest that this may indicate that the therapist is working to his/her own agenda, or that the therapist is working too hard at suggesting solutions.

The 'so what' was a sense of frustration I experienced when I perceived that D was waiting for answers rather than using the skills and techniques for taking personal responsibility that we had discussed. The 'now what' response in light of the Milner and O'Byrne's suggestion was that I gave the conversation, and responsibility, back to D by asking him to clarify for me how we might re-focus sessions and get us back

on track. This worked well as D had tended to look for solutions outside his own skills rather than use his skills. As a result of using reflective practice on my own, and engaging in reflective dialogue in peer supervision, I was able to identify the source of difficulties and how best I could facilitate change.

Generic Professional Competence

Part of my role, in ensuring best practice, is to communicate with the Senior Psychologist about matters that may impact on best practice with respect to ethical and legal factors. She also acts as supervisor for each member of the psychology team, and I am also lucky to have her as my NLN supervisor on the Prof Doc in Health Psychology. I believe that we have formed a positive work relationship throughout the Prof Doc, particularly in light of the fact that I am working my way through this while also being fully engaged in all aspects of NLN. I am always positively disposed to any challenge and am able to negotiate honestly and with passion when supporting the rights and responsibilities of students.

In this regard I put myself forward for conferences and workshops that I believe add to my professional practice as a psychologist, and particularly as a health psychologist. I have attended conferences that inform with respect to the legal aspects of professional practice, such as the conference on the Assisted Decision-making Capacity Act (2015). I have subsequently given presentations to the National Management Team of NLN informing them of the most up to date legal position for our students and staff and for those who attend the extended services of the Rehab Group.

I also attend conferences presented both by the Psychological Society of Ireland (PSI), and by combined teams from the PSI and the BPS that provide me with the most up-to-date information in the field of health psychology. Many of our

students present with physical health needs relating to drug and alcohol abuse, relating to chronic illness, pain management, and relating to acquired brain injury and it is my responsibility to ensure that I have sufficient knowledge to engage both with our students and with other professionals in a way that is supportive of the needs of our students.

I do believe that all of these factors contributed to my being chosen as the most appropriate psychologist to chair an investigation of an allegation of sexual abuse by a person who is engaged in one of our services, against an employee of that service. This investigation began in August 2014 and was completed in May 2016. My role was to ensure that all matters were dealt with in an ethical and professional manner and that the findings would be based on the balance of probabilities. A significant part of being able to manage the difficulties associated with investigating such an allegation is very much dependent upon the ability of the individual to reflect on practice. During interviews, for example, I found that I was reflecting-in-action and wondering 'what' issues were playing out for me and for the interviewee. I was always very much aware that the 'so what' of what was going through my mind might be more about my expectations and biases rather than about anything to do with the interviewee. Also, I found that that 'now what' was tempered with a wish to engage with people without projecting my perceptions and to remain focused on the subject matter. In the 'now what' phase I used my self-awareness and my ability to critically analyse and incorporate new learning with existing knowledge to manage problems or difficulties that arose during the process of the investigation.

While I was working on this investigation a senior manager within NLN, through a recommendation from the senior psychologist, requested me to work as the Interim Designated Liaison Officer at national level for RehabCare (part of the Rehab

Group with a focus on community and social care). Mary Hughes, Senior Psychologist asked me if I would be interested in taking this post for a period of seven months beginning in November of 2015. I was delighted as this gave me the opportunity to engage with other professionals in a lead role at a national level in ensuring that clients of the service be treated with dignity and respect and that their voices be heard in cases where concerns of abuse were raised.

It also gave me an opportunity to step outside my normal remit for an extended period and utilise my professional practice in an unfamiliar context. I took responsibility for ensuring that the person who replaced me was appropriately qualified and supported by myself in her role. I am always conscious of the responsibility each one of us has in relation to self-care and managing workloads and this is why I was very careful in ensuring that I would retain a small portion of my workload while ensuring that students were appropriately supported in my absence.

My main responsibility as Interim Designated Liaison Officer was advising and supporting the Regional Managers in RehabCare, (the Designated Officer's) in all matters relating to allegations of child abuse and concerns raised in safeguarding vulnerable adults. I am very pleased to say that I got very positive feedback from all people with whom I worked, including the Director of RehabCare who stated that she was very grateful for the very practical support and advice I shared with her and with her team.

Also, as part of this role, under the guidance of the Director of Quality and Governance, I was appointed chair of a three-person team responsible for writing the first draft of the updated version of Rehab Vulnerable Adult Protection policy and procedures (April 2016) and submitting this draft to the Director of Quality and Governance. Unfortunately, I discovered that the final copy would mention the three

of us as a footnote and that full credit would be allocated to the Directorate of the service. I was a bit disappointed, as I had put a lot of work in the project, ensuring that it was written in plain English so that it could be read by our students – these policies tend to use legal terminology that excludes rather than includes! However, I am pleased that the main parts of the document are being included and that the language is being kept as plain as possible.

Research Competence

My research project in the University of the West of England is an exploration of the use of mhealth technologies as part of a healthy lifestyle by females with intellectual disabilities. I think the most challenging part of the journey so far was the Progression Viva. On reflection-on-action, I was not prepared for the discussion that took place (the 'what') and while I had prepared supporting evidence for my work I feel that I was unable to provide a clear argument on the detail of my project ('so what'). My plain ('now what') from that meeting was to go back to the initial question as I realised that I had complicated my question with too much detail. I also came to the realisation that I need, once again, to engage with students as to whether they wished to participate in an interview or focus group format, rather than referring to expert knowledge.

Conclusion

I believe that a significant part of my success in relation to the roles I was offered and that I accepted over the past two years is attributable to my progression as a student on the Prof Doc in Health Psychology. I have been challenged in many of the competencies and have stepped outside my comfort zone in meeting these challenges.

I am able to share my learning and knowledge with other professionals within NLN. An example of this is where I used Go to Meeting to present a narrated power

point presentation by webinar on the Biopsychosocial Model of Stress to other professionals within NLN. Not only did I use my knowledge from health psychology to share information with staff but I also learnt how to use an alternative method of facilitating workshops. I also share what I have learnt with my peers at our quarterly peer supervision meetings. I organised these meetings to ensure that we would engage in reflective dialogue and maintain professional practice CPD in a format accredited by PSI.

I have also used the knowledge I gained through the competencies in changing how I work with students and staff. I now use lesson plans for workshops with students that are based on what students stated needs.

I thank the programme for the practical knowledge that I have gained in taking a biopsychosocial approach to all my work, whether that is in NLN or in my private practice. The biopsychosocial model allows us see that an individual has a biological profile, a psychological profile, and a social/cultural profile. Once we take this perspective of another it ensures that we are taking a holistic approach rather than a dualistic one.

Word count 3020

References

Atkins, S., & Murphy, K. (1993). Reflection: a review of the literature. *Journal of Advanced Nursing.* 18, 1188-1192

Dewey, J. (1910). How we think. Boston: DC Health.

Milner, J., & O'Byrne, P. (2002). *Brief counselling: Narratives and solutions*. New York: Palgrave.

Rolfe, G., Freshwater, D., & Jasper, M. (2001). *Critical reflection in nursing and the helping professions: a user's guide*. Basingstoke: Palgrave.

Schon, D. (1983). *The reflective practitioner: how professionals think in action*. London: TempleSmith.

Appendix S – Dissemination of findings: Copy of poster presented and merit received - Psychological Society of Ireland Conference November 2017



'It helps me stay healthy!' Exploring the role of mhealth (mobile technology) in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices in women with a mild Intellectual Disability

Ailish O'Brien Professional Doctorate in Health Psychology Programme, University of the West of England, & RehabGroup Ireland



1. Introduction

Research findings indicate that people with an intellectual disability experience higher rates of chronic health problems in comparison with the general population and that females with a mild intellectual disability and living independently or with family are more likely to be obese than others with intellectual disabilities. >Mobile technology use has become a significant factor in engaging people in, and marketing, healthy lifestyle programmes. Research findings also indicate that women more than men are likely to use smartphones and health apps as part of a healthy lifestyle.

> The aims of this research were to explore if women with an intellectual disability I he amis of unstream is research were to explore in women with an interactual usaonity use mobile technologies, how they use them, and if these mobile technologies play a role in facilitating healthy lifestyle choices among these women.



2. Method

Twenty-six female students of a specialist training and support service participated with follow-on participation by 6 parents. All students were white, and their ages ranged between eighteen and twenty-six. Of these twenty-six students, twenty-five were born in Ireland, one born in the USA Parental participants were mothers; all respondents were white and born in Ireland, ages ranged from late thirties to early fifties. Students participated in semi-structured interviews and focus groups, parents participated in semi-structured interviews. Data were analysed using Thematic Analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2013).

Analysis was based on the COM-B model of behaviour (Michie et al. 2011) that describes behaviour as any action that a person engages in as a response to internal and/or external factors involving the interaction among three conditions (see Figure 1). <u>Capability</u> – physical and psychological ability to engage in any activity. <u>Opportunity</u> – external factors such as environmental or social factors that impact on behaviour. <u>Motivation</u> - volitional and non-volitional mechanisms that energise and direct behaviour.



Figure 1. The COM-B model of behaviour

3. Results

Three themes with sub-themes were conceptualised in the data (see Figure 2):

(1)<u>Mobile technology: positives and downsides</u>, with two sub-themes Positives: Knowledge, Skills & Ability and Downsides: Privacy & security, & Compulsive viewing; (2)Health issues that matter, with three sub-themes Cravings. Healthy lifestyle choices, and Body issues & girls' issues.

(3) What mothers' say/my mam says, with three sub-themes; Mother as protector & advisor, Her daughter's voice, and My daughter and I ... she's her own person



Figure 2. Themes & Subthemes combined for Students

Acknowledgements: I would like to thank Julian Bath, and Dr Rachel Gillibrand, both of UWE, and Mary Hughes, RehabGroup, for supervising this research study.

4. Overview of Themes & Subthemes: Theme number 1: Mobile Technology: Positives & Downsides



Subthemes: (1) Positives: Knowledge, Skills & Ability





RehabGroup

Privacy & Security



GUT



(3) Body issues æ



(2) Downsides: Compulsive Viewing

Theme number 2: <u>Health Issues that matter</u>

(2) Healthy Lifestyle Choices

&

Theme Number 3: What mother's say/my mam says





(3) My daughter and I ... she's her own person

Thematic analysis of the data indicated that students were knowledgeable about mobile technology and aware of apps and sites that are useful in making healthy lifestyle choices, such as Slimming Wo who, according to one student, 'have an Internet site that shows people how to be healthy!'. The ning World majority of students used mobile technology for connecting with friends, for gaming, or watching favourite programmes while others used it for learning new skills, 'social skills, verbal skills'. Students were vocal about health issues that matter to them including difficulties with food cravings, *I find it* hard to lose weight 'cos I love chocolate and I can't stop eating it, and I have a secret chocolate from the vending machine here'. The role of parents, particularly mothers, as protectors/advisors was also highlighted as significant in influencing students' having access to opportunities and choices. It was evident from what students and mothers said that mothers play a directive role in their daughters lives where, for example, one student stated that her mother does not allow her cook as she 'might burn the house down!' Mothers spoke about exercising with their daughters where one mother stated that 'I would bring her up to BK woods ... not every week, like ... but I would bring her up ... I would make her nent that also reflected the behaviours of other mothers interviewed. go!, a com

5. Conclusion

This study indicates that the majority of student participants are capable of using mobile technology and that they use it primarily for social media apps, for gaming, and some use healthy lifestyle apps. As per the COM-B model, opportunities to engage in healthy lifestyle choices for most students were moderated by mothers while others used gaming apps such as Pokémon Go as a way of keeping fit. Motivation to engage in healthy lifestyle choices was facilitated by knowledge gained from the internet, from information received in school, and from advice from mothers.

Motivation for making healthy food choices was hampered by factors such as food cravings. Motivation for making healthy lifestyle choices was also hampered by compulsive viewing using mobile

technologies that impacted on sleep. Motivation to engage in healthy lifestyle choices by using mobile technology was moderated by how user-centred health apps were perceived by participants. A recommendation was made that a public health intervention be put in place through the Health

Research Board to encourage researchers develop user-centred mobile health apps that would support people with an intellectual disability in making healthy lifestyle choices.

References: 1. Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2013) Successful qualitative research: a practical guide for beginners. London: Sage 2. Michie , S., van Stralen, M.M. and West, R. (2011) The behaviour change wheel: A new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implementation Science* 1 (12) https://dx.doi.org/10.1186%2F1748-5908-6-42





Cumann Síceolaithe Éireann

Student Poster Merit

This certificate is presented by The Psychological Society of Ireland to

Ailish O' Brien, Julian Bath, Rachel Gillibrand & Mary Hughes

for the presentation of

An exploration of the role of mhealth (mobile technologies) in facilitating a healthy lifestyle among women with a mild intellectual disability

> 10 November 2017 at the Annual Conference of The Psychological Society of Ireland

michèle Cayle

President

Appendix T – Table of Apps/Sites used by Students

Participants	Skype	Messenger	iPeriod	Snapchat	Instagram	Viber	Facebook	Candy	Pokémon	Curves	Slimming	You	SHealth
by location [*]				-				Crush	Go		World	Tube	
A interview										~			v
in C													
C interview								~					
in W													
O focus								~					
group in C													
C focus	~	~		~									
group in C													
E focus		~				~							
group in C													
N focus				v	~		 ✓ 				v		v
group in C													
K focus				v									
group in C													
G focus				 ✓ 									
group in C													
E focus				 ✓ 									
group in KK													
R focus							~						
group in C													
A focus									v				
group in W													
C focus									v		~		
group in KK													

Apps/Sites used by Students

	Skype	Messenger	iPeriod	Snapchat	Instagram	Viber	Facebook	Candy	Pokémon	Curves	Slimming	You	SHealth
								Crush	Go		World	Tube	
A focus													~
group in C													
M re her									~				
daughter, C													
(non-													
participant)													
M focus			v										
group in W													
D interview												~	
in W													

*NLN centre location